
           
  

 
City Council Regular Meeting
City Hall - Council Chambers

1900 N. Civic Square
Goodyear, AZ 85395

Monday, March 3, 2025
Immediately following the Work Session that begins at 5:00 p.m.

 

Mayor
Joe Pizzillo

_______________

Vice Mayor
Wally Campbell

_______________

Councilmember
Brannon Hampton
_______________

Councilmember
Laura Kaino

_______________

Councilwoman
Vicki Gillis

_______________

Councilmember
Benita Beckles

_______________

Councilmember
Trey Terry

_______________

PUBLIC COMMENTS/APPEARANCES FROM THE FLOOR
Please complete a speaker card and submit it to the City Clerk prior to the meeting being
convened, if possible. Each speaker is limited to three (3) minutes. Once the City Clerk has
called your name, step up to the lectern and begin by clearly stating your name for the record
and whether you are a Goodyear resident.

NON-AGENDA ITEMS
Members of the public may address the City Council regarding any non-agenda item within the
jurisdiction of the City Council. The City Council will listen to comments and may take any of the
following actions:

Respond to criticism.
Request that staff investigate and report on the matter.
Request that the matter be scheduled on a future agenda.

AGENDA ITEMS
Members of the public may address the City Council regarding any item on the Consent, Public
Hearing and/or Business portions of the agenda. Each speaker's name will be called in turn
once the item has been reached and after City staff have completed their presentation.

PROCEDURES
Pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the Goodyear City
Council and to the general public that the Council of the city of Goodyear will hold a meeting
open to the public. Public body members of the city of Goodyear will attend either in person or
by telephone conference call and/or video communication. The Goodyear City Council may vote
to go into Executive Session, pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-431.03(A)(3), which will not be open to
the public, to discuss certain matters. Meetings are conducted in accordance with the City
Council Meetings Council Rules of Procedure adopted by Resolution No.2018-1879.
  

City Clerk’s Office: 1900 N. Civic Square, Goodyear, AZ 85395 (623) 882-7830
www.goodyearaz.gov/cityclerk 
City Council Meeting Live Broadcast: https://www.facebook.com/goodyearazgov/videos



Monday, March 3, 2025   Meeting Agenda

Immediately following the Work Session that begins at 5:00 p.m.
           
CALL TO ORDER
 

ROLL CALL
 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION BY COUNCILMEMBER KAINO
 

COMMUNICATIONS
 

1. RECOGNITION OF THE ESTRELLA FOOTHILLS HIGH SCHOOL STATE CHAMPIONSHIP
SWIMMER & GIRLS VOLLEY BALL TEAM & DESERT EDGE HIGH SCHOOL FOOTBALL
TEAM

 

 

APPOINTMENTS

 

2. APPOINTMENTS TO CITY BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND COMMITTEES  
  RECOMMENDATION
  Approve the appointment to the Planning & Zoning Commission and appointment to the Arts &

Culture Commission as recommended by the Council Subcommittee on City Boards,
Commissions and Committees. (Jasmine Pernicano, Acting City Clerk)

 
PUBLIC COMMENTS/APPEARANCES FROM THE FLOOR 
 

CONSENT

 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
  RECOMMENDATION
  Approve the February 24, 2025 Regular draft minutes. (Jasmine Pernicano, Acting City Clerk)

 
4. APPROVAL OF NEW SERIES 10 (BEER AND WINE STORE) LIQUOR LICENSE FOR

QUIKTRIP #1503
 

  RECOMMENDATION
  Recommend approval of Application No. 321230 to the Arizona Department of Liquor

Licenses and Control (DLLC) for a New Series 10 (Beer and Wine Store) liquor license for
QuikTrip #1503 located at 16575 W Indian School Rd, Goodyear, AZ 85395. (Jasmine
Pernicano, Acting City Clerk)

 



 
5. MUNICIPAL SPONSORSHIP FOR 2025 GILA RIVER INDIAN COMMUNITY REVENUE

SHARING GRANT PROPOSALS
 

  RECOMMENDATION
  ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 2025-2451 SUPPORTING THE SUBMISSION OF 2025 GRANT

APPLICATIONS BY 1N10 INC, 72 AND YOU, ALICE COOPER’S SOLID ROCK TEEN
CENTERS, AUTISM SOCIETY OF GREATER PHOENIX, MENDING HEARTS FOUNDATION,
NEW LIFE CENTER, SOUNDS OF AUTISM, AND VALLEY OF THE SUN UNITED WAY TO
THE GILA RIVER INDIAN COMMUNITY AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO
EXECUTE ALL DOCUMENTS RELATING TO SAID APPLICATIONS, AND AUTHORIZING
THE CITY MANAGER TO ACCEPT AND ADMINISTER SUBSEQUENT AWARDED FUNDS,
AND ANY AMENDMENTS THERETO, AS A PASS-THROUGH GRANT. (Christina Panaitescu,
Community Partnerships Program Manager)

 
6. 2025 GILA RIVER INDIAN COMMUNITY REVENUE SHARING GRANT PROPOSAL  
  RECOMMENDATION
  ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 2025-2452 AUTHORIZING THE SUBMISSION OF A PUBLIC

SAFETY APPLICATION FOR STATE SHARED REVENUE GRANT PROGRAM FUNDS TO
THE GILA RIVER INDIAN COMMUNITY, AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE
ALL DOCUMENTS RELATING TO SAID APPLICATION, AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY
MANAGER TO EXECUTE A GRANT AGREEMENT (IF GRANT FUNDS ARE AWARDED),
AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO APPROVE THE REQUIRED BUDGET
TRANSFER (IF GRANT FUNDS ARE AWARDED). (Christina Panaitescu, Community
Partnerships Program Manager)

 
7. EASEMENT GRANTING CINCINNATI REDS RIGHT TO ACCESS REDS FACILITIES

FROM ADJACENT PROPERTY THROUGH BACK GATE
 

  RECOMMENDATION
  Approve the Construction, Maintenance, and Access Easement Agreement with The Cincinnati

Reds LLC and providing authorization to the city manager or her designee to take actions and
execute documents necessary to carry out the intent of the agreement. (Bruce Kessman,
Deputy Director Ballpark General Manager)

 
8. APPROVAL OF A LICENSE AGREEMENT WITH CABLEVISION LIGHTPATH LLC FOR

THE INSTALLATION OF A FIBER OPTIC NETWORK WITHIN THE CITY’S
RIGHTS-OF-WAY

 

  RECOMMENDATION
  ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 2025-2453 AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER AND OR THEIR

DESIGNEE TO EXECUTE A LICENSE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF GOODYEAR
AND CABLEVISION LIGHTPATH LLC, A DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY
PROVIDING FOR THE CITY MANAGER AND OR THEIR DESIGNEE TO EXECUTE
AMENDMENTS TO THE LICENSE AGREEMENT ASSOCIATED WITH MINOR SCRIVENER
ERRORS AND TO ENTER INTO SEPARATE AGREEMENTS FOR IN-KIND EXCHANGES
WHICH MAY INCLUDE FIBER AND OR CONDUIT FOR THE CITY’S EXCLUSIVE USE.
(Philip Cochran, Assistant City Attorney)

 



           
BUSINESS

 

9. AGREEMENT FOR ENGINEERING, PROCUREMENT, AND CONSTRUCTION - BRINE
DISPOSAL

 

  RECOMMENDATION
  Approve the Engineering, Procurement, and Construction Agreement with the city of Buckeye

and Arizona Public Service (APS) and approve authorization and direction to take actions and
execute the documents necessary to carry out the intent of the agreement. (Barbara Chappell,
Water Services Director) 
 

 
INFORMATION ITEMS

 
Comments, commendations, report on current events and presentations by Mayor, Councilmembers,
staff or members of the public. The Council may not propose, discuss, deliberate or take any legal action
on the information presented, pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-431.02.

Reports from the Mayor and City Council
This may include current events and activities as well as requests for information or future
agenda items.

Report from the City Manager
This may include updates from events, staff summary, update of legislative issues,
clarification on items being requested by Council, and Manager's update on Council related
matters.

 

FUTURE MEETINGS
Future meetings are tentatively scheduled as follows:

 
March 17, 2025 Council Meeting 5:00 p.m.

 

ADJOURNMENT

 

THE CITY OF GOODYEAR ENDEAVORS TO MAKE ALL PUBLIC MEETINGS ACCESSIBLE TO
PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES. With 48-hour advance notice, special assistance can be provided for
sight and/or hearing-impaired persons at this meeting. Reasonable accommodations will be made upon
request for persons with disabilities or non-English speaking residents. Please call the City Clerk (623)
882-7830 or Arizona Relay (TDD) 7-1-1 to request an accommodation to participate in this public
meeting. For Non-English assistance, please contact the City Clerk at (623) 882-7830.

Si necesita asistencia o traducción en español, favor de llamar al menos 48 horas antes de la reunión
al  (623) 882-7830.

POSTING VERIFICATION: This agenda was posted on 02/26/2025 at 5:17 p.m. by VM.



ITEM #: 1. 
DATE: 03/03/2025
AI #:2426

CITY COUNCIL COMMUNICATION
 
STAFF PRESENTER(S): Mayor Pizzillo

SUBJECT:
RECOGNITION OF THE ESTRELLA FOOTHILLS HIGH SCHOOL STATE CHAMPIONSHIP
SWIMMER & GIRLS VOLLEY BALL TEAM & DESERT EDGE HIGH SCHOOL FOOTBALL TEAM



ITEM #: 2. 
DATE: 03/03/2025
AI #:2455

CITY COUNCIL ACTION REPORT 
  
SUBJECT: APPOINTMENTS TO CITY BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND

COMMITTEES
 

STAFF PRESENTER(S): Jasmine Pernicano, Acting City Clerk

SUMMARY
This item requests Council approval of the recommendations of the Council Subcommittee on City
Boards, Commissions and Committees, which is charged with reviewing, interviewing, and
making recommendations for appointments to fill all vacancies on City boards, commissions, and
committees.

STRATEGIC PLAN ALIGNMENT
  

    

RECOMMENDATION
Approve the appointment to the Planning & Zoning Commission and appointment to the Arts & Culture
Commission as recommended by the Council Subcommittee on City Boards, Commissions and
Committees. (Jasmine Pernicano, Acting City Clerk)

FISCAL IMPACT
There is no direct fiscal impact associated with these appointments.

BACKGROUND AND PREVIOUS ACTIONS
The City Council Subcommittee on City Boards, Commissions and Committees is charged with
reviewing, interviewing, and making recommendations to City Council regarding appointments to fill
vacancies and re-appointments to City boards, commissions, and committees. 

The City Council Subcommittee met on November 20, 2024 and February 19, 2025.  After a review of
the applications and interviews, the City Council Subcommittee recommended the appointments to the
Arts & Cultural Commission and Planning and Zoning Commission.

On January 9, 2025, City Council approved Ordinance 2025-1626, amending Goodyear City Code
Article 3-9-3 updating the Goodyear Arts and Culture commission alternate members, allowing for up
to three alternate members.



Per Goodyear City Code Article 3-9-3, section (F), the Arts and Culture Committee may adopt rules of
procedures (Goodyear Arts & Culture Commission Bylaws, approved July 9, 2024), which allows for
Alternates to serve a Four (4) year term. 

STAFF ANALYSIS
The recommendations of the City Council Subcommittee are as follows:

ARTS AND CULTURAL COMMISSION 
NAME BEGINS EXPIRES

Kimberly Hill (Alternate 2) 3/3/2025 3/2/2029

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
NAME BEGINS EXPIRES

Teri Roberts 3/13/2025 3/2/2028

The beginning and ending dates for commission members are based on either the by-laws of the
commissions or the position availability.



ITEM #: 3. 
DATE: 03/03/2025
AI #:2508

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

SUBJECT
APPROVAL OF MINUTES

RECOMMENDATION
Approve the February 24, 2025 Regular draft minutes. (Jasmine Pernicano, Acting City Clerk)

Attachments
February 24, 2025 Regular Draft Meeting Minutes 



City Council Regular Meeting
City Hall - Council Chambers
1900 N. Civic Square
Goodyear, AZ 85395

Monday, February 24, 2025 5:00 p.m. Meeting Minutes

               
CALL TO ORDER
 
  Mayor Pizzillo called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m.
 
ROLL CALL
Present: Mayor Joe Pizzillo; Vice Mayor Wally Campbell; Councilmember Brannon 

Hampton; Councilmember Laura Kaino; Councilwoman Vicki Gillis; 
Councilmember Benita Beckles; Councilmember Trey Terry

Staff
Present:

City Manager Wynette Reed; City Attorney Roric Massey; Acting City Clerk Jasmine
Pernicano 

  [Councilmember Terry participated by telephone.]
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION BY COUNCILMEMBER HAMPTON
 
COMMUNICATIONS
 

1. RECOGNITION OF DEPUTY CHIEF JEFF MERCY 30 YEARS OF SERVICE WITH
GOODYEAR POLICE DEPARTMENT

  

 
  Chief of Police Brian Issitt recognized Deputy Chief Jeff Mercy for his years of service

and highlighted various points in his career.

Deputy Chief Mercy expressed gratitute to be able to serve the community. Council
expressed appreciation for his years of service and congratulated Deputy Chief Mercy
on his retirement. 

 
2. 2024 CITIZENS OF THE YEAR RECOGNITIONS

Citizen of the Year – Bonnie Lewis
Corporate Citizen of the Year – Friends of the Southwest Family Advocacy Center
Youth Citizen of the Year – Ameera Singh

  

 
  Mayor Pizzillo presented proclamations recognizing Bonnie Lewis as the 2024 Citizen of

1 



  Mayor Pizzillo presented proclamations recognizing Bonnie Lewis as the 2024 Citizen of
the Year, the Friends of the Southwest Family Advocacy Center as the 2024 Corporate
Citizens of the Year, and Ameera Singh as the 2024 Youth Citizen of the Year. Assistant
to the Mayor, Rosalva Zimmerman, read the proclamations.

Bonnie Lewis, representatives of the Friends of the Southwest Family Advocacy Center,
and Ameera Singh expressed their gratitude to the City and the Goodyear community for
the recognition and ongoing support.

 
CITIZEN COMMENTS/APPEARANCES FROM THE FLOOR 
 
  Jeff Redmon, Goodyear resident, expressed various concerns related to flight patterns,

roadwork and freeways, warehouses and apartments, open space, campaign signs,
volunteer programs, and the overall communication and follow up from the city. 

Julie and Levi Haines, Goodyear residents, thanked the city for the quick follow up
regarding Goodyear Little League and sports fields.  

 

CONSENT

 
  MOTION BY Councilmember Brannon Hampton, SECONDED BY Vice Mayor Wally 

Campbell to APPROVE Consent Agenda items 3 through 8. The motion carried as
follows:

  AYE: Mayor Joe Pizzillo, Vice Mayor Wally Campbell, Councilmember Brannon 
Hampton, Councilmember Laura Kaino, Councilwoman Vicki Gillis, 
Councilmember Benita Beckles, Councilmember Trey Terry

Passed - Unanimously 

 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Approve the February 10, 2025 Regular Meeting. (Jasmine Pernicano, Acting City Clerk)
  

 
4. INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (IGA) BETWEEN THE CITY OF PHOENIX

AND THE CITY OF GOODYEAR FOR USE OF FIRE APPARATUS
 
RECOMMENDATION
Approve IGA with City of Phoenix and providing authorization and direction to take
actions and execute documents necessary to carry out the intent of the agreement. (Paul
Luizzi, Fire Chief)

  

 
5. AUTHORIZATION FOR ACQUISITIONS OF REAL AND PERSONAL PROPERTY

INTERESTS NEEDED FOR THE CIP#42058 MCDOWELL ROAD MEDIAN
IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT
 
RECOMMENDATION
ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 2025-2447 FINDING THAT ACQUISITION OF REAL AND
PERSONAL PROPERTY INTERESTS NEEDED FOR THE COMPLETION OF
IMPROVEMENTS TO MCDOWELL ROAD BETWEEN DYSART ROAD AND
APPROXIMATELY 694 FEET WEST OF LITCHFIELD ROAD TO DYSART ROAD. A
MATTER OF PUBLIC NECESSITY; AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING CITY STAFF TO
ACQUIRE SUCH INTERESTS BY DEDICATION, DONATION, PURCHASE OR THE

  

2 



ACQUIRE SUCH INTERESTS BY DEDICATION, DONATION, PURCHASE OR THE
EXERCISE OF THE POWER OF EMINENT DOMAIN; PROVIDING AUTHORIZATION;
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. (Kimberly Romero, Real Estate Supervisor) 

 
6. ARIZONA CRASH INFORMATION SYSTEM DATA EXCHANGE AGREEMENT WITH

ADOT
 
RECOMMENDATION
Approve the Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with the Arizona Department of
Transportation (ADOT) to provide City of Goodyear access to the Arizona Crash
Information System and Crash Records Information System. (Erik Cesek, Assistant City
Traffic Engineer)

  

 
7. AUTHORIZATION FOR ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY INTERESTS NEEDED FOR

THE ESTRELLA PARKWAY AND BALLPARK VILLAGE BOULEVARD TRAFFIC
SIGNAL IMPROVEMENTS
 
RECOMMENDATION
ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 2025-2448 FINDING THAT ACQUISITION OF REAL AND
PERSONAL PROPERTY INTERESTS NEEDED FOR THE COMPLETION OF
IMPROVEMENTS AT THE INTERSECTION OF ESTRELLA PARKWAY AND BALLPARK
VILLAGE BOULEVARD IS A MATTER OF PUBLIC NECESSITY; AUTHORIZING AND
DIRECTING CITY STAFF TO ACQUIRE SUCH INTERESTS BY DEDICATION,
DONATION, PURCHASE OR THE EXERCISE OF THE POWER OF EMINENT
DOMAIN; PROVIDING AUTHORIZATION; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE .
(Kimberly Romero, Real Estate Supervisor)

  

 
8. AUTHORIZATION OF THE EXPENDITURE OF FUNDS FOR APPROVED CIP

PROJECT # 30015 - FIRE RESOURCE MANAGEMENT FACILITY
 
RECOMMENDATION
Authorize the expenditure of funds up to $1,760,500 for Capital Improvement Program
(CIP) Project #30015 – Fire Resource Management Facility. (Steve Scinto, Director of
Engineering)

  

 
  In response to Council inquiry, Director of Engineering Steve Scinto clarified that the

item was included in the approved budget and did not require an increase in funding for
the project.

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS

 
9. USE PERMIT FOR A CONVENIENCE USE (CONVENIENCE STORE WITH A GAS

STATION)
  

 
  Mayor Pizzillo opened the Public Hearing at 5:40 p.m.

Senior Planner Justin Gabrielson presented a request for a use permit for a
convenience store with a gas station at the southwest corner of MC-85 and South
Estrella Parkway. He reviewed the surrounding area, project site proposal, zoning
requirements, and the results of traffic studies conducted by the applicant.
Mr. Gabrielson explained that the project includes a 5,312-square-foot convenience

3 



store, an 8,176-square-foot auto fuel canopy area with 10 gasoline fueling pumps,
accommodating up to 20 vehicles, and a 2,554-square-foot truck fueling canopy area
with three semi-truck fueling bays, serving up to three semi-trucks at a time. He clarified
that no truck stop services will be provided, and overnight parking will not be allowed. He
then outlined the public participation process, which included a citizen review meeting.
He noted that the Planning & Zoning Commission considered the item at its February
12, 2025, meeting and recommended forwarding approval to the City Council.

There being no public comments, Mayor Pizzillo closed the Public Hearing at 5:44 p.m.

Council discussed the proposal and confirmed that this project is not a truck stop and
expressed support for the stipulations. In response to Council inquiry regarding State
Route 30, Development Services Director Katie Wilken explained that the site’s location
would not impact driveway access to this location. 

Mr. Gabrielson explained that there will also be an expansion of lanes on South Estrella
Parkway and West Broadway Road. He also noted that the applicant met with the
Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT) to review these plans, which were found
to be acceptable, and that the stipulations were included prior to the Planning and
Zoning Commission meeting.

 

  MOTION BY Councilmember Laura Kaino, SECONDED BY Councilmember Benita 
Beckles to APPROVE the Use Permit request for a Convenience Use (QuikTrip
convenience store with a gas station) on a 5.13-acre portion of a 15.19-acre parcel
(APN 500-06-040B) located at the southwest corner of MC-85 & South Estrella
Parkway, subject to stipulations. The motion carried as follows:

  AYE: Mayor Joe Pizzillo, Vice Mayor Wally Campbell, Councilmember Brannon 
Hampton, Councilmember Laura Kaino, Councilwoman Vicki Gillis, 
Councilmember Benita Beckles, Councilmember Trey Terry

Passed - Unanimously 

 

BUSINESS

 
10. AMEND CHAPTER 3 OF GOODYEAR CITY CODE TO ADOPT REVISED POLICY AND

GUIDELINES FOR THE AUDIT COMMITTEE AND ESTABLISH CITY AUDITOR
PROGRAM

  

 
  Finance Director Jared Askelson presented a request to amend city code to establish

the Audit Committee and City Auditor Program, as outlined in the city's strategic plan.
He explained that the ordinance includes creating a City Auditor position and forming an
Audit Committee to replace the Council Audit Subcommittee, which will oversee the audit
plan, audit reports, corrective actions, and Council reporting.

Council discussed the committee's reporting structure, the audit plan, and the timeline
for recruiting the position and developing the initial audit plan. Mr. Askelson clarified that
this internal audit program is separate from the annual comprehensive financial report
audit and anticipates posting the recruitment soon, with the initial audit plan expected by
summer. He added that the Audit Committee will adopt bylaws setting the structure,
roles and responsibilities of the committee.

Acting City Clerk Jasmine Pernicano read Ordinance No. 2025-1628 by title only. 

4 



 

  MOTION BY Vice Mayor Wally Campbell, SECONDED BY Councilmember Brannon 
Hampton to ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 2025-1628 AMENDING CHAPTER 3
ADMINISTRATION OF GOODYEAR CITY CODE TO ESTABLISH A NEW SECTION,
3-1-10 CITY AUDITOR, AND NEW ARTICLE 3-18 AUDIT COMMITTEE,
AUTHORIZATION OF FULL-TIME POSITION AND BUDGET AMENDMENT, THE
PROVIDING FOR CORRECTIONS, SEVERABILITY; AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. The
motion carried as follows:

  AYE: Mayor Joe Pizzillo, Vice Mayor Wally Campbell, Councilmember Brannon 
Hampton, Councilmember Laura Kaino, Councilwoman Vicki Gillis, 
Councilmember Benita Beckles, Councilmember Trey Terry

Passed - Unanimously 

 
11. RESOLUTIONS TO AMEND THE CITIZEN WATER ADVISORY COMMITTEE

BY-LAWS AND TEMPORARILY ASSIGN A TASK
  

 
  Public Works Director Sumeet Mohan presented the request to amend the Citizen Water

Advisory bylaws to add stormwater duties and temporarily assign a task to review and
provide recommendations on solid waste rates. Mr. Mohan provided an overview of the
committee, and discussed the solid waste rate review process. 

Acting City Clerk Jasmine Pernicano read Resolution No. 2025-2449 and 2025-2450 by
title only. 

 

  MOTION BY Councilmember Laura Kaino, SECONDED BY Vice Mayor Wally 
Campbell to ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 2025-2449 APPROVING THE AMENDED
BY-LAWS OF THE CITIZEN WATER ADVISORY COMMITTEE; AUTHORIZING STAFF
TO TAKE ALL ACTIONS NECESSARY TO CARRY OUT THE INTENT OF THE
RESOLUTION AND BY-LAWS; AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE and
ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 2025-2450 TEMPORARILY ASSIGNING THE CITIZEN
WATER ADVISORY COMMITTEE TO REVIEW AND PROVIDE RECOMMENDATIONS
ON SOLID WASTE RATES. The motion carried as follows:

  AYE: Mayor Joe Pizzillo, Vice Mayor Wally Campbell, Councilmember Brannon 
Hampton, Councilmember Laura Kaino, Councilwoman Vicki Gillis, 
Councilmember Benita Beckles, Councilmember Trey Terry

Passed - Unanimously 

 
12. AMENDMENT TO THE COMPREHENSIVE SIGN PACKAGE FOR VANTAGE DATA

CENTERS
  

 
  Senior Planner Kyle Abbott presented the Comprehensive Sign Package for the

Vantage Data Centers and explained that the amendment would allow for the addition of
a monument sign at the southeast corner of W. Van Buren Street and N. Bullard Avenue
and adjustments to quantities, locations, and types of signs within the property.

 

  MOTION BY Vice Mayor Wally Campbell, SECONDED BY Councilmember Benita 

5 



  MOTION BY Vice Mayor Wally Campbell, SECONDED BY Councilmember Benita 
Beckles to APPROVE the amended Vantage Data Centers AZ Campus
Comprehensive Sign Package dated November 19, 2024, subject to stipulations.
The motion carried as follows:

  AYE: Mayor Joe Pizzillo, Vice Mayor Wally Campbell, Councilmember Brannon 
Hampton, Councilmember Laura Kaino, Councilwoman Vicki Gillis, 
Councilmember Benita Beckles, Councilmember Trey Terry

Passed - Unanimously 

 
INFORMATION ITEMS

 
Council reported on various events taking place in the city. No action was taken. Councilwoman
Gillis reported that she was appointed to serve on the National League of Cities Public Safety and
Crime Prevention Federal Advocacy Committee. Councilmember Kaino reported that she attended
a Congressional Dialogue on the Colorado River with Representative Greg Stanton. 

City Manager Wynette Reed reported on a successful Spring Training opening weekend, which
drew over 11,000 attendees, and the city's hosting of SkaterCon10, with more than 1,500 skaters.
She expressed gratitude to staff from multiple departments and highlighted Goodyear Police
Officer Zach Rand, who was featured on video at the event.
 

FUTURE MEETINGS
Future meetings are tentatively scheduled as follows:

 
March 3, 2025 Council Meeting 5:00 p.m.

 

ADJOURNMENT

 
There being no further business to discuss, Mayor Pizzillo adjourned the Regular Meeting at 6:20 p.m.

  
______________________________
Jasmine Pernicano, Acting City Clerk

__________________________
Joe Pizzillo, Mayor

Date:___________________
 

  

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing minutes are a true and correct copy of the minutes of the CITY
COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING of the city of Goodyear, Arizona, held on February 24, 2025.  I further
certify that the meeting was duly called and held and that a quorum was present.

Dated this ____ day of ______________, 2025.                            SEAL:

______________________________
Jasmine Pernicano, Acting City Clerk

6 



ITEM #: 4. 
DATE: 03/03/2025
AI #:2443

CITY COUNCIL ACTION REPORT 
  
SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF NEW SERIES 10 (BEER AND WINE STORE)

LIQUOR LICENSE FOR QUIKTRIP #1503
 

STAFF PRESENTER(S): Jasmine Pernicano, Acting City Clerk

OTHER PRESENTER(S):
Perry Charles Huellmantel, Agent

SUMMARY
Agent Perry Charles Huellmantel has submitted an application for a New Series 10 (Beer and Wine
Store) liquor license on behalf of QuikTrip #1503, to be located at 16575 W Indian School Rd.
The applicant is requesting that a recommendation of approval be forwarded to the Arizona Department
of Liquor Licenses and  Control (DLLC) for issuance of a liquor license.

STRATEGIC PLAN ALIGNMENT
  

    

RECOMMENDATION
Recommend approval of Application No. 321230 to the Arizona Department of Liquor Licenses and
Control (DLLC) for a New Series 10 (Beer and Wine Store) liquor license for QuikTrip #1503 located
at 16575 W Indian School Rd, Goodyear, AZ 85395. (Jasmine Pernicano, Acting City Clerk)

FISCAL IMPACT
The applicant paid the $635 application fee for the liquor license per the Goodyear Municipal User Fee
Schedule. The business will also contribute to the tax base of the community.

BACKGROUND AND PREVIOUS ACTIONS
A new Series 10 liquor license application was submitted by Mr. Huellmantel for the upcoming QuikTrip
store (#1503) scheduled to open in February 2026. The application specifies that walk-up and
drive-thru services are not offered on the premises. The City Clerk's office received the application from
the DLLC on January 8, 2025, and the Public Hearing notice was installed on January 23, 2025, to
comply with Arizona Revised Statute §4-201(b). This notice provided an opportunity for residents to
voice their opinions; however, no petitions or protests from qualified persons were received during the
comment period. The application was routed for approval to the Police Department and the
Development Services Department (including Code Enforcement and Planning & Zoning) and neither



department had any comments. The application is included as Attachment A titled DLLC Local
Governing Body Report.

STAFF ANALYSIS
A Series 10 liquor license is a non-transferable, off-sale retail privileges liquor license that allows a
retail store to sell beer and wine (no other spirituous liquors), only in the original unbroken package, to
be taken away from the premises of the retailer and consumed off the premises. A retailer with off-sale
privileges may deliver spirituous liquor off of the licensed premises in connection with a retail sale.
Payment must be made no later than the time of delivery. A series 10 license may fill and sell
"growlers". Reference A.R.S. § 4-244(32).

The DLLC requires license owners, agents, and managers actively involved in the day-to-day
operations of the business to complete a state-approved management training course prior to the
issuance of a liquor license. The Sales/Training Manager has taken the state required Title 4 Basic &
Management training. The store managers will also take the Title 4 Basic & Management training. In
addition to completing the required training, a manager will be on site during all business hours. The
training procedures call for all employees to be fully trained on state liquor laws upon hire and ongoing
review. The training requires the employee to check a Valid ID for anyone who appears to be under the
legal drinking age to purchase liquor.

There are no licensed childcare facilities or K-12 schools within 300 feet of the location to comply with
Arizona Revised Statutes §4-207. For evaluation purposes, a One-Mile Report and Evaluation Map is
included as Attachment B, showing there are no liquor licenses or K-12 school within a one-mile
radius. City Council's recommendation of "Approval", "Disapproval" or "No Recommendation" will be
forwarded to the DLLC for consideration during their licensing review process.

Attachments
Attachment A - DLLC Local Governing Body Report 
Attachment B - One Mile Report and Evaluation Map 

































































 
 

Liquor Licenses within One Mile – QuikTrip #1503 

 

Applicant Address: 16575 W Indian School Rd., Goodyear, AZ 85395 

 

Business Name Address Distance from 
Applicant 
Address 

License 
Series 

Liquor Establishments 
There are No Liquor Establishments within 1 Mile Radius 

 
 

Schools 
There are No Schools within 1 Mile Radius 

 



Liquor License Evaluation - QuikTrip #1503

City of Goodyear, Bureau of Land Management, Esri, HERE, Garmin,
INCREMENT P, NGA, USGS, City of Goodyear

Features_All_Layers_Map_Service - City Limits

Liquor License

Bar

Unlicensed

1/14/2025, 11:24:06 AM
0 0.25 0.50.13 mi

0 0.4 0.80.2 km

1:18,056

Clerk and Recorder
City of Goodyear

16575 W Indian School Rd., Goodyear, AZ 85395

5,280 Feet



ITEM #: 5. 
DATE: 03/03/2025
AI #:2475

CITY COUNCIL ACTION REPORT 
  
SUBJECT: MUNICIPAL SPONSORSHIP FOR 2025 GILA RIVER INDIAN

COMMUNITY REVENUE SHARING GRANT PROPOSALS
 

STAFF PRESENTER(S): Christina Panaitescu, Community Partnerships Program
Manager

SUMMARY
The Gila River Indian Community is seeking requests for funding proposals for their 2025 State
Shared Revenue grant program. Proposals must address one or more of the following priority areas:
economic development, education, healthcare, public safety, or transportation. Responses are due no
later than March 31, 2025.

STRATEGIC PLAN ALIGNMENT

  

RECOMMENDATION
ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 2025-2451 SUPPORTING THE SUBMISSION OF 2025 GRANT
APPLICATIONS BY 1N10 INC, 72 AND YOU, ALICE COOPER’S SOLID ROCK TEEN CENTERS,
AUTISM SOCIETY OF GREATER PHOENIX, MENDING HEARTS FOUNDATION, NEW LIFE
CENTER, SOUNDS OF AUTISM, AND VALLEY OF THE SUN UNITED WAY TO THE GILA RIVER
INDIAN COMMUNITY AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE ALL DOCUMENTS
RELATING TO SAID APPLICATIONS, AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ACCEPT AND
ADMINISTER SUBSEQUENT AWARDED FUNDS, AND ANY AMENDMENTS THERETO, AS A
PASS-THROUGH GRANT. (Christina Panaitescu, Community Partnerships Program Manager)

FISCAL IMPACT
As a municipal sponsor, the City will act as a financial conduit between the Gila River Indian
Community and the awarded organization and, as such, upon receipt of grant funds, the City will mail a
check to the awarded organization covering one hundred percent (100%) of the funds received by the
City for that purpose pursuant to the application submitted to the Gila River Indian Community.  If
awarded, appropriate budget amendments will be completed at that time.

BACKGROUND AND PREVIOUS ACTIONS
In 2002, Arizona voters approved Proposition 202, which implemented a new requirement that



In 2002, Arizona voters approved Proposition 202, which implemented a new requirement that
Tribal/State Gaming Compacts must include a provision that the compacting tribe would contribute a
portion of its annual net gaming revenues (the "Annual Contribution") for the benefit of the general
public. Pursuant to Proposition 202, each tribe may determine the recipients of 12 percent of its total
annual contribution (the "State Shared Revenue grant program"). The State Shared Revenue Program
(funded by the Cities, Towns and Counties Distribution Fund) makes grants to incorporated
municipalities throughout the State of Arizona and may include non-profit organizations who obtain the
support/endorsement of a city, town or county.  Priority funding areas for the State Shared Revenue
Progeram grants are economic development, education, healthcare, public safety and transportation. 

Grants for programs and projects can range in total from $1,000 to $300,000 and can be paid out in
installments to support the program for at least one but no more than three years. The Gila River Indian
Community will determine the final amount and length of all grant awards; this may vary from the
requested amount. The Gila River Indian Community will also consider capital requests of up to
$500,000 to be paid out in installments for at least one but no more than five years. However, the
ultimate level of capital contribution will be at the discretion of the Gila River Indian Community based
on interest in the project and available funding.

According to the Goodyear Grants Policy, adopted by Council in December 2020, for Goodyear to
serve as a municipal sponsor, all of the following criteria must be met:

The applicant must be: 
Legally recognized by the IRS as a tax-exempt organization; 
Eligible to apply; 
In good standing with the City; and
Be located in the City of Goodyear and/or the proposed project must directly serve City of
Goodyear residents.

And, the application must: 
Meet the "public benefits" funding priorities of the Tribes.
Not be in direct competition with an application submitted by the City to the same Tribal
community during the same funding cycle.

STAFF ANALYSIS
Non-municipal public service organizations (such as public schools, fire districts, etc.), and non-profit
organizations that have tax-exempt status from the IRS, are eligible to apply; however, must partner
with a municipality for application submission ("municipal sponsorship") and must provide services that
benefit the general public in or around that municipality. All grant awards are made and paid to Arizona
cities, towns and counties. Non-municipal organizations that wish to apply must establish a relationship
with a city, town or county who will receive the grant and then distribute awarded funds as appropriate.
This is in accordance with Proposition 202, distributions by tribe to cities, towns and counties.

The following eight non-profit organizations have requested Goodyear's municipal sponsorship: 
1n10 Inc desires to submit an application for $3,877 to support LGBTQ+ youth attending satellite
programs;
72 and You desires to submit an application for $200,000 to support mental health therapy costs
for youth;
Alice Cooper’s Solid Rock Teen Centers desires to submit an application for $30,000 to support
music lessons and mental health improvement;
Autism Society of Greater Phoenix desires to submit an application for $1,500 to support their
Traveling Sensory Bin Project;
Mending Hearts Foundation desires to submit an application for $250,000 to support a Goodyear
Family Empowerment Program;
New Life Center desires to submit an application for $50,000 to support emergency shelter
overall programming;



overall programming;
Sounds of Autism desires to submit an application for $20,000 to support growth of the Workforce
and Independent Living Skills program; and
Valley of the Sun United Way desires to submit an application for $300,000 to support Read On
Southwest Valley Literacy Hub.

This resolution (included as attachment A) will serve as the City’s intent to accept the grant as
awarded, authorizing the City Manager to accept and administer subsequent awarded funds, and any
amendments thereto, as a pass-through grant. Upon the City’s distribution of the awarded funds to the
non-city recipient, the City shall be considered released from any and all claims, demands, debts,
liabilities, or obligations that may arise in the event that the non-city recipient fails for any reason to
expend the awarded funds in accordance with their grant application to the Gila River Indian
Community.

All eight applications meet the City's criteria for municipal sponsorship and staff recommends approval
of their sponsorship requests. Staff does plan to bring forward an additional proposal for an internal
application to support public safety equipment and supplies. Staff does not believe that application will
be in direct competition with these sponsorship requests.  

Attachments
Attachment A - Resolution 2025-2451 



Resolution No. 2025-2451
Page 1 of 2

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-2451

…
A RESOLUTION OF THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GOODYEAR, MARICOPA
COUNTY, ARIZONA, SUPPORTING THE SUBMISSION OF 2025 GRANT APPLICATIONS BY
1N10 INC, 72 AND YOU, ALICE COOPER’S SOLID ROCK TEEN CENTERS, AUTISM SOCIETY
OF GREATER PHOENIX, MENDING HEARTS FOUNDATION, NEW LIFE CENTER, SOUNDS
OF AUTISM, AND VALLEY OF THE SUN UNITED WAY TO THE GILA RIVER INDIAN
COMMUNITY AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE ALL DOCUMENTS
RELATING TO SAID APPLICATIONS, AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO
ACCEPT AND ADMINISTER SUBSEQUENT AWARDED FUNDS, AND ANY
AMENDMENTS THERETO, AS A PASS-THROUGH GRANT.
…
WHEREAS, Arizona’s Indian Gaming Compact provides that an Indian Tribe make twelve
percent (12%) of its net annual State contributions to cities, towns, or counties for government
services that benefit the general public; and

WHEREAS, private, not-for-profit organizations wishing to access Indian Gaming Funds
(“Gaming Funds”) to provide public benefits must secure sponsorship from a city, town, or
county before making application; and

WHEREAS, this sponsorship must be expressed in a resolution passed by the local
government sponsor; and

WHEREAS, 1n10 Inc desires to submit an application for $3,877 to support LGBTQ+ Youth
Attending Satellite Programs; and

WHEREAS, 72 and You desires to submit an application for $200,000 to support mental health
therapy costs for youth; and

WHEREAS, Alice Cooper’s Solid Rock Teen Centers desires to submit an application for
$30,000 to support music lessons and mental health improvement; and

WHEREAS, the Autism Society of Greater Phoenix desires to submit an application for $1,500
to support their Traveling Sensory Bin Project; and

WHEREAS, Mending Hearts Foundation desires to submit an application for $250,000 to
support a Goodyear Family Empowerment Program; and

WHEREAS, New Life Center desires to submit an application for $50,000 to support emergency
shelter overall programming; and

WHEREAS, Sounds of Autism desires to submit an application for $20,000 to support growth
of the Workforce and Independent Living Skills program; and

WHEREAS, Valley of the Sun United Way desires to submit an application for $300,000 to
support Read On Southwest Valley Literacy Hub; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
GOODYEAR, MARICOPA COUNTY, ARIZONA, AS FOLLOWS:



Resolution No. 2025-2451
Page 2 of 2

SECTION 1. The City Council supports these grant requests for funding.

SECTION 2. The City Manager is hereby authorized to accept and administer subsequent
awarded funds, and any amendments thereto, as a pass-through grant. The City
of Goodyear makes no guarantees beyond disbursement of funding to the non-
city recipient. Upon the City of Goodyear’s distribution of the awarded funds to
the non-city recipient, the City of Goodyear shall be considered released from
any and all claims, demands, debts, liabilities, or obligations that may arise in the
event that the non-city recipient fails for any reason to expend the awarded funds
in accordance with their grant application to the Gila River Indian Community.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Goodyear, Maricopa County,
Arizona, by a _______ vote, this 3rd day of March, 2025.

____________________________________
Joe Pizzillo, Mayor

Date: ______________________________

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM:

____________________________ ______________________________
Jasmine Pernicano, Acting City Clerk Roric Massey, City Attorney



ITEM #: 6. 
DATE: 03/03/2025
AI #:2476

CITY COUNCIL ACTION REPORT 
  
SUBJECT: 2025 GILA RIVER INDIAN COMMUNITY REVENUE SHARING GRANT

PROPOSAL
 

STAFF PRESENTER(S): Christina Panaitescu, Community Partnerships Program
Manager

SUMMARY
The Gila River Indian Community is seeking requests for funding proposals for their 2025 State
Shared Revenue grant program. Proposals must address one or more of the following priority areas:
economic development, education, healthcare, public safety, or transportation. Responses are due no
later than March 31, 2025.

STRATEGIC PLAN ALIGNMENT

RECOMMENDATION
ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 2025-2452 AUTHORIZING THE SUBMISSION OF A PUBLIC SAFETY
APPLICATION FOR STATE SHARED REVENUE GRANT PROGRAM FUNDS TO THE GILA RIVER
INDIAN COMMUNITY, AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE ALL DOCUMENTS
RELATING TO SAID APPLICATION, AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE A
GRANT AGREEMENT (IF GRANT FUNDS ARE AWARDED), AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY
MANAGER TO APPROVE THE REQUIRED BUDGET TRANSFER (IF GRANT FUNDS ARE
AWARDED). (Christina Panaitescu, Community Partnerships Program Manager)

FISCAL IMPACT
There is no fiscal impact at this time and there is no city match requirement for this grant. The total
requested amount is $180,500 across four projects.  If awarded, a future budget amendment will be
necessary to accommodate the expenditures.

BACKGROUND AND PREVIOUS ACTIONS
In 2002, Arizona eligible voters approved Proposition 202, which implemented a new requirement that
Tribal/State Gaming Compacts must include a provision that the compacting tribe would contribute a
portion of its annual net gaming revenues (the "Annual Contribution") for the benefit of the general
public. Pursuant to Proposition 202, each tribe may determine the recipients of 12 percent of its total
annual contribution (the "State Shared Revenue grant program").



The Gila River Indian Community has announced a request for proposals from local governments and
non-profit organizations for the distribution of the fiscal year 2025 payments.

Responses are due via email no later than March 31, 2025. Notifications for funded applications will be
in August 2025, with funds available by October 25, 2025.

Resolution 2025-2452 is included as attachment A.

STAFF ANALYSIS
The Gila River Indian Community offers grants ranging from $1,000 to $500,000. Awards made to the
city over the past ten years have ranged from $35,000 to $120,000.

After engaging department directors for proposals, staff recommends the submission of one
$180,500 public safety application for city of Goodyear Public Safety Equipment & Supplies to support
park rangers, police officers and the fire department, maximizing awareness of city needs with the
understanding that the Gila River Indian Community may elect to partially fund the request. The actual
award will determine which projects are implemented using the funds.
  
Project Description Amount Department
Bikes for Park Rangers: 3 bikes and
associated equipment to outfit bike patrols. $8,000 Parks

Residential Lock Boxes and Hydration
Packs: The fire department's residential lock
box program grants emergency access to
homes when occupants can't open the door,
preventing property damage from forced
entry. There is currently a waiting list. This
request would fund170 lock boxes for the
community.

The department has relied on corporate
hydration donations from manufacturers with
the last donation in 2023 now depleted.
Hydration packets are a crucial supply,
especially in summer. This request would
fund 25,000 hydration packets, ensuring two
per firefighter per shift.

$30,000 Fire

Online Reporting Computer for Lobby:
This request is for an online reporting
computer for the lobby at the Police
Operations Building, allowing members of the
public who do not have a computer, or are at
the police station to make a report that meets
the criteria for online reporting, an immediate
avenue to report a crime. The request
includes a stand, computer, touch screen
monitor, keyboard, and printer.

$62,500 Police

Reserve Radios: The Goodyear Police
Department currently has enough radios for
all sworn employees and professional staff
employees whose position requires a police
radio. This request would fund 10 police
radios(radio, charger, battery, shoulder mic)

$80,000 Fire



for reserve officers, chaplains, and to have
spares.
Total Request $180,500  

Attachments
Attachment A - Resolution 2025-2452 



Resolution No. 2025-2452
Page 1 of 2

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-2452

…
A RESOLUTION OF THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GOODYEAR, MARICOPA
COUNTY, ARIZONA, AUTHORIZING THE SUBMISSION OF A PUBLIC SAFETY APPLICATION
FOR 2025 STATE SHARED REVENUE GRANT PROGRAM FUNDS TO THE GILA RIVER
INDIAN COMMUNITY, AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE ALL DOCUMENTS
RELATING TO SAID APPLICATIONS, AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO
EXECUTE A GRANT AGREEMENT ( IF GRANT FUNDS ARE AWARDED),  AND
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO APPROVE THE REQUIRED BUDGET TRANSFER
(IF GRANT FUNDS ARE AWARDED).
…
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the City to apply for Gila River Indian Community State
Shared Revenue grant funds for public safety equipment and supplies; and

WHEREAS, there is a desire to equip park rangers for bike patrols; and

WHEREAS, there is a waiting list and the fire department is in need of supplies to meet the
demand for residential lock boxes; and

WHEREAS, hydration packets are a crucial supply to support the health and safety of our
firefighters; and

WHEREAS, there is a desire to facilitate online crime reporting by providing public access to a
computer in the Police Operations Building; and

WHEREAS, there is a desire to equip reserve officers and chaplains with police radios; and

WHEREAS, these projects qualify as eligible projects under the State Shared Revenue grant
program; and

WHEREAS, there is no match requirement for this application;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
GOODYEAR, MARICOPA COUNTY, ARIZONA, AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. The City Manager, or her designee, is hereby authorized to submit an application
to the Gila River Indian Community for the State Shared Revenue Grant program
for public safety equipment and supplies for a total amount not to exceed
$180,500.

SECTION 2. If the grant application is awarded, the City will enter into a Grant Agreement with
the Gila River Indian Community to implement the projects or programs that have
been approved by the Gila River Indian Community.

SECTION 3. The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute all documents relating to these
applications and any grant offer resulting from such applications.

SECTION 4. If grant funds are awarded to the City of Goodyear, the City Council hereby
approves necessary budget transfers in the amount of the awarded funds.



Resolution No. 2025-2452
Page 2 of 2

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Goodyear, Maricopa County,
Arizona, by a _______ vote, this 3rd day of March, 2025.

____________________________________
Joe Pizzillo, Mayor

Date: ______________________________

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM:

____________________________ ______________________________
Jasmine Pernicano, Acting City Clerk Roric Massey, City Attorney



ITEM #: 7. 
DATE: 03/03/2025
AI #:2501

CITY COUNCIL ACTION REPORT 
  
SUBJECT: EASEMENT GRANTING CINCINNATI REDS RIGHT TO ACCESS REDS

FACILITIES FROM ADJACENT PROPERTY THROUGH BACK GATE
 

STAFF PRESENTER(S): Bruce Kessman, Deputy Director Ballpark General Manager

SUMMARY
The Cincinnati Reds (the "Reds”) have requested an easement across city-owned property that would
allow these individuals (the “Reds Personnel”) to access the Reds Facilities from the adjacent property
through the back gate in the perimeter fence surrounding the Reds Facilities and to construct
improvements within the easement area that will prevent the public from interacting with the Reds
Personnel as they cross over the city property into the Reds Facilities. 

STRATEGIC PLAN ALIGNMENT

    

RECOMMENDATION
Approve the Construction, Maintenance, and Access Easement Agreement with The Cincinnati Reds
LLC and providing authorization to the city manager or her designee to take actions and execute
documents necessary to carry out the intent of the agreement. (Bruce Kessman, Deputy Director
Ballpark General Manager)

FISCAL IMPACT
The granting of the requested easement is revenue neutral in that it will not generate any revenues or
expenses.  The Reds will be responsible for maintaining all the improvements and for operating all of
the security features being installed.

BACKGROUND AND PREVIOUS ACTIONS
The Reds is a party to a Sports Facilities Use Agreement by and between the City of Goodyear and
The Cincinnati Reds, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company dated July 14, 2008, which was
amended on February 1, 2011 (the “Reds Use Agreement”).  The proposed easement has not been
presented to council previously, and although not required by the Reds Use Agreement, is in
furtherance of the Reds right of access to the Reds Facilities.

STAFF ANALYSIS
The Cincinnati Reds (the “Reds”) intend to house certain individuals involved with the operation of the



The Cincinnati Reds (the “Reds”) intend to house certain individuals involved with the operation of the
Reds within the apartment complex constructed on the property adjacent to the Reds Facilities.  They
have requested an easement across city-owned property that would allow these individuals (the “Reds
Personnel”) and authorized guests to access the Reds Facilities from the adjacent property through the
gate in the perimeter fence surrounding the Reds Facilities and to construct improvements within the
easement area that will prevent the public from interacting with the Red Personnel as they cross over
the city property into the Reds Facilities. The term of the easement would coincide with the current use
agreement between the city and the Reds and any renewal or replacement thereof.

Access through the gate is currently limited to city staff.  The improvements to be constructed will allow
staff to continue to traverse around the Reds Facilities and to access the facilities through the gate and
will include security features to prohibit unauthorized access into the Reds Facilities.  Ballpark staff has
approved the improvements and security features that will be constructed and/or installed. 

The Reds will own all of the improvements being constructed except for the gate in the perimeter fence,
and will be responsible for maintaining all of the improvements, including the gate, and for the operation
of all of the security features that are installed.  The agreement (Attachment A) includes a broad
indemnification clause that requires the Reds to indemnify the city and its staff from claims related to
the use of the easement area and improvements constructed therein, including claims for injuries
arising from persons being hit by fly balls. 

The improvements and security features that are to be constructed and/or installed include a sidewalk,
fencing with windscreen, security cameras, an access control system, and lighting.  The proposed
easement, which has been approved by legal counsel, provides protections for the city against claims
arising from the use of the easement area and from damages caused by persons entering the Reds
Facilities through the gate.  It allows the city to terminate the easement if the Reds fail to satisfy its
obligations and upon such termination requires the Reds to remove the improvements that were
constructed and/or installed and to restore the city’s property. 

Attachments
Attachment A - Agreement 

































EXHIBIT A 

ACCESS EASEMENT LEGAL DESCRIPTION  

(3 Following Pages) 

 

 









EXHIBIT B 

TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT LEGAL DESCRIPTION  

(3 Following Pages) 

 









EXHIBIT C 

PEDESTRIAN PAD EXHIBIT 

(1 Following Page)  

 





ITEM #: 8. 
DATE: 03/03/2025
AI #:2491

CITY COUNCIL ACTION REPORT 
  
SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF A LICENSE AGREEMENT WITH CABLEVISION

LIGHTPATH LLC FOR THE INSTALLATION OF A FIBER OPTIC NETWORK
WITHIN THE CITY’S RIGHTS-OF-WAY
 

STAFF PRESENTER(S): Philip Cochran, Assistant City Attorney 

SUMMARY
The license agreement is a five-year license which grants Cablevision Lightpath LLC (Lightpath) the
ability to install, operate, and maintain a fiber optic communication system within rights-of-way located
within the City of Goodyear. The license agreement includes the option for three additional five-year
renewal terms. 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN ALIGNMENT
  

   

RECOMMENDATION
ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 2025-2453 AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER AND OR THEIR
DESIGNEE TO EXECUTE A LICENSE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF GOODYEAR AND
CABLEVISION LIGHTPATH LLC, A DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY PROVIDING FOR
THE CITY MANAGER AND OR THEIR DESIGNEE TO EXECUTE AMENDMENTS TO THE LICENSE
AGREEMENT ASSOCIATED WITH MINOR SCRIVENER ERRORS AND TO ENTER INTO
SEPARATE AGREEMENTS FOR IN-KIND EXCHANGES WHICH MAY INCLUDE FIBER AND OR
CONDUIT FOR THE CITY’S EXCLUSIVE USE. (Philip Cochran, Assistant City Attorney)

FISCAL IMPACT
Under the license agreement, Lightpath must pay a $2,500.00 application fee to install a fiber optic
network within the City of Goodyear. Each subsequent five-year renewal term requires an extension
application fee of $2,500.00. Lightpath is responsible for all costs related to the construction,
installation, operation, and maintenance of the fiber network within the right-of-way. Additionally,
Lightpath must pay all applicable city fees for plan reviews, permit issuance, and inspections of its
work within the right-of-way.

Following the installation of the fiber optic network, Lightpath is required to pay an annual fee of $0.89
per linear foot of trench within the right-of-way where it installs copper, fiber optic, or other cable
conductors and/or conduit. The total payment to the city, based on the linear feet of trench, shall not



conductors and/or conduit. The total payment to the city, based on the linear feet of trench, shall not
exceed five percent of Lightpath’s gross revenues attributed to the fiber optic network within the city’s
right-of-way. Additionally, Lightpath must pay an annual fee of $1,000.00 to cover the city's
administration and monitoring costs. The issuance of the license agreement does not require any city
expenditures.

 

BACKGROUND AND PREVIOUS ACTIONS
Lightpath is seeking a fiber license agreement from the city of Goodyear to install, operate, and
maintain a fiber optic network within the city's rights-of-way. The planned connection locations are
distributed throughout the city limits. This would be Lightpath’s first license agreement with the city.

STAFF ANALYSIS
Lightpath is requesting a fiber license agreement from Goodyear to install, operate and maintain a fiber
optic network within the city’s rights-of-way.  The locations planned for connections are throughout the
city limits of Goodyear. The license will grant access to the necessary rights-of-way to enable the
required permitting and inspections for installation, operation and maintenance of the network.
Lightpath must obtain all necessary permits through the city’s standard procedures.

The license has an initial five-year term, with the option for three additional five-year renewals. It is a
non-exclusive agreement, allowing the city to grant licenses to other users within the right-of-way,
including additional fiber optic network providers.

The license allows the city to enter into a separate agreement for in-kind contributions of fiber and or
conduit for the city’s exclusive use. The total costs of the fiber and/or conduit will be borne by Lightpath
and the city will credit those expenses towards the annual fee associated with the amount of trench in
the right-of-way. This option allows the city to have access to fiber optic cable and/or conduit that can
be utilized for city facilities and departments without any expenditure of funds from the city. Resolution
2025-2453 with exhibit A is included as attachment A.
 

Attachments
Attachment A - Resolution 2025-2453 w/Exhibit A 



 

Resolution No. 2025-2453 
Page 1 of 57 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-2453 
… 
A RESOLUTION OF THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GOODYEAR, MARICOPA 
COUNTY, ARIZONA, AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER AND OR THEIR DESIGNEE TO 
EXECUTE A LICENSE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF GOODYEAR AND 
CABLEVISION LIGHTPATH LLC, A DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY PROVIDING 
FOR THE CITY MANAGER AND OR THEIR DESIGNEE TO EXECUTE AMENDMENTS TO THE 
LICENSE AGREEMENT ASSOCIATED WITH MINOR SCRIVENER ERRORS AND TO ENTER 
INTO SEPARATE AGREEMENTS FOR IN-KIND EXCHANGES WHICH MAY INCLUDE FIBER 
AND OR CONDUIT FOR THE CITY’S EXCLUSIVE USE. 
… 
WHEREAS, the City of Goodyear is authorized to grant, renew, deny and terminate licenses for 
the installation, operation and maintenance of fiber optic cable within the City’s boundaries by 
federal and state statutes, by the City’s police powers, by its authority over its public rights-of-
way, and by other city powers and authority; and 
 
WHEREAS, Cablevision Lightpath LLC, a Delaware limited liability company seeks to obtain an 
initial Fiber Optics Telecommunications Right-of-Way License Agreement (License Agreement) 
under the provisions of Chapter 22 of the Goodyear City Code; and approval of the Mayor and 
Council of the City of Goodyear, Arizona; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City hereby finds that it would serve the public interest to grant the License 
Agreement under the terms and conditions as set forth in the License Agreement and Cablevision 
Lightpath LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, agrees to obtain the license under the terms 
and conditions set forth in the License Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GOODYEAR, MARICOPA COUNTY, ARIZONA, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
SECTION 1. The Mayor and City Council approve the License Agreement between the City 

of Goodyear and Cablevision Lightpath LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit A. 
 

SECTION 2. The City Manager and/or their designee is authorized to execute the License 
Agreement attached as Exhibit A and to execute any and all documents 
necessary to carry out the intent of this Resolution.  
 

SECTION 3. The City Manager and/or their designee is authorized to execute amendments 
to the License Agreement associated with minor clerical errors and technical 
amendments associated with the in-kind exchange of fiber optic cable and 
conduit in lieu of the annual license fee.   
 

SECTION 4. Resolution 2025-2453 shall be effective upon the date of its adoption. 
  
  
 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 
Page 2 of 57 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Goodyear, Maricopa County, 
Arizona, by a ______ vote, this 3rd day of March, 2025. 

____________________________________ 
Joe Pizzillo, Mayor 

Date: ______________________________ 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

______________________________ ______________________________ 
Jasmine Pernicano, Acting City Clerk Roric Massey, City Attorney 



EXHIBIT "A"

LICENSE AGREEMENT
BETWEEN 

CABLEVISION LIGHTPATH LLC 
AND 

THE CITY OF GOODYEAR, ARIZONA

(On the following pages)

Resolution No. 2025-2453 
Page 3 of 57 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 4 of 57 

FIBER OPTICS TELECOMMUNICATIONS 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LICENSE AGREEMENT 

AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is made and effective this  calendar day of 
, 20 , by and between the City of Goodyear, an Arizona municipal 

corporation ("Licensor"), and Cablevision Lightpath LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company ("Licensee"). 

RECITALS 

A. Licensor owns or has rights to public street and alley rights-of-way
and public utility easements within the boundaries of the City of
Goodyear that are designated for use by public utility companies for
installation, operation, and repair of water, electrical, and other public
utilities pursuant to franchises, licenses or other agreements between
companies and Licensor, the area is limited to the public street and
alley rights-of-way and public utility easements that are either owned
by Licensor or which Licensor has rights to use, collectively, the
RIGHT-OF-WAY ("ROW").

B. For purposes of this License, "Fiber Optics Communication System"
means a network of fiber optic cables and all related equipment
including conduit, carrier pipe, cable fibers, repeaters, power sources
and other attachments and appurtenances necessary for fiber optics
communication but which is excluded from the definitions of
Telecommunications and Telecommunications Services as defined in
ARS 9-581.

C. For the purposes of this License "Fiber Optics Communication
System" does not include one-way transmissions directly to
customers, users or subscribers of video programming or other
programming services or subscriber interaction, if any, which is
required for the selection of or response to video programming or
other programming services. For purposes of the foregoing, the term
"video programming" means programming provided by or generally
considered comparable to programming provided by a television
broadcast station. The term "other programming services" means
information that a cable television system operator makes available
to all subscribers generally.

D. Licensee desires to install and operate a Fiber Optics Communication
System consisting of telecommunications fiber optic lines and related
support equipment (the "Plant") under and in a portion of the ROW
subject to the requirements of this Agreement and Chapter 22,
Goodyear City Ordinance. Licensee shall be permitted to install the
Plant in the ROW only after Licensee has received all necessary
permits and approvals from Licensor to install the Plant within those
specific portions of the ROW as permitted by Licensor. Licensor may
grant, with conditions, or deny such approval in its sole discretion.
Those portions of the ROW where Licensee has received permission



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 5 of 57 
 

and permits from Licensor to install the Plant are the “Use Areas”. 
 

E. Licensor desires to grant to Licensee a nonexclusive license to install, 
maintain, operate, upgrade and repair the Plant (the "Permitted Uses") 
subject to the requirements of this Agreement. 

 
F. Licensor and Licensee desire to provide a method whereby additional 

portions of the ROW can be added to this Agreement (the "New Use 
Areas"). Licensee may expand its Plant within the Licensor 's ROW 
by obtaining a permit from Licensor and upon Licensor's approval of 
plans. Licensor may grant, with conditions, or deny such approval in 
its sole discretion. Any expansion of the Plant approved by Licensor 
shall be subject to all terms and conditions of this Agreement and the 
conditions, if any, imposed by Licensor. 

 
G. Various laws (the ''Telecommunications Laws") authorize Licensor to 

regulate its streets, alleys, and public utility easements, and to grant, 
renew, deny, amend and terminate licenses for and otherwise 
regulate the installation, operation and maintenance of 
telecommunications systems. The Telecommunications Laws 
include, without limitation, the following: 

 
1) The Goodyear City Charter. 

 
2) The Goodyear City Code. 

 
3) The Constitution of the State of Arizona. 

 
4) Other applicable federal, state and local laws, codes, rules and 
regulations. 

 
5) Licensor's police powers, its authority over public rights-of-way, 
and its other governmental powers and authority. 

 
H. Pursuant to the Telecommunications Laws, Licensee has obtained 

from the Arizona Corporation Commission a Certificate of 
Convenience and Necessity (CC&N) 71480 (the "Certificate"). 

 
I. There may be portions of the ROW (the "Third Party Areas") upon 

which the Plant may not be built without permission (the 'Third Party 
Permission") from one or more third parties (the "Third Parties"). The 
Third-Party Areas are areas such as canal crossings or other areas 
that for any reason have limited ROW dedications or that have 
regulatory use restrictions imposed by a Third Party. 

 
J. The Licensor retains the right to adopt, from time to time, in addition 

to the provisions contained in this Agreement, such charter 
provisions, ordinances and rules, and regulations as may be deemed 
necessary by the Licensor to protect and promote the property, health, 
safety and welfare of the Licensor's inhabitants. Licensee shall be 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 6 of 57 
 

subject to all applicable ordinances, rules, and regulations as they 
may apply. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing, the amounts hereinafter 
to be paid by Licensee, and the covenants and agreements contained herein to be kept 
and performed by Licensee, and other good and valuable consideration, Licensor and 
Licensee agree as follows: 

 
I. USE AREAS 

 

1. Use Areas. Licensor hereby grants to Licensee a license to use the Use Areas as 
follows: 

 
1.1 Use Areas Defined. The Use Areas are the portion of the ROW within 
the boundaries of the City of Goodyear which Licensee has received all 
necessary permits and approvals from Licensor to install the Plant. The land 
comprising the ROW will decrease, increase, and otherwise change over time 
due to abandonments, dedications, annexations, de-annexations, and other 
events that affect the amount of land included in Licensor's public utility ROW 
network inventory. This Agreement shall not allow Licensee to use ROW that 
is abandoned, condemned, terminated, removed from the boundaries of the 
City of Goodyear, or is otherwise no longer part of the ROW. 

 
1.2 Non-Use Areas. Licensee shall not use or occupy any portion of the 
ROW other than as necessary to perform its obligations under this Agreement. 
The Plant shall be confined to the Use Areas. 

 
1.3 New Use Areas. New Use Areas are those areas within the ROW that 
Licensee desires to become part of the Use Areas. Licensor and Licensee may 
elect to add New Use Areas to this Agreement subject to the following: 

 
1.3.1 When Licensee desires to add New Use Areas, Licensee shall 

give notice to Licensor containing the following: 

1.3.1.1 A map showing the area proposed to be added to the 
Use Areas. 

1.3.1.2 A map showing the total Use Areas, including the 
proposed New Use Areas in a format specified by Licensor from 
time to time. 

1.3.1.3 Within sixty (60) calendar days after receiving such 
a notice, Licensor shall inform Licensee whether Licensor 
approves the proposed New Use Areas. 

 
1.3.2 Upon addition of New Use Areas, the New Use Areas shall be 
part of the Use Areas for all purposes under this Agreement. All New 
Use Areas shall be subject to all provisions of this Agreement. 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 7 of 57 
 

1.3.3 Licensor's city manager or designee shall have authority without 
further act by Licensor's city council to consent for Licensor to the 
addition of New Use Areas and otherwise act for Licensor under this 
paragraph. 

 
1.4 Condition of Title. Licensee's rights hereunder are subject to all recorded 

or unrecorded matters or conditions of title to or agreements or 
documents regarding the Use Areas (the "Site Documents"). Licensee's 
rights to use the Use Areas under this Agreement are limited to a subset 
of the interests held by Licensor from time to time. Licensee shall not 
violate the Site Documents. 

 
1.5 Condition of Use Areas. The Use Areas are being made available in an 
"as is" condition without any express or implied warranties of any kind, 
including without limitation any warranties or representations as to their 
condition or fitness for any use. 

 
1.6 No Real Property Interest. Notwithstanding any provision hereof to the 
contrary, and notwithstanding any negotiation, correspondence, course of 
performance or dealing, or other statements or acts by or between the parties, 
Licensee's rights herein are limited to the use and occupation of the Use Areas 
for the Permitted Uses. Licensee's rights in the Use Areas are limited to the 
specific limited license rights created by this Agreement. 

 
1.7 Limited Rights in Use Areas. This Agreement grants Licensee no rights 
to or use of the Use Areas other than those expressly granted herein. 

 
1.8 Reserved Right and Competing Users and Activities. Notwithstanding 
anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Licensor specifically reserves to 
itself and excludes from this Agreement a non-exclusive delegable right (the 
"Reserved Right") over the entire Use Areas for all manner of real and personal 
improvements and for streets, sidewalks, trails, landscaping, utilities and every 
other land use of every description. Without limitation: 

 
1.8.1 Competing Users. Water/waste/storm pipes, pavement, fiber, 
telephony, electric lines, cable, and other facilities may all be located 
within the same Segment of ROW with portions of the Plant. Licensee 
accepts the risk that Licensor and others (the "Competing Users") may 
now or in the future install their facilities in the Use Areas in locations 
that make parts of the ROW unavailable for Licensee's use. The 
Competing Users include without limitation Licensor, the State of 
Arizona and its political subdivisions, the public, and all manner of utility 
companies and other existing or future users of the Use Areas. 

 
1.8.2 Competing Activities. Licensee accepts the risk that there may 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 8 of 57 
 

now or in the future exist upon the Use Areas all manner of work and 
improvements upon the Use Areas (the "Competing Activities"). The 
Competing Activities include without limitation any and all laying, 
construction, erection, installation, use, operation, repair, replacement, 
removal, relocation, raising, lowering, widening, realigning or other 
dealing with any or all of the following, whether above, upon or below 
the surface of the Use Areas and whether occasioned by existing or 
proposed uses of the ROW or existing or proposed uses of adjoining or 
nearby land: 

 
1.8.2.1 All manner of streets, alleys, signs, sidewalks, 
trails, ways, traffic control devices, tunnels, trains and gates of 
every description, and all manner of other transportation 
facilities and their appurtenances. 

 
1.8.2.2 All manner of pipes, fiber, wires, cables, vaults, 
cabinets, conduits, sewers, pumps, valves, switches, 
conductors, connectors, poles, supports, anchors, access 
points and guys of every description, and all manner of other 
utility facilities and their appurtenances. 

 
1.8.2.3 All manner of canals, drains, bridges, viaducts, 
overpasses, underpasses, culverts, markings, balconies, 
porches, overhangs, and other encroachments of every 
description and all manner of other facilities and their 
appurtenances. 

 
1.8.2.4 All other uses of the ROW that Licensor may permit 
from time to time. 

 
1.8.3 Reserved Right. The Reserved Right includes the right to use 
and allow other Competing Users to conduct Competing Activities at 
any location upon the Use Areas. 

 
1.8.4 Licensor's Rights Cumulative. All of Licensor's Reserved Rights 
under various provisions of this Agreement shall be cumulative to each 
other. 

 
1.8.5 Use Priorities. This Agreement does not grant to Licensee or 
establish for Licensee any exclusive rights or priority in favor of 
Licensee to use the Use Areas. Licensee's use of the Use Areas shall 
be subordinate to all Competing Activities. Licensee shall not obstruct, 
impede, disrupt or interfere with or prevent any Competing User from 
using the Use Areas. 

 
1.8.6 Regulation. Licensor shall have full authority to regulate use of 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 9 of 57 
 

the Use Areas and to resolve competing demands and preferences 
regarding use of the Use Areas and to require Licensee to cooperate 
and participate in implementing such resolutions. Without limitation, 
Licensor may take any or all of the following into account in regulating 
use of the Use Areas: 

 
1.8.6.1 All timing, public, operational, financial, and other 
factors affecting existing and future proposals, needs, and 
plans for Competing Activities. 

 
1.8.6.2 All other factors Licensor may consider relevant, 
whether or not mentioned in this Agreement. 

 
1.8.6.3 Differing regulatory regimes or laws applicable to 
claimed rights, public benefits, community needs and all 
other factors relating to Competing Users and Competing 
Activities. 

 
1.8.7 Plant Relocation. Upon Licensor's request, Licensee shall 
temporarily or permanently relocate or otherwise modify the Plant (the 
"Relocation Work") as follows: 

 
1.8.7.1 Licensee shall perform the Relocation Work at its own 
expense when required by Licensor's city manager or 
designee. 

 
1.8.7.2 The Relocation Work includes all work determined by 
Licensor to be necessary to accommodate Competing 
Activities, including without limitation temporarily or 
permanently removing, protecting, supporting, disconnecting 
or relocating any portion of the Plant. 

 
1.8.7.3 Licensor may remove any portion of the Plant from the 
ROW if any part of the Relocation Work has not begun on or 
before the day that is sixty (60) calendar days after Licensee 
has received written notice from Licensor, unless otherwise 
agreed to in writing by both Licensor and Licensee. Licensee 
shall reimburse Licensor for its actual costs (including 
administration) in removing the Plant. 

 
1.8.7.4 Licensor may remove the Plant or perform any part of 
the Relocation Work that has not been completed within thirty 
(30) calendar days after Licensee has begun the Relocation 
Work, unless otherwise agreed on in writing by both Licensor 
and Licensee. Licensee shall reimburse Licensor for its actual 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 10 of 57 
 

costs (including administration) associated with removing the 
Plant and/or performing any Relocation Work. 

 
1.8.7.5 If Licensor removes any portion of the Plant due to a 
city project undertaken by Licensor, or the agents, contractors 
or employees of Licensor, and requires the modification, 
replacement, repair, installation, construction or removal of 
any portion of the ROW then Licensee shall not install any 
portion of the Plant removed by Licensor until the city project 
is completed or unless otherwise agreed to in writing by both 
Licensor and Licensee. 

 
1.8.7.6 Licensor has no obligation to move Licensee's, 
Licensor's or others' facilities. Licensee is responsible for 
performing any of the Relocation Work in a timely manner. 
Licensee shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Licensor, 
its employees, elected officials, consultants, contractors and 
agents, for, from and against any and all claims, demands, 
liens, causes of actions, losses, damages, liabilities, costs and 
expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs) 
arising from or alleged to arise from damage caused by 
Licensor to any of Licensee’s facilities installed within the ROW 
and/or from any interference or service interruptions to any 
Licensee’s activities as a result of Licensor removing or 
relocating Licensee’s facilities. 

 
1.8.7.7 Licensor and not Licensee shall be entitled to use any 
of Licensee's facilities that are abandoned in place or that are 
not timely relocated pursuant to Section 1.8.7.3. 

 
1.8.7.8 All Relocation Work shall be subject to and comply 
with all other provisions of this Agreement. 

 
1.8.7.9 Licensee's relocation obligations hereunder are not 
intended to create any legal rights in any third party. Without 
limitation, no third party shall be a third-party beneficiary of 
such obligations, and, therefore, any and all obligations third 
parties may have to bear the cost of relocating Licensee's 
facilities in connection with Competing Activities shall not be 
diminished by Licensee's relocation obligations hereunder. 

 
1.8.8 Disruption by Competing Users. Neither Licensor nor any agent, 
contractor or employee of Licensor shall be liable to Licensee, its 
customers or third parties for any service disruption or for any other harm 
caused them or the Plant due to Competing Users or Competing 
Activities. 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 11 of 57 
 

1.8.9 Damage. Licensee shall be liable for any damage to or 
disturbance of Licensor controlled property and/or private property 
located in the ROW caused by Licensee's failure to act in a timely 
manner. All public and private property damaged or disturbed by 
Licensee's activities shall be promptly repaired, replaced and/or 
restored by Licensee at Licensee's sole expense to as good a condition as 
before such damage or disturbance and to the Licensor's reasonable 
satisfaction. Licensee shall not install, maintain or use any of the Plant in 
such a manner as to damage or interfere with another Competing User’s 
use of the ROW of the Licensor. In accordance with Arizona Revised 
Statutes §40-360.21 et seq., Licensee shall appropriately notify Arizona 
811/Arizona Blue Stake (800-782-5348) before beginning construction. 

 
1.8.10 Emergency Disruption by Licensor. Licensor may remove, 
alter, tear out, relocate or damage portions of the Plant in the case of 
fire, disaster, or other emergencies if Licensor's city managerordesignee 
deems such action to be reasonably necessary under the circumstances. 
In such event, neither Licensor nor any agent, contractor or employee of 
Licensor shall be liable to Licensee or its customers or third parties for any 
harm so caused to them or the Plant. When practical, Licensor shall 
consult with Licensee in advance to assess the necessity of such 
actions and to minimize to the extent practical under the circumstances 
damage to and disruption of operation of the Plant. In any event, Licensor 
shall inform Licensee as soon as practicable after such actions. 
Licensee's work to repair or restore the Plant shall be Relocation Work. 

 
1.8.11 Public Safety. If the Plant or any other Licensee equipment, 
improvements or activities within the Use Areas present any immediate 
hazard or impediment to the public, to Licensor, to other improvements 
or activities within or without the Use Areas, or to Licensor's ability to 
safely and conveniently operate the ROW or perform Licensor's utility, 
public safety and other public health, safety and welfare functions, then 
Licensee shall immediately remedy the hazard, comply with Licensor's 
requests to secure the Use Areas, and otherwise cooperate with 
Licensor at no expense to Licensor to remove any such hazard or 
impediment. Licensee's work crews shall report to the Use Areas within 
two (2) hours of any request by Licensor under this paragraph. 

 
II. TERM OF AGREEMENT 

 

2. Term of Agreement. The term of this Agreement is as follows: 
 

2.1 Original Term Expiration. The original term of this Agreement shall terminate 
11:59 p.m. on the date that is the fifth (5th) annual anniversary of this 
Agreement, unless sooner terminated as set forth in this Agreement. 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 12 of 57 
 

 

2.2 Extensions. The term of this Agreement may be extended for three (3) 
additional five (5) year periods subject to the following: 

 
2.2.1 No extension shall be effective without the written consent of both 
Licensor and Licensee. 

 
2.2.2 Both Licensor and Licensee may withhold their consent to an 
extension in their sole and absolute discretion. 

 
2.2.3 Both Licensor and Licensee shall indicate whether or not they 
consent to an extension by giving notice of consent to the other not more 
than one hundred eighty (180) calendar days and prior to the end of the 
original term (or, in the case of the second or subsequent extension, the 
prior extension). 

 
2.2.4 Any future renewals or extensions of this license may include an 
increase in the annual fee and any other applicable fees set forth in this 
license. 

 
2.2.5 Licensee shall pay to Licensor an Extension Application Fee. 
Such Extension Application Fee shall be determined at the time of each 
renewal. The Extension Application Fee shall be paid on or before the 
days that is thirty (30) calendar days prior to the end of the original term 
(or, in the case of the second or subsequent extension, the prior 
extension). 

 
2.3 Agreement Accepted. By accepting this Agreement, Licensee covenants 
and agrees to perform and be bound by each and all of the terms and conditions 
imposed by the City Code, the Telecommunications Laws, Arizona Law, and this 
Agreement. 

 

III. LICENSEE'S PAYMENTS 
 

3. Licensee's Payments. Licensee shall make payments to Licensor asfollows: 
 

3.1 Fee Payment Items. Licensee shall pay to Licensor each of the following 
separate and cumulative amounts (collectively the "Fee Payment"): 

3.1.1 Application Fee or Extension Application Fee based on 
Licensor’s costs associated with administration of this Agreement. 

3.1.2 An amount (the "Annual Fee Payment") based on Licensor’s 
administration of this Agreement and Licensee's use of the ROW to 
install the Plant. 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 13 of 57 
 

3.1.3 An amount (the "Permit Fee Payment") based on Licensee's 
permit review and other costs as set out below. 

 
3.1.4 An amount (the "Violation Fee Payment") based on certain 
breaches by Licensee of this Agreement as set out below. 

 
3.1.5 An amount (the “New Use Area Payment”) based on Licensee's 
use of the ROW to install the Plant that is made at the time Licensor issues 
permits for construction within the ROW and which New Use Areas were 
not previously included within the Annual Fee Payment. 

 
3.1.6 All other amounts required by this Agreement. 

 
3.2 Annual Fee Payment Amount. 

3.2.1 Licensee shall pay to Licensor, as the Annual Fee Payment: 

3.2.1.1 One thousand dollars ($1,000.00) in any year an 
Application Fee or an Extension Application Fee is not paid, for 
the costs related to the administration of this agreement. 

3.2.1.2 Licensee shall pay to Licensor, as the Annual Fee Payment 
eighty-nine cents ($.89) per linear foot of trench in the ROW 
where Licensee installs copper, fiber optic or other cable 
conductor and/or conduit and its uses do not conform to the 
definition of “Telecommunication Services” as defined in A.R.S. 
§9-581. Notwithstanding the above the total amount paid by 
Licensee to Licensor per linear foot of trench in the ROW shall 
not exceed an amount equal to five percent (5%) of Licensee’s 
gross revenues, as defined below, for the one (1) year period 
prior to the Annual Fee Payment due date. Unless or until 
Licensee has such paying customers and what are deemed 
gross revenues under this Agreement, Licensee shall pay the 
eighty-nine cents ($.89) per linear foot of trench in the ROW in 
full without any cap. 

3.2.1.3 Gross revenues means all cash, credits, property of any 
kind or nature, or other consideration, less related bad debt not 
to exceed one and one-half per cent annually, that is received 
directly or indirectly by the Licensee, its affiliates, subsidiaries 
or parent or any person, firm or corporation in which the 
Licensee has a financial interest or that has a financial interest 
in Licensee and that is derived from the services that utilize the 
Plant and are provided within the Use Areas. Gross revenues 
include all revenue from charges for services to subscribers and 
all charges for installation, removal, connection or reinstatement 
of equipment necessary for a subscriber to receive services that 
utilize the Plant and are provided within the Use Areas, and any 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 14 of 57 
 

other receipts from subscribers derived from operating the 
Plant, including receipts from forfeited deposits, sale or rental of 
equipment, late charges, interest and sale of program guides. 
Gross revenues do not include any revenue subject to a 
transaction privilege tax of the licensing authority. Gross 
revenues also include all income Licensee receives from the 
lease of the Plant located in the ROW, unless services that the 
Lessee provides are subject to a transaction privilege tax by 
Licensor. Gross revenues do not include revenues from fees, 
taxes, or other fees or charges that the Licensee collects and 
pays to any governmental authority, any increase in the value of 
any stock, security or asset, or any dividends or other 
distributions made in respect of any stock or securities. 

3.2.1.4 If at any time Licensee cannot demonstrate and make 
warrant to Licensor that any portion of the Plant conforms to the 
definition “Telecommunications Services” as defined in A.R.S. 
§9-581 and Licensee is exempt from any fee then that portion 
of the Plant shall be subject to the Annual Fee Payment 
described above. Licensee acknowledges and agrees that any 
portion of the Plant not subject to the Annual Fee Payment is 
subject to Licensor’s Transaction Privilege Tax and shall be paid 
in accordance with applicable tax laws. 

3.2.2 Under certain circumstances the Annual Fee Payment may be 
offset by fair and reasonable compensation of in-kind exchanges of 
fiber, conduit, and/or joint trenching for Licensor’s exclusive, subject to 
Section 3.12 below. 

3.3 Appropriate Taxes. Licensee shall be responsible for any  applicable 
taxes associated with this Agreement. 

 
3.4 Permit Fee Payment Amount. The amount of the Permit Fee Payment shall 
be the total amount of all applicable ordinary fees (the "Ordinary Permit 
Charges") payable to Licensor for Licensor's review of plans, issuance of 
permits, and inspection of Licensee's work upon the Use Areas. 

 
3.5 Adjustments. The dollar figures stated in Section 3.2.1 of this Agreement 
shall be automatically adjusted upward annually on July 1st. The adjustment 
shall be made on the basis of changes in the United States Consumer Price 
Index for all Urban Consumers (CPI-U), U.S. City Average, all items, published 
by the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics (the "Cost of Living Index'') for 
the month of January. In no event shall any amount be adjusted downward from 
any previous period. If the Cost-of-Living Index has not been published on any 
adjustment date, Licensor shall have the right to estimate the Cost-of-Living 
Index and to make the adjustments based on such estimate, subject to 
adjustment when the actual figures become known. If such Cost-of-Living Index 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 15 of 57 
 

shall, for any reason whatsoever, not be published or readily identifiable at the 
adjustment date, then an index published by any state or federal agency or an 
index, formula or table accepted generally by the real estate profession shall be 
used as chosen by Licensor in Licensor 's reasonable discretion. Any delayed 
adjustment shall be effective retroactively. 

 
3.6 Fee Payment Cumulative. All items of Fee Payment shall be cumulative 
and separate from each other. 

 
3.7 Fee Payment Schedule. Except as specifically provided elsewhere for 
Violation Fee Payment, Licensee shall pay all Fee Payment on the following 
schedule: 

 
3.7.1 Licensee shall pay to Licensor an initial Application Fee prior to 
entering into the Agreement and thereafter an Extension Application Fee 
shall be paid on or before the day that is thirty (30) calendar days prior 
to the end of the original term or, in the case of the second or subsequent 
extension, on or before the day that is thirty (30) calendar days prior to 
the end of the extension. 

 
3.7.2 If Licensee has already installed any portion of the Plant prior to 
entering this Agreement Licensee shall pay the first Annual Fee Payment 
on or before the day that is thirty (30) calendar days after the date of this 
Agreement. Each calendar year thereafter, Licensee shall pay the 
Annual Fee Payment on or before the day that is thirty (30) calendar days 
before the anniversary date of this Agreement. The Annual Fee Payment 
shall be made simultaneously with the submission of the fiber route map, 
as required in this Agreement, and shall clearly state the total linear feet 
of trench in the ROW as of the anniversary date of this Agreement. 

 
3.7.3 Licensee shall pay the Permit Fee Payment at the times and in the 
amounts specified by Licensor's normal processes for Ordinary Permit 
Charges. 

 
3.7.4 If Licensee desires to expand the Plant to New Use Areas, 
Licensee shall pay the New Use Area Payment on or before the day that 
is thirty (30) calendar days after the date Licensor issues any permit for 
construction within the ROW based on Licensee's expanded use of the 
ROW to install the Plant. The New Use Area Payment shall be made 
simultaneously with the submission of an updated fiber route map, as 
required in this Agreement, and shall clearly state the total linear feet of 
trench in the ROW. 

 
3.7.5 All other Fee Payment shall be payable quarterly in arrears on the 
last calendar day of the first month of the next calendar quarter. For 
example, the Violation Fee Payment for the first calendar quarter of a 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 16 of 57 
 

year shall be payable on or before April 30. 
 

3.8 Fee Payment Amount Report Each installment of Fee Payment by the 
Licensee, other than Permit Fee Payment, shall include a report showing the 
manner in which each component of the Fee Payment was calculated. The 
report shall summarize the transactions giving rise to the License Fee Payment. 

 
3.9 Letter of Credit. Within ten (10) calendar days after the date of this 
Agreement, Licensee shall provide to Licensor a letter of credit as follows: 

 
3.9.1 The amount of the letter of credit shall be Fifty Thousand Dollars 
($50,000). 

 
3.9.2 The letter of credit is an additional security deposit for Licensee's 
performance of all of its obligations under this Agreement. 

 
3.9.3 The letter of credit shall meet the requirements listed on Exhibit 
"A" attached hereto. 

 
3.9.4 Licensee shall provide and maintain the letter of credit during the 
entire term of this Agreement as follows: 

 
3.9.4.1 Licensee shall cause the original letter of credit to be 
delivered to Licensor's financial services director. 

 
3.9.4.2 Licensee shall pay all costs associated with the letter of 
credit, regardless of the reason or manner such fees are required. 

 
3.9.4.3 Within fourteen (14) calendar days after Licensor gives 
Licensee notice that Licensor has drawn on the letter of credit, 
Licensee shall cause the letter of credit to be replenished to its 
prior amount. 

 
3.9.4.4 Licensor may adjust the amount of the letter of credit 
upward annually on July 1st. The adjustment shall be made based 
on the Cost-of-Living Index for the month of January of that same 
year. If the amount of the letter of credit is adjusted upward then 
Licensee shall provide a new letter of credit to Licensor upon the 
expiration of the existing letter of credit or within sixty (60) days of 
Licensor’s request, whichever is sooner. 

 
3.9.5 Licensor may draw on the letter of credit upon any Event of 
Default as defined in Section 9.1 of this Agreement, and in the following 
circumstances whether or not they are an Event of Default: 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 17 of 57 
 

3.9.5.1 Licensee fails to cause the letter of credit to be renewed, 
extended, increased in amount or otherwise maintained as 
required by this agreement. 

 
3.9.5.2 Licensee fails to make monetary payments as required 
under this Agreement. 

 
3.9.5.3 The issuer of the letter or a previous issuer of credit fails 
or failed to immediately honor a draft on the letter of credit or 
otherwise repudiates or fails to honor the letter of credit. 

 
3.9.6 Licensor shall also have such additional rights regarding the 
letter of credit as may be provided elsewhere in this Agreement. 

 
3.10 Late Fees. Fee Payment is deemed paid only when Licensor actually 
receives good cash payment. Should any Fee Payment not be paid on or before 
the date due, a late fee shall be added to the amount due in the amount of the 
greater of ten percent (10%) of the amount due, or One Hundred Dollars ($100). 
Furthermore, any Fee Payment that is not timely paid shall accrue simple 
interest at the rate of one and one-half percent (1.5%) per month from the date 
the amount first came due until paid. Licensee expressly agrees that the 
foregoing represent fair and reasonable estimates by Licensor and Licensee of 
Licensor's costs (such as accounting, administrative, legal and processing 
costs, etc.) in the event of a delay in payment of Fee Payment. Licensor shall 
have the right to allocate payments received from Licensee among Licensee's 
obligations. 

 
3.11 New Use Area Payment. If Licensee requests to add New Use Areas at 
any time after Licensee pays the Annual Fee Payment, and the New Use Areas 
were not included within the calculation of the Annual Fee Payment, then 
Licensee shall pay Licensor, prior to or simultaneously with Licensor’s issuance 
to Licensee of a permit to install Licensee’s Improvements within the ROW, 
eighty-nine cents ($.89) per linear foot of trench permitted to be constructed or 
installed within the ROW, prorated based on the number of months the New 
Use Areas will actually contain any installed Plant during the current calendar 
year used to calculate such already paid Annual Fee Payment. Thereafter for 
subsequent Annual Fee Payments, the New Use Areas shall be included within 
the Use Areas. Under certain circumstances the New Use Area Payment may 
be offset by fair in-kind exchanges of fiber, conduit, and/or joint trenching for 
Licensor’s exclusive use as outlined within this Agreement. 

 
 

3.12 Fee Payment Amounts Cumulative. All amounts payable by Licensee 
hereunder or under any tax, assessment or other existing or future ordinance, 
law or other contract or obligations to the City of Goodyear or the State of 
Arizona shall be cumulative and payable in addition to each other payment 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 18 of 57 
 

required hereunder, and such amounts shall not be credited toward, substituted 
for, or setoff against each other in any manner. 

 
3.13 In-Kind Fiber and Conduit in Lieu of Annual Fee. 

3.13.1 The Annual Fee Payment described above may be offset either in 
whole or in part by in-kind exchange of fiber, conduit and/or joint 
trenching for Licensor’s exclusive use. Any in-kind exchange of fiber, 
conduit and/or joint trenching for Licensor’s use shall be set forth in a 
separate agreement between Licensor and Licensee. 

3.13.2 The value of the construction, permitting and installation costs of 
fiber strands, cable, conduit and/or joint trenching for Licensor’s 
exclusive use (the "City Fiber") that is constructed and installed by 
Licensee may be credited against the Annual Fee Payment paid by 
Licensee to Licensor. Any City Fiber installed under this section and 
credited towards the Annual Fee Payment shall be for Licensor's sole 
and exclusive use. Notwithstanding the above any separate agreement 
may allow Licensee to use fiber strands located in the same fiber 
package or cable containing City Fiber that is not exclusive to Licensor. 

3.13.3 The assessed value of the City Fiber shall be treated as fair and 
reasonable compensation for Licensee's use of the Licensor's ROW for 
Licensee's fiber network and the value shall be credited against the 
Annual Fee Payment. 

3.13.4 Prior to the construction or installation of any City Fiber, Licensee 
shall provide Licensor a maximum probable cost of the construction, 
permitting and installation costs for all City Fiber (the “Maximum 
Probable Costs”) for Licensor’s approval, which shall be at Licensor’s 
sole discretion. Licensor shall either approve or reject the Maximum 
Probable Costs within sixty (60) calendar days after submittal by 
Licensee, if Licensor has not approved or rejected such Maximum 
Probable Costs within sixty (60) calendar days then the Maximum 
Probable Costs submitted shall be treated as rejected by Licensor. If 
Licensor approves the Maximum Probable Costs such costs shall be 
the maximum amount that may be credited towards the Annual Fee 
Payment (“the Maximum Credit Amount”). Licensee shall provide 
Licensor with the actual costs of the City Fiber (the “Actual Costs”) 
within sixty (60) calendar days of Licensor’s acceptance of the City 
Fiber. Licensor shall either approve or reject the Actual Costs within 
thirty (30) calendar days after submittal by Licensee to Licensor. If 
Licensor has not approved or rejected such Actual Costs within thirty 
(30) calendar days, the Actual Costs submitted shall be treated as 
rejected by Licensor. After any rejection of the Actual Costs Licensee 
will make any necessary corrections and resubmit the Actual Costs to 
Licensor. After acceptance of the Actual Costs, Licensor shall credit the 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 19 of 57 
 

lesser of the Maximum Credit Amount or the Actual Costs towards the 
Annual Fee Payment. Notwithstanding the limitations above, the 
amount credited towards the Annual Fee Payment is subject to a one- 
time increase based upon Licensor’s substantiated and uncontrollable 
construction costs related to the installation of the City Fiber. Any 
increase in the credit towards the Annual Fee Payment must be 
confirmed in writing and approved by the City Engineer, or their 
designee. However, in no event shall the amount credited towards the 
Annual Fee Payment exceed a ten percent (10%) increase over the 
Maximum Credit Amount that was previously approved by Licensor. 

3.13.5 Any separate agreement that outlines the construction of City 
Fiber shall, at a minimum, include the specific locations of the 
installation of the City Fiber, the number of fiber strands or cables to be 
provided for Licensor’s exclusive use, the diameter conduit to be 
installed, any additional equipment and/or access points provided to 
Licensor, that Licensor shall have an indefeasible right of use in the City 
Fiber and, any and all City Fiber shall remain the property of Licensor 
and the Maximum Credit Amount that may be credited towards the 
Annual Fee Payment. 

3.13.6 Licensor shall have an indefeasible right of use in the City Fiber. 
Any and all City Fiber shall remain at all times the property of Licensor 
after expiration or termination of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the 
above any separate agreement may allow Licensor to use fiber strands 
located in the same fiber package containing City Fiber, such fiber 
packages, cables or fiber strands may remain the property of Licensee 
subject to the separate agreement. 

3.13.7 Licensee shall provide Licensor prompt access to any City Fiber 
within sixty (60) calendar days after each segment is completed. 
Licensee shall notify Licensor of any segment completion. 

3.13.8 Prior to conveying the City Fiber, Licensee shall verify that both 
have been installed and are ready for immediate use and shall permit 
Licensor's staff the opportunity to inspect both upon request. All fiber, 
cables and/or vaults that are included as City Fiber shall be identified 
with tags or labels in accordance with Licensee’s usual operations 
procedures. 

3.13.9 If during the term of this Agreement, Licensee undertakes the 
relocation of any segment of Licensee's network that contains City Fiber, 
Licensor shall proceed with such relocation, including, but not limited to, 
the right, in good faith, to reasonably determine the extent of, the time 
of, and the methods to be used for such relocation; provided that: (i) any 
such relocation shall be constructed and the City Fiber shall be tested as 
set forth above; and (ii) if the relocation is at Licensee's discretion, 
Licensee shall maintain the end points of the City Fiber. Licensee must 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 20 of 57 
 

give Licensor not less than sixty (60) calendar days prior notice of any 
such relocation. 

3.13.10 Limitation of Use of City Fiber: 

3.13.10.1 Licensor warrants and covenants that it will use City Fiber 
in compliance with all applicable government codes, 
ordinances, laws, rules and regulations. 

3.13.10.2 Licensor’s use of City Fiber shall be for government use 
only. Licensor may allow other government entities, contractors 
or agents to utilize the City Fiber. Licensor may allow other third 
parties to access and utilize City Fiber on behalf of Licensor. 

3.13.10.3 Subject to the limitations set forth in this Agreement, Licensor 
may use the City Fiber for any lawful purpose. 

3.13.10.4 Both parties shall promptly notify each other of any known 
matters pertaining to, or the occurrence (or impending occurrence) 
of, any event which would likely give rise to any damage or 
impending damage to or loss of licensee's fiber network. 

3.13.10.5 Licensor shall not use City Fibers in a way that interferes with 
or adversely affects the use of any other fibers within the Licensee's 
fiber network. The Parties acknowledge that Licensee's network 
may include other participants, including Licensee and other 
owners and users of telecommunications systems. 

3.13.11 Licensee shall maintain the City Fiber provided in good operating 
condition for normal use. Excluding instances of negligent use or operation 
by the Licensor, such substitute fibers shall be provided to the City at the 
sole cost and expense of Licensee, including all disconnect, reconnect, 
equipment relocation, and other costs, fees, and expenses and shall not 
adversely affect the use, operation, or performance of the Licensor's fiber 
and conduit, except to the extent of interruptions permitted for relocations. 
Licensee makes no other warranties, written or oral, statutory, express or 
implied, including, without limitation, the warranty of merchantability or 
fitness for a particular purpose or use regarding the provided fibers. 

IV. USE RESTRICTIONS 
 

4. Use Restrictions. Licensee's use and occupation of the Use Areas shall in all 
respects conform to all and each of the following cumulative provisions (collectively 
the "Restrictions"): 

4.1 Permitted Uses. Licensee shall use the Use Areas solely for the 
Permitted Uses and shall conduct no other activity at or from the Use 
Areas. The Permitted Uses are limited to the following: 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 21 of 57 
 

4.1.1 Constructing, maintaining, removing, repairing and operating the 
Plant as described in this Agreement. 

 
4.1.2 Such additional related uses for which Licensor may give or 
retract written consent from time to time. Such additional uses may only 
be conducted following Licensor's giving to Licensee written notice of 
such consent. Licensor may terminate or impose conditions and 
limitations on such consent from time-to-time in Licensor's sole and 
absolute discretion. 

 
4.2 Prohibited Uses. All other uses of the Use Areas are prohibited. 

 

4.2.1 Licensee may use a User Contract to either "sell" or "lease" fibers 
or conduit in the Plant or otherwise grant permission to the third party to 
use fibers or conduit in the Plant. However, all User Contracts and all 
rights and interests created or affected in any way thereby, however 
denominated, shall be subject to and limited by all provisions of this 
Agreement, provided that Licensee or a sublicensee shall not be subject 
to payment of duplicate fees or taxes under this Agreement for the same 
Plant. In no event shall Licensor be bound in any way by any provision 
of any User Contract. 

 
Should Licensee sell or transfer title to a third party to use fiber or 
conduit within the ROW, Licensee shall inform the Licensor within forty- 
five (45) calendar days of the name of the provider, location and length 
of the fiber or conduit route sold or otherwise granted permission to a 
third party through an indefeasible right of use agreement or similar 
contractual arrangement. 

 
4.2.2 Within thirty (30) calendar days after a notice of request by 
Licensor, such notice to be given not more often than once in any twelve 
(12) month period, Licensee shall deliver to Licensor a notice describing 
the User Contracts. The notice shall state the following: 

 
4.2.2.1 The name of the third party. 

 
4.2.2.2 The name, title, address, telephone number, and email 
address of a person with authority to speak for the third party. 

 
4.2.2.3 The route of the proposed service. 

 
4.2.2.4 The street address within the City of Goodyear, if any, 
where data under the User Contract will be introduced to or received 
from the Private Plant. 

 
4.2.2.5 The duration of the User Contract and any extension rights. 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 22 of 57 
 

4.3 Regulated Activities. The following additional requirements apply to certain 
uses (the "Regulated Activities") of the Plant 

 
4.3.1 The following are Regulated Activities: 

 
4.3.1.1 Use of the Plant for cable television as defined by 
applicable Federal, state or local law or regulation. 

 
4.3.1.2 Use of the Plant for open video service as 
defined by applicable Federal, state or local law or 
regulation. 

 
4.3.2 Licensee shall not use the Plant for Regulated Activities without 
proper formal authorization from Licensor, separate from this Agreement. 

 
4.3.3 Licensee may enter into User Contracts that allow third parties 
to use the Plant for the Regulated Activities only if the third party has 
already entered into an agreement with Licensor that allows the third 
party to conduct the Regulated Activity in the Use Areas. 

 
4.3.4 If Licensee ever obtains or seeks federal, state or local approval 
to provide Regulated Activities over the Plant, this Agreement shall 
remain in effect according to its terms and Licensee shall continue to pay 
the Use Fees required by this Agreement, regardless of any legal or 
regulatory provisions, permits or other processes or rules that might now 
or hereafter provide otherwise. 

 
4.3.5 Without limiting the other amendment or waiver provisions of 
this Agreement, no change to or waiver of this Agreement's provisions 
regarding Regulated Activities is effective without a formal amendment 
to this Agreement executed by Licensor after approval by Licensor's city 
council. Licensor has not promised any such amendment or waiver. This 
Agreement does not prohibit the parties from entering into other 
agreements regarding the Plant, should both parties desire to do so in 
their sole and absolute discretion. 

 
4.4 Signs. All signage is prohibited except in compliance with the following 
requirements: 

 
4.4.1 Signs Required. Licensee shall install and thereafter maintain all 
signs and markings that the Plant and Licensee's activities may make 
necessary for the safe use of the Use Areas by the public, Licensor, 
Licensee and other persons who may be at the Use Areas at any time 
for any reason. 

 
4.4.2 Signs Covered. This paragraph shall apply to all signs, designs, 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 23 of 57 
 

monuments, decals, graphics, posters, banners, markings, and other 
manner of signage. 

 
4.5 Lighting. Lighting is prohibited except as this Agreement may specifically 
allow for construction activities. 

 
4.6 Noise. Except during approved construction, noise at the Use Areas is 
subject to the following limitations: 

 
4.6.1 Except for vehicle backup alarms and other safety devices, 
outdoor loudspeakers, sirens or other devices for making noise are 
prohibited. All equipment must be equipped with appropriate mufflers 
and other sound control devices. 

 
4.7 Governmental and Neighborhood Relations. Licensee shall conduct its 
activities in coordination with Licensor as necessary to maintain good relations 
with all Third Parties, governmental and other entities having jurisdiction over 
the Use Areas, all other occupants of the Use Areas, and the occupants of 
surrounding real property. Licensee shall immediately give to Licensor notice of 
any actual or threatened dispute, violation or other disagreement relating to the 
Use Areas. Licensee is not an agent for Licensor. Without limitation, such 
entities (who are not third-party beneficiaries to this Agreement) include (to the 
extent that such entities have jurisdiction over the Use Areas): 

 
4.7.1 State of Arizona 

 
4.7.2 Maricopa County 

 
4.7.3 Bureau of Reclamation 

 
4.7.4 Central Arizona Water Conservation District 

 
4.7.5 Salt River Project 

 
4.8 Licensee's Agent. Licensee shall at all times retain on call available to 
Licensor by telephone an active, qualified, competent and experienced person 
to supervise all activities upon the Use Areas and operation of the Plant and 
who shall be authorized to represent and act for Licensee in matters pertaining 
to all emergencies and the calendar day-to-calendar day operation of the ROW 
and all other matters affecting this Agreement. Licensee shall also provide 
notice to Licensor of the name, street address, electronic mail address, and 
regular and after-hours telephone numbers of a person to handle Licensee's 
affairs and emergencies at the ROW. Any change shall be given in writing in 
the manner stated for notices under this Agreement. 

 
4.9 Coordination Meetings. Licensee shall meet with Licensor and other 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 24 of 57 
 

ROW users from time to time as requested by Licensor to coordinate and plan 
construction on the ROW and all matters affected by this Agreement. Licensor 
may require Licensee to coordinate construction with third-parties or other ROW 
users in order to install the Plant. 

 
4.10 Hazardous Substances. Licensee's activities upon or about the ROW 
shall be subject to the following regarding any hazardous or toxic substances, 
waste or materials, or any substance now or hereafter subject to regulation 
under the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and 
Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601, et seq., the Arizona Hazardous Waste 
Management Act, A.R.S. §49-901, et seq., the Resource Conservation and 
Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901, et seq., or the Toxic Substances Control Act, 
15 U.S.C. 2601, et seq., or any other applicable federal, state, county, or local 
law pertaining to hazardous substances, waste or toxic substances and their 
reporting requirements (collectively ''Toxic Substances"): 

 
4.10.1 Licensee shall not produce, dispose, transport, treat, use or 
store any Toxic Substances upon or about the ROW. The prohibitions of 
the preceding sentence only shall not apply to: 

 
4.10.1.1 Ordinary gasoline, diesel fuel or other fuels or 
lubricants necessary for ordinary use in motor vehicles and 
ordinary construction machinery permitted upon the ROW. 
Such materials must be properly and lawfully contained in 
ordinary quantities in ordinary tanks and receptacles that 
are permanently installed in such vehicles and machinery, 
or small portable tanks that are being used for fueling 
permitted construction machinery ("Minimal Fueling"). 

 
4.10.1.2 Electric backup batteries. 

 
4.10.1.3 Any other materials that are commonly used 
in the provision of a Fiber Optics Communication System 
and which Licensee has received written approval from 
Licensor to either produce, dispose, transport, treat, use or 
store upon or about the ROW. 

 
4.10.2 Licensee shall dispose of any Toxic Substances away from the 
ROW as required by law and as reasonably required by Licensor. 

 
4.10.3 Licensee shall not use the ROW in a manner inconsistent with 
regulations issued by the Arizona Department of Environmental Quality, 
or in a manner that would require a permit or approval from the Arizona 
Department of Environmental Quality or any other governmental agency. 
The preceding sentence does not prohibit ordinary permits for control of 
dust during construction permitted by this Agreement. 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 25 of 57 
 

4.10.4 In addition to and without limitation of any other indemnities or 
obligations, Licensee shall pay, indemnify, defend and hold Licensor 
harmless against any loss or liability incurred by reason of any Toxic 
Substance on or affecting the ROW Use Areas attributable to or caused 
by Licensee or anyone using the ROW under this Agreement. 

 
4.10.5 Licensee shall immediately notify Licensor of any Toxic 
Substance at any time discovered or existing upon the ROW. Licensee 
is not responsible for Toxic Substances that may exist at the ROW if 
Licensee, Licensee's contractors, and other persons using the ROW 
under this Agreement did not do any of the following: 

 
4.10.5.1 Participate in the Toxic Material coming to the 
ROW. 

 
4.10.5.2 Fail to immediately report the Toxic Material to 
Licensor. 

 
4.10.5.3 Participate in spreading or otherwise 
disturbing the Toxic Material. 

 
4.10.5.4 Exacerbate the effects of the Toxic Material or 
the difficulty or cost of dealing with the Toxic Material. 

 
4.10.6 Licensee understands the hazards presented to persons, 
property and the environment by dealing with Toxic Substances. 
Licensee acknowledges the possibility that the ROW may contain actual 
or presumed asbestos and other Toxic Substances containing materials. 

 
4.10.7 Within six (6) hours after any violation by Licensee of this 
Agreement pertaining to Toxic Substances, Licensee shall give Licensor 
notice reporting such violation. 

 
4.11 Communications Operations Restriction. Licensee shall not install, 
operate, or allow the use of equipment, methodology or technology that may or 
would interfere with the optimum effective use or operation of Licensor's existing 
or future fire, emergency or other communications equipment, methodology or 
technology (i.e., voice or other data carrying, receiving or transmitting 
equipment). If such interference should occur, Licensee shall immediately 
discontinue using the equipment, methodology or technology that causes the 
interference until Licensee takes corrective measures to alter the Plant to 
eliminate such interference. Any such corrective measures shall be made at no 
cost to Licensor. 

 
4.12 Access by Others. Licensee shall cause to comply with this Agreement 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 26 of 57 
 

all persons accessing the ROW through or under Licensee or this Agreement. 
Licensee is responsible for any violations of this Agreement by persons 
physically accessing the ROW through or under Licensee or this Agreement. 

 
V. IMPROVEMENTS BY LICENSOR 

 

5. Improvements by Licensor. Licensor has not promised to and is not obligated in 
any manner to make any improvements or perform any other construction or other 
work at the ROW. 

 
VI. LICENSEE'S IMPROVEMENTS GENERALLY 

 

6. Licensee's Improvements Generally. All of Licensee's improvements and other 
construction work whether or not specifically described herein upon the ROW 
(collectively "Licensee's Improvements") shall comply with the following and any such 
non-compliance shall be a material breach of this Agreement: 

 
6.1 Construction Plans. Annually, and from time to time upon reasonable 
request, with at least thirty (30) calendar days prior written notice by Licensor, 
Licensee shall deliver to Licensor route maps showing plans for existing and 
proposed construction of the Plant along arterials and other principal streets 
and public ways within the city. 

 
6.1.1 Annually Licensee shall furnish to Licensor route maps in a 

mapping format compatible with the current City electronic mapping 
format as specified by Licensor. The route map shall include detailed 
quantities of linear feet of fiber, and the size of the fiber and conduit installed 
within the ROW. 

 
6.1.2 Licensor shall not be required to execute any non-disclosure agreements 

or any other agreement to receive any route maps. 
 

6.1.3 The files and drawings provided by Licensee shall be disclosed 
as a public record only to the extent required by A.R.S. § 39-126.01. If 
applicable, Licensee shall mark any submitted files and drawings 
subject to § 39-126.01 non-disclosure as “Confidential”. Confidential 
information disclosed by Licensee to Licensor shall be clearly marked 
and identified as confidential and shall be regarded as proprietary to 
third parties. 

 
6.2 Abandonment of ROW and Easements. From time-to-time the ROW and 
public utility easements within the boundaries of the City of Goodyear will 
decrease due to abandonments. Prior to Licensor abandoning any portion of 
the ROW or public utility easements it is necessary to obtain utility clearance 
letters to ensure no infrastructure has been installed within any portion of the 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 27 of 57 
 

ROW or public utility easement that is to be abandoned. After Licensor notifies 
Licensee of potential abandonments of the ROW and/or public utility 
easements, Licensee shall respond to Licensor within fifteen (15) calendar days 
and clearly state if the Plant or any portions thereof are located within the ROW 
and/or the public utility easement that is to be abandoned. If Licensee notifies 
Licensor that any portion of the ROW or public utility easement that is to be 
abandoned contains the Plant, then such planned abandonment shall be 
suspended pending a resolution by Licensor. If Licensor has not received any 
response from the Licensee within fifteen (15) calendar days after Licensor has 
notified Licensee of any potential abandonment of the ROW, Licensor shall 
have the right to abandon said portion of the ROW and neither Licensor nor any 
agent, contractor or employee of Licensor shall be liable to Licensee, its 
customers or third parties for any costs, service disruption or for any other harm 
caused them or the Plant due to Licensors abandonment of the ROW. 

 
6.3 Permits and Inspections. 

 

6.3.1 Prior to performing work upon the ROW, Licensee shall submit all 
work plans to Licensor for review by Licensor's staff in designated 
departments responsible for such review and shall obtain all permits 
and other approvals related thereto. During the course of the work, 
Licensee shall observe inspection, safety and other rules. 

 
6.3.2 After Licensor issues any permits to Licensee to install the Plant 

or any portion thereof Licensee shall video record all water and/or 
wastewater/sewer lines owned by Licensor that are within ten feet (10’) 
of the proposed Plant installation and provide copies of the video 
recordings to Licensor. Within thirty (30) calendar days following 
completion of construction or installation of the Plant, Licensor shall 
video record all water and/or wastewater/sewer lines owned by 
Licensor that are within ten feet (10’) of the Plant installation and provide 
copies of the video recordings to Licensor. All video recordings shall be 
done to Licensor’s standards and submitted to Licensor in a format 
approved by Licensor. 

 
6.3.3 Licensor’s issuance of a permit does not represent any 

determination or assurance by Licensor that that the installation of the 
Plant or any portion thereof will not damage, conflict with, or interfere 
with any Competing User’s facilities installed within the ROW. Licensee 
is responsible for ensuring that the installation of the Plant will not 
damage any Competing User’s facilities and/or equipment or impair the 
operations of any Competing User that has facilities installed within the 
ROW. Licensee shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Licensor, 
its employees, elected officials, consultants and agents, for, from and 
against any and all claims, demands, liens, causes of actions, losses, 
damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including reasonable 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 28 of 57 
 

attorneys’ fees and costs) arising from or alleged to arise from damage 
caused by Licensee to any Competing User’s facilities installed within 
the ROW and/or from any interference or service interruptions to any 
Competing Activities as a result of damage caused by Licensee to any 
Competing User’s facilities. 

 
6.4 Licensee's Improvements. Licensee's Improvements include, without 
limitation all modification, replacement, repairs, installation, construction, 
grading, structural alterations, utility, lighting or other alterations, parking or 
traffic alterations, removal, demolition or other cumulatively significant 
construction or similar work of any description, together with all installation or 
alteration of the Plant. 

 
6.5 Regulatory Approval Process. The building permit processes, ROW 
management and similar regulatory requirements that apply to Licensee's 
Improvements are completely separate from the requirements of this 
Agreement. Licensee's satisfaction of any requirement of this Agreement does 
not count toward any compliance with any regulatory requirement. Licensee's 
satisfaction of any regulatory requirement does not count toward compliance 
with any requirement of this Agreement. Licensee must make all submittals and 
communications regarding the requirements of this Agreement through 
Licensor's contract administrator for this Agreement, and not through planning, 
building safety or other staff. Licensee must obtain all approvals in accordance 
with all present and future Licensor codes, policies and procedures. 

 
6.6 Relationship of Plans Approval to Regulatory Processes. Licensee's 
submission of plans under this Agreement, Licensor's approval of plans for 
purposes of this Agreement, and the plans approval process under this 
Agreement, shall be separate and independent of all zoning, design review and 
other regulatory or similar plans submittal and approval processes, all of which 
shall continue to apply in addition to the requirements of this Agreement and its 
approvals. BUILDING PERMITS, ZONING CLEARANCES, OR ANY OTHER 
GOVERNMENTAL REVIEWS OR ACTIONS DO NOT CONSTITUTE 
APPROVAL OF ANY PLANS FOR PURPOSES OF THIS AGREEMENT. 

 
6.7 Work Standards. All work by Licensee under this Agreement shall 
conform to the standards of the Maricopa Association of Governments and of 
the City of Goodyear Design Standards and Practices Manual, as either may 
be amended from time to time. All construction by Licensee must comply with 
applicable ROW noise, light, timing, event planning, dust and other policies in 
effect from time to time. 

 
6.8 Cost of Licensee Improvements. All Licensee's Improvements shall be 
designed and constructed at no expense to Licensor. In no event, including 
without limitation termination of this Agreement for any reason, shall Licensor 
be obligated to compensate Licensee in any manner for any of Licensee's 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 29 of 57 
 

Improvements or other work provided by Licensee during or related to this 
Agreement. Licensee shall pay, protect, indemnify, defend and hold harmless 
Licensor and Licensor's employees, officer's, contractors and agents against all 
claims related to labor, materials, professional services and other work for 
Licensee's Improvements. Licensee shall bear the cost of all work required from 
time to time to cause the ROW and other nearby property owned by Licensor 
to comply with local zoning rules, the Americans with Disabilities Act, building 
codes and all similar rules, regulations and other laws if such work is required 
because of work performed by Licensee, by Licensee's use of the ROW, or by 
any exercise of the rights granted to Licensee under this Agreement. 

 
6.9 Improvement Quality. Any and all work performed on or within the ROW 
by Licensee shall be performed in a workman-like manner in accordance with 
industry, professional, federal, state and Licensor’s standards, as reasonably 
determined by Licensor and shall be diligently pursued to completion and in 
conformance with all building codes and similar rules. 

 
6.10 Damage During Work. 

 

6.10.1 If Licensee causes damage to Licensor’s property or facilities, 
including but not limited to, water or wastewater/sewer lines, Licensee 
shall immediately report such damage to Licensor. 

 
6.10.2 If Licensee causes damage to a third party’s property or facilities 

Licensee shall immediately report such damage to Licensor and the 
third party. 

 
6.10.3 If Licensee causes damage to the ROW, pavement, sidewalks, 

driveways, landscaping, wastewater/sewer lines, water lines or any 
other property during construction, installation, or repair of its facilities 
or Plant, Licensee or its authorized agent shall replace and restore such 
places as nearly as possible to its original condition that existed before 
the damage occurred. If the repair, replacement or restoration cannot 
replicate the original condition, Licensee shall return the site to a 
condition that approximates the original condition and compensate the 
City for any significant difference. All repair and restoration necessary 
to meet the requirements set forth in this section shall be at Licensee's 
expense and shall be conducted in a manner acceptable to Licensor, in 
its sole discretion. 

 
6.10.4 Upon performing any work upon the ROW, Licensee shall 

simultaneously restore the ROW to its prior condition, as directed by 
Licensor and repair any holes, mounting surfaces or other damage 
whatsoever caused by Licensee’s activities to the ROW. Such work 
shall include replacement of pre-existing vegetation and appropriate 
repairing or replacing pre-existing irrigation systems for revegetated 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 30 of 57 
 

areas, if any. 
 

6.11 Restoration. 
 

6.11.1 Following installation, repair or replacement work performed in 
the Use Areas, Licensee shall restore disturbed areas of the Use Areas 
to a condition equal to or better than the condition of the Use Areas 
immediately prior to Licensee's activities. The preceding sentence does 
not require Licensee to repair or maintain Licensor's or third-party 
facilities at the Use Area unless such work is attributable in whole or in 
part to Licensee's use of the Use Area. 

 
6.11.2 Licensee shall repair or replace all pavement, sidewalks, curbs, 
landscaping and any other Licensor's improvements of any description 
that may be damaged in the course of Licensee's activities under this 
Agreement. Such work, repair or replacement shall be to Licensor's 
standards, rules and/or policies published from time to time. Licensee 
shall coordinate with Licensor on all repairs or replacement of any of 
Licensor’s facilities. 

 
6.12 Indemnification. In addition to any indemnity granted in this Agreement 
and to the fullest extent permitted by law, Licensee agrees to indemnify, defend, 
and hold harmless Licensor and any of its departments, agencies, officers, 
employees, elected officials, and representatives from all damages, claims, or 
liabilities including without limitation personal injury, death, and property 
damage and expenses (including attorney’s fees) arising out of, or resulting 
from any damage to any of Licensor’s property, any damage to a third-party’s 
property and Licensee’s performance or failure to perform the restoration or 
repairs required of Licensee under the terms of this Agreement. 

 
6.13 Coordination with Permit Process. Licensee shall perform no 
construction work in the Use Areas without obtaining through normal processes 
from Licensor all necessary or required permits that give Licensee permission 
to work in the ROW. Licensee shall not alter or perform any work to Licensor's 
improvements without first obtaining through normal processes from Licensor a 
permit giving permission to alter Licensor's improvements. Licensee shall not 
obstruct traffic without obtaining through normal processes from Licensor a 
permit granting permission to obstruct traffic. 

 
6.14 Disturbance of Toxic Substances. Prior to undertaking any construction 
or other significant work, Licensee shall cause the Use Areas to be visually 
inspected for any signs of potential asbestos or other Toxic Substances. Prior 
to any work of any description that bears a material risk of disturbing potential 
asbestos or other Toxic Substances, Licensee shall cause the contractor or 
other person performing such work to give to Licensor notice by the method 
described in this Agreement to the effect that the person will inspect for such 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 31 of 57 
 

materials, will not disturb such materials, and will indemnify, defend and hold 
Licensor harmless against any disturbance in such materials in the course of the 
contractor's or other person's work. Licensee shall cause any storage, 
inspection, treatment, transportation, disposal, handling, or other work involving 
Toxic Substances by Licensee upon the ROW to be performed by persons, 
equipment, facilities and other resources who are at all times properly and 
lawfully trained, authorized, licensed, permitted and otherwise qualified to 
perform such services. Licensee shall promptly deliver to Licensor copies of all 
reports or other information regarding Toxic Substances. 

 
6.15 Work Classifications. All Licensee Improvements and other construction, 
repair, maintenance and other work (collectively "Work") shall be divided into 
three categories ("Heavy Work", "Medium Work" and "Light Work"): 

 
6.15.1 Heavy Work is any work that involves any of the following: 

 
6.15.1.1 Complete blockage of a sidewalk or trail. 

 
6.15.1.2 Any Work or construction signage closer to the 
center of a street than the edge of pavement or back of curb. 

 
6.15.1.3 Any Work that involves workers or equipment 
within thirty (30) feet of an intersection measured from the 
closest edge of pavement or back of curb. 

 
6.15.1.4 Any Work that does or is projected to take more 
than seven (7) calendar days to complete. 

 
6.15.1.5 Any Work that involves excavating more than 
five (5) cubic yards of dirt, digging more than three hundred 
(300) feet of trench, or any boring. 

 
6.15.1.6 Any Work that involves any traffic breaks, 
diversions or interruptions, any temporary or permanent 
alteration of traffic signals or signs or other traffic control 
devices, or any rerouting of any traffic. 

 
6.15.2 Medium Work is all Work that is not Heavy Work but involves 
workers or equipment being used or located within ten (10) feet of any 
portion of any public street ROW designated for vehicular travel, within 
one hundred (100) feet of the nearest part of any intersection measured 
from the closest edge of pavement or back of curb, or upon or interfering 
in any way with any sidewalk, path or trail. 

 
6.15.3 Light work is Work that is not Medium Work or Heavy Work. 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 32 of 57 
 

6.16 Street Classifications. All ROW shall be divided into three categories 
("Critical Streets", "Large Streets", and "Small Streets") as follows: 

 
6.16.1 Critical Streets are all of the Litchfield Road, Estrella Parkway, 
Van Buren St, and McDowell Road ROW and all ROW within one 
hundred feet (100’) of the ROW of any of these roads. Critical Streets are 
only the streets named in this paragraph and do not include other streets 
encircled by or near the Critical Streets. 

 
6.16.2 Large Streets are all streets shown on Goodyear's General Plan 
as Major Arterials, Minor Arterials or Collectors. 

 
6.16.3 Small Streets are all Route ROW that is not Critical Streets or 
Large Streets. 

 
6.17 Light Work Restrictions. Unless expressly agreed to by Licensor, on a case- 
by-case basis, all Light Work shall comply with the following: 

 
6.17.1 Licensee shall obtain all permits. 

 
6.17.2 Licensee shall not perform Light Work to Critical Streets during 
the hours of 7 a.m. to 9 a.m. or 4 p.m. to 6 p.m. Monday through Friday 
(collectively "Rush Hours"). 

 
6.18 Medium Work Restrictions. Unless expressly agreed to by Licensor, on 
a case-by-case basis, all Medium Work shall comply with all of the restrictions 
applicable to Light Work and also with the following: 

 
6.18.1 Licensee shall give Licensor ten (10) calendar days advance 
notice of any Medium Work. 

 
6.18.2 Licensee shall not perform Medium Work to Critical Streets or 
Large Streets during Rush Hours. 

 
6.19 Heavy Work Restrictions. Unless expressly agreed to by Licensor, on a 
case-by-case basis, all Heavy Work shall comply with all of the restrictions 
applicable to Medium Work and Light Work and also with the following: 

 
6.19.1 Heavy Work is prohibited on Critical Streets during the period 
from February 1 to March 31. 

6.19.2 Licensee shall follow the existing construction and traffic control 
permitting processes for Heavy Work. 

6.19.3 Licensee's giving notice under this paragraph is not a 
substitute for obtaining Licensor's approval of the proposed work. 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 33 of 57 
 

6.20 Work Restriction Waivers. Licensor's contract administrator shall have 
authority but not an obligation to grant written exceptions to the provisions of 
this Agreement that limit the calendar days or times during which Licensee may 
conduct Work. 

 
VII. LICENSEE'S INITIAL PROJECT CONSTRUCTION 

 
7. Licensee's Initial Project Construction. Licensee is not required to construct any 
portion of the Plant by any particular deadline. 

 
VIII. MAINTENANCE AND OPERATIONS 

 
8. Maintenance and Operations. Except as expressly provided below, Licensee 
shall be solely responsible for all maintenance, repair and utilities for the Plant during 
the term of this Agreement. Without limitation, Licensee shall perform the following: 

 
8.1 Right of Inspection. Licensor shall be entitled to inspect all construction, 
reconstruction or installation work and to make such tests as it deems 
necessary to ensure compliance with the terms of this Agreement, the 
Engineering Design Standards and Policies Manual, or other Laws. All Licensor 
plans reviews, inspections, standards and other rights and actions with relation 
to Licensee's Improvements are for Licensor's sole and exclusive benefit and 
neither Licensee nor any other person shall rely thereon or have any rights 
related thereto. 

 
8.2 Identification. All Licensee employees, contractors and subcontractors 
shall wear on their clothing a clearly visible identification card bearing their 
name and photograph and Licensee's logo or name. Licensee shall account for 
all Licensee issued identification cards at all times. Every service vehicle of 
Licensee, its contractors and its subcontractors shall be clearly identified as 
such to the public. Licensee vehicles shall prominently display Licensee's name 
and logo. Other vehicles shall prominently display the contractor's or 
subcontractor's name. 

 
8.3 Construction Notification. Unless expressly agreed to by Licensor, on a 
case-by-case basis, Licensee shall notify the occupant of any residence at least 
ten (15) calendar days prior to any work performed in front of a residential 
driveway or along any residential street that would otherwise impede traffic or 
access to a residence. In addition to providing notice to the occupant of any 
residence, when applicable, Licensee shall also provide notice to any 
homeowner’s association, property association or similar management 
company at least ten (15) calendar days prior to any work being performed 
within the ROW involving street closures, trenching, or that would otherwise 
impede traffic or access to a residence of a residentially zoned area. Licensor 
may establish other requirements for Licensee to notify any occupant of any 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 34 of 57 
 

single-family or multi-family residence prior to performing work within the ROW. 
 

8.4 Maintenance by Licensor. Licensor has no maintenance or repair 
obligations for the Use Areas. 

 
8.5 Maintenance by Licensee. Licensee shall at all times repair and maintain 
the Plant at the Use Areas at Licensee's sole expense in a sound, clean, safe 
manner, meeting or exceeding standard industry practices of maintenance of 
comparable facilities in the southwest United States as determined in Licensor's 
discretion. 

 
IX. BREACH BY LICENSEE 

 
9. Breach by Licensee. Licensee shall comply with the terms and provisions of 
this Agreement and shall cause all persons using the Use Areas under the authority 
granted Licensee by this Agreement to do the same. Licensee's failure to do so shall 
be a material breach by Licensee of this Agreement. 

 
9.1 Events of Default. This entire Agreement is made upon the condition that 
each and every one of the following events shall be deemed an "Event of 
Default" by Licensee of Licensee's material obligations under this Agreement: 

 
9.1.1 If Licensee shall be in arrears in the payment of Fee Payment 
due and not paid and shall not cure such arrearage within ten (10) 
calendar days after Licensor has notified Licensee of such arrearage. 

 
9.1.2 If Licensee shall fail to keep the Certificate in effect. 

 
9.1.3 If Licensee shall fail to maintain any insurance required by this 
Agreement. 

 
9.1.4 If Licensee shall be the subject of a voluntary or involuntary 
bankruptcy, receivership, insolvency or similar proceeding or if any 
assignment of any of Licensee's or such other person's property shall be 
made for the benefit of creditors or if Licensee or such other person dies 
or is not regularly paying its debts as they come due (collectively a 
"Licensee Insolvency"). 

 
9.1.5 If Licensee shall fail to comply with the Site Documents and shall 
not cure such noncompliance before the earlier of: 

 
9.1.5.1 The date such non-compliance causes any harm 
to Licensor. 

 
9.1.5.2 The date sixty (60) calendar days after Licensor 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 35 of 57 
 

gives Licensee notice of such noncompliance. 
 

9.1.6 If the issuer of any letter of credit shall fail for any reason to timely 
and fully honor any request by Licensor for funds or other performance 
under the instrument and Licensee fails to cause the issuer to or some 
other person to honor the request within ten (10) calendar days after 
Licensor notifies Licensee that such request has not been honored. 

 
9.1.7 If Licensee shall fail to obtain or maintain any licenses, permits, 
or other governmental approvals pertaining to the ROW or timely pay 
any taxes pertaining to the ROW and shall not cure such failure within 
sixty (60) calendar days. 

 
9.1.8 If Licensee shall engage in a pattern of repeated failure (or 
neglect) to timely do or perform or observe any provision contained 
herein. After Licensor has once given notice of any failure by Licensee 
to comply with any provision of this Agreement, the following shall 
constitute a repeated failure by Licensee to comply with such provision: 

 
9.1.8.1 Three (3) failures to comply with any provision of 
this Agreement during any ninety (90) day period. 

 
 

9.1.8.2 Four (4) or more failures to comply with any 
provision of this Agreement during any twelve (12) month 
period. 

 
9.1.9 If Licensee shall fail to or neglect to timely and completely do or 
perform or observe any other provisions contained herein and such 
failure or neglect shall continue for a period of sixty (60) calendar days 
after Licensor has notified Licensee in writing of such failure or neglect. 

 
9.1.10 If Licensee fails to cooperate with Licensor during any audit of 
Covered Information as defined in this Agreement. 

 
9.2 Licensor's Remedies. Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default or at 
any time thereafter, Licensor may, at its option and from time to time, exercise 
at Licensee's expense any or all or any combination of the following cumulative 
remedies in any order and repetitively at Licensor's option: 

 
9.2.1 Terminate this Agreement. If Licensor terminates this Agreement, 
then within seven (7) calendar days of notification by Licensor, Licensee 
may request a hearing before the City Manager, or their designee, any 
decision made by the City Manager, or their designee shall be final. 
Termination of this Agreement due to Licensee's breach or for any other 
reason does not terminate Licensee's obligations arising during the time 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 36 of 57 
 

simultaneous with or prior to or the termination, and in no way terminates 
any of Licensee's liability related to any breach of this Agreement. 

 
9.2.2 Cause a receiver to be appointed for the continuing performance 
of Licensee's obligations at the Use Areas. 

 
9.2.3 Pay or perform, for Licensee's account, in Licensee's name, and 
at Licensee's expense, any or all payments or performances required 
hereunder to be paid or performed by Licensee. 

 
9.2.4 Abate at Licensee's expense any violation of this Agreement. 
Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, unilaterally 
and without Licensee's or any other person's consent or approval, draw 
upon, withdraw or otherwise realize upon or obtain the value of any letter- 
of-credit, escrowed funds, insurance policies, or other deposits, sureties, 
bonds or other funds or security pledged for Licensor's benefit pursuant 
to this Agreement and use the proceeds for any remedy permitted by this 
Agreement. 

 
9.2.5 Be excused without any liability to Licensee thereof from further 
performance of any or all obligations under this Agreement. 

 
9.2.6 Require an additional security deposit adequate in Licensor's sole 
discretion to protect Licensor and the ROW in light of Licensee's history 
of performance under this Agreement. 

 
9.2.7 Assert, exercise or otherwise pursue at Licensee's expense any 
and all other rights or remedies, legal or equitable, to which Licensor may 
be entitled, subject only to the limitation set out below on Licensor's ability 
to collect money damages in light of the Violation Fee Payment. 

 
9.3 Violation Fee Payment. In lieu of certain money damages (the 
"Inconvenience Costs") set out below, the following shall apply to Licensee's 
violation of certain limited requirements of this Agreement (the "Violation Fee 
Provisions"): 

 
9.3.1 The Inconvenience Costs are the money damages that Licensor 
suffers in the form of administrative cost and inconvenience, disharmony 
among Competing Users, and general inconvenience in ROW use by 
Licensor, Competing Users and the public when Licensee fails to comply 
with the Violation Fee Provisions. 

 
9.3.2 Licensee's failure to comply with Violation Fee Provisions will 
result in Inconvenience Costs in an amount that is and will be 
impracticable to determine. Therefore, the parties have agreed that, in 
lieu of Licensee paying to Licensor as damages the actual amount of the 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 37 of 57 
 

Inconvenience Costs for violating the Violation Fee Provisions, Licensee 
shall pay Violation Fee Payment. 

 
9.3.3 Violation Fee Payment is only intended to remedy Inconvenience 
Costs that Licensor suffers because of Licensee's breach of the Violation 
Fee Provisions. Licensee's payment of Violation Fee Payment does not 
in any way excuse any breach by Licensee of this Agreement or limit in 
any way Licensor's obtaining any other legal or equitable remedy 
provided by this Agreement or otherwise or such breach. For example, 
Licensee's obligation to pay Violation Fee Payment does not in any way 
detract from Licensee's indemnity and insurance obligations under this 
Agreement, which shall apply according to their terms in addition to 
Licensee's obligation to pay Violation Fee Payment. 

 
9.3.4 Except as may be expressly stated in this paragraph, no cure 
period applies to the accrual of Violation Fee Payment. 

 
9.3.5 Licensee may elect to draw upon the letter of credit to collect the 
Violation Fee Payment 

 
9.3.6 The Violation Fee Provisions and the amount of the Violation Fee 
Payment per calendar day or part thereof are as follows: 

 
9.3.6.1 The amount of Six Hundred Dollars ($600.00) 
per calendar day for Licensee's failure to properly restore 
the public ROW or to correct related violations of 
specifications, code, ordinance or standards within ten (10) 
calendar days after Licensor's notice to correct such 
defects except where such curative efforts by Licensee are 
precluded by a force majeure event. Such Violation Fee 
Payment shall be in addition to any cost the Licensor may 
incur to restore the ROW or correct the violation. 

 
9.3.6.2 The amount of Two Hundred Fifty Dollars 
($250.00) per calendar day for each failure to make 
Licensee's books and records available as required by this 
Agreement. 

 
9.3.6.3 The amount of Five Thousand Dollars 
($5,000.00) for any unauthorized partial or total 
assignment of this Agreement. 

 
9.3.6.4 The amount of Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) 
per instance of any other action or non-action by the 
Licensee contrary to this Agreement that causes 
Inconvenience Costs and that is not cured after three (3) 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 38 of 57 
 

calendar days' notice. 
 

9.3.7 Violation Fee Payments shall be assessed as follows: 

 
9.3.7.1 If Licensor determines that Licensee is liable for 
Violation Fee Payment, then Licensor shall issue to 
Licensee a notice of Licensor's assessing a Violation Fee 
Payment. The notice shall set forth the nature of the 
violation and the amount of the assessment. Licensee 
shall: (i) have ten (10) calendar days after the notice to pay 
the Violation Fee Payment or give Licensor notice 
contesting the assertion of noncompliance and (ii) If 
Licensee fails to respond to the notice within ten (10) 
calendar days, Licensee shall pay the Violation Fee 
Payment. However, if the Violation Fee Payment amount 
exceeds Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000), then (i) Licensee 
shall have thirty (30) calendar days after the notice to pay 
the Violation Fee Payment or give Licensor notice 
contesting the assertion of noncompliance and (ii) If 
Licensee fails to respond to the notice within thirty (30) 
calendar days, Licensee shall pay the Violation Fee 
Payment. 

9.3.7.2 In the event that Licensee notifies Licensor of a 
dispute related to the nature of an alleged violation, the 
parties agree to meet and review the alleged violation 
within ten (10) business days. After reviewing the nature of 
an alleged violation Licensor shall issue a final decision on 
whether to assess Licensee a Violation Fee Payment. 

 
9.4 Effect of Abandonment. In addition to Licensor's other rights, if Licensee 
abandons the Plant during the term of this Agreement, or fails to operate the 
Plant in accordance with its duty to provide continuous service, Licensor, at its 
option, may acquire ownership of the Plant; operate the Plant; designate 
another entity to operate the Plant temporarily until Licensee restores service 
under conditions acceptable to Licensor or until the license is revoked and a 
new Licensee selected by Licensor is providing service; or obtain an injunction 
requiring Licensee to continue operations. If Licensor operates or designates 
another entity to operate the Plant, Licensee shall reimburse Licensor or its 
designee for all reasonable costs and damages incurred that are inexcess of the 
revenues from the Plant. Licensor shall give Licensee seven (7) calendar days' 
notice before operating or designating another entity to operate the Plant. If 
Licensee abandons only part of the Plant, then this paragraph shall apply to the 
part abandoned. A part of the Plant shall be deemed to be abandoned if 
Licensee fails to respond in the affirmative within sixty (60) calendar days to a 
written notice from Licensor requesting that Licensee confirm that Licensee is 
maintaining the part of the Plant and that it is available for use by Licensee's 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 39 of 57 
 

customers. 

 
9.5 Non-waiver. Licensee acknowledges Licensee's unconditional obligation 
to comply with this Agreement. No failure by Licensor to demand any 
performance required of Licensee under this Agreement, and no acceptance by 
Licensor of any imperfect or partial performances under this Agreement, shall 
excuse such performance or impair in any way Licensor's ability to insist, 
prospectively and retroactively, upon full compliance with this Agreement. No 
acceptance by Licensor of Fee Payment payments or other performances 
hereunder shall be deemed a compromise or settlement of any right Licensor 
may have for additional, different or further payments or performances. Any 
waiver by Licensor of any breach of condition or covenant herein contained to 
be kept and performed by Licensee shall not be deemed or considered as a 
continuing waiver and shall not operate to bar or otherwise prevent Licensor 
from declaring a default for any breach or succeeding or continuing breach 
either of the same condition or covenant or otherwise. No statement, bill or 
notice by Licensor or Licensee concerning payments or other performances due 
hereunder, or failure by Licensor to demand any performance hereunder, shall 
excuse Licensee from compliance with this Agreement nor stop Licensor (or 
otherwise impair Licensor's ability) to at any time correct such notice and/or 
insist prospectively and retroactively upon full compliance with this Agreement. 
No waiver of any description (INCLUDING ANY WAIVER OF THIS SENTENCE 
OR PARAGRAPH) shall be effective against Licensor unless made in writing 
by a duly authorized representative of Licensor specifically identifying the 
particular provision being waived and specifically stating the scope of the 
waiver. LICENSEE EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS AND SHALL NOT HAVE THE 
RIGHT TO RELY ON ANY SUPPOSED WAIVER OR OTHER CHANGE OR 
MODIFICATION, WHETHER BY WORD OR CONDUCT OR OTHERWISE, 
NOT CONFORMING TO THIS PARAGRAPH. 

 
9.6 Reimbursement of Licensor's Expenses. Licensee shall pay to Licensor 
within thirty (30) calendar days after Licensor's demand any and all amounts 
expended or incurred by Licensor in performing Licensee's obligations after an 
Event of Default together with interest thereon at the rate of one and one-half 
percent (1.5%) per month from the date expended or incurred by Licensor. 

 
9.7 Inspection. Licensor shall have access to all portions of the Use Areas at 
all times and without notice for the purpose of examining, inspecting, evaluating, 
planning, repairing, designing, maintaining or showing the Use Areas or 
exercising Licensor's other rights hereunder. Licensee shall promptly undertake 
appropriate action to rectify any deficiency (identified by Licensor during such 
inspections or otherwise) in Licensee's compliance with this Agreement. This 
paragraph does not limit Licensor's other rights of access to the Use Areas 
elsewhere in this Agreement or otherwise. This right of access is in addition to 
access rights for Licensor inspectors or other employees and officers acting 
within their legal authority. 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 40 of 57 
 

9.8 Breach by Licensor. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the 
contrary, if Licensor at any time is required to pay to Licensee any amount or 
render any performance, such amount or performance is not due until thirty (30) 
calendar days after notice by Licensee to Licensor that the amount has become 
payable or that the performance is due. In the event a cure cannot be effected 
during that period, Licensor shall not be in default so long as Licensor 
commences cure during the period and diligently prosecutes the cure to 
completion provided such cure must be completed within sixty (60) calendar 
days after the notice. 

 
9.9 Right to Setoff and Credit. In addition to its other rights and remedies 
under this Agreement, Licensor shall have the right to setoff and credit from time 
to time and at any time, any and all amounts due from Licensee to Licensor, 
whether pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise, against any sum which may 
be due from Licensor to Licensee pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise. 

 
X. TERMINATION OR EXPIRATION 

 
10. Rights at Termination or Expiration. The following provisions shall apply at the 
expiration of the term hereof or upon any other termination of this Agreement (taking 
into account any extensions of this Agreement): 

 
10.1 Expiration. 

10.1.1 Notice of Expiration. Upon expiration of this Agreement for any 
reason, Licensor shall provide notice to Licensee of expiration of this 
Agreement. 

10.1.2 Holding Over. In any circumstance whereby Licensee would 
remain in possession or occupancy of the Use Areas after the expiration 
of this Agreement, such holding over shall operate as a limited renewal 
or extension of this Agreement from month to month (the “Holdover 
Period”) that may be terminated at any time by Licensor upon sixty (60) 
calendar days’ notice to Licensee, or by Licensee upon sixty (60) 
calendar days’ notice to Licensor 

10.1.3 Surviving Obligations. Expiration of this Agreement does not 
terminate Licensee's obligations existing or arising prior to or 
simultaneous with, or attributable to, the expiration or events leading to 
or occurring before expiration. During any Holdover Period, Licensee 
shall be required to maintain all insurance as required by this agreement 
and provide and maintain a current letter of credit during the entire 
Holdover Period. 

10.1.4 Permits. During any Holdover Period Licensor, at Licensor’s sole 
discretion, may withhold the issuance of any permits to Licensee to 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 41 of 57 
 

perform any work within the ROW. Licensee shall not modify the Plant 
or perform any work in the ROW during any Holdover Period without 
receiving express permission to perform work in the ROW in addition to 
all necessary permits from Licensor. 

10.1.5 Fee Payment. During any Holdover Period Licensee shall pay an 
amount based on Licensee's use of the Plant (the “Holdover Monthly 
Fee Payment”). The amount of the Holdover Monthly Fee Payment 
shall be one-twelfth (1/12) of the Annual Fee Payment and shall be due 
and payable before the tenth (10th) day of each calendar month. During 
any Holdover Period no credit for any in-kind contributions made by 
Licensee shall be applied to the Holdover Monthly Fee Payment. Any 
Holdover Monthly Fee Payment received after the tenth (10th) day of 
the calendar month immediately following the expiration of the 
Agreement or any month thereafter during the Holdover Period shall be 
charged all applicable Late Fees. 

10.1.6 New Agreement. Licensor and Licensee shall work in good faith 
to enter into a new license during any Holdover Period. 

10.1.7 In-Kind Contribution. If in-kind contributions or services are being 
provided to Licensor then Licensee shall continue to allow Licensor the 
ability to access or use any and all in-kind contributions throughout any 
Holdover Period. 

10.2 Termination. 

10.2.1 Surviving Obligations. Licensor's termination of this Agreement 
due to an Event of Default or any other reason does not terminate 
Licensee's obligations existing or arising prior to or simultaneous with, 
or attributable to, the termination or events leading to or occurring 
before termination. 

 
10.2.2 Delivery of Possession. Upon termination of this Agreement 

Licensee shall cease using the Use Areas. Licensee shall without 
demand, peaceably and quietly quit and deliver up the Use Areas to 
Licensor in as good order and condition, reasonable use and wear 
excepted, as the Use Areas may now be in or in such better condition 
as the Use Areas may hereafter be placed. 

 
10.2.3 New Approvals and Agreements. Upon termination of this 

Agreement for any reason, Licensee shall no longer have the right to 
use the ROW. After such period, any right, if any, for the Plant to be in 
the ROW shall be pursuant to such new approvals and agreements, if 
any, and not pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
10.2.4 Confirmation of Termination. Upon termination of this Agreement 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 42 of 57 
 

for any reason, Licensee shall provide to Licensor upon demand a 
confirmation of termination of this Agreement executed and 
acknowledged by Licensee and by all persons who claim that they have 
received from or through Licensee any interest in or right to use the 
ROW. 

 
10.2.5 Removal of Improvements. NOTWITHSTANDING anything in this 

paragraph or the remainder of this Agreement to the contrary, unless 
Licensor directs otherwise, Licensee shall leave the cable, conduits, 
other appurtenances, and the remainder of the entire Plant in place in 
good condition, in working order, with each cable and conduit end 
properly labeled and enclosed in proper junction boxes, and in safe 
condition. However, to the extent Licensor gives notice requesting the 
work, Licensee shall remove all of the Plant and restore the Use Areas 
to its prior condition, or to a condition matching Licensor's surrounding 
land and improvements. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, 
Licensee is not obligated to remove horizontal underground conduit, 
along with cables that are buried directly in the ground without conduits. 
Such work shall include revegetation and appropriate irrigation systems 
for revegetated areas. Title to any and all personal property installed by 
Licensee upon the ROW that is not removed during that period shall 
automatically vest in Licensor. Licensor shall give Licensee One 
Hundred Twenty (120) calendar days' notice before requiring removal 
of the Plant. 

 
XI. INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE 

 
11. Insurance Responsibility. During the entire term of this Agreement, Licensee 
shall insure its property and activities at and about the Use Areas and shall provide 
insurance and indemnification as follows: 

 
11.1 Insurance Required. Not later than the date of this Agreement, and at all 
times thereafter when Licensee is occupying or using the Use Areas in any way, 
Licensee shall obtain and cause to be in force and effect the following 
insurance: 

 
11.1.1 Commercial General Liability. Commercial general liability 
insurance with a limit of Five Million and No/100 Dollars ($5,000,000.00) 
for each occurrence, a limit of Five Million and No/100 Dollars 
($5,000,000.00) for products and completed operations annual 
aggregate, and a limit of Five Million and No/100 Dollars ($5,000,000.00) 
general aggregate limit per policy year. The limits of the general liability 
insurance described above and obtained by Licensee may be achieved 
through a combination of the total limits of both primary and umbrella 
insurance policies obtained by Licensee, provided that both policies 
remain in full force and effect simultaneously per policy year. The policy 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 43 of 57 
 

shall cover liability arising from premises, operations, independent 
contractors, products, completed operations, personal injury, bodily 
injury, advertising injury, and liability assumed under an "insured 
contract" including this Agreement. Licensee’s policy or a separately 
obtained policy will cover Licensee's liability under the indemnity 
provisions of this Agreement. The policy shall contain a "separation of 
insureds" clause. 

 
11.1.2 Automobile Liability. Automobile liability insurance with a limit of 
One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) for each accident covering any and all 
owned, hired, and non-owned vehicles assigned to or used in any way 
in connection with Licensee's use of the ROW. Without limitation, such 
insurance shall cover hazards of motor vehicle use for loading and 
offloading. 

 
11.1.3 Workers' Compensation. Such workers' compensation and 
similar insurance as is required by law and employer's liability insurance 
with a minimum limit of One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00) 
for each accident, One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00) 
disease for each employee, Five Hundred Thousand Dollars 
($500,000.00) policy limit for disease. All contractors and subcontractors 
must provide like insurance. 

 
11.2 Policy Limit Escalation. Licensor may elect by notice to Licensee to 
increase the amount or type of any insurance to account for inflation, changes 
in risk, or any other factor that Licensor reasonably determines to affect the 
prudent amount of insurance to be provided. 

 
11.3 Form of All Insurance. All insurance provided by Licensee with respect 
to the ROW, whether required by this Agreement or not, shall meet the following 
requirements: 

 
11.3.1 "Occurrence" coverage is required. "Claims made" insurance is 
not permitted, except for Broadcast Insurance. 

 
11.3.2 If Licensee uses any excess insurance then such excess insurance 
shall be "follow form" equal to or broader in coverage than the underlying 
insurance. 

11.3.3 Policies must also cover and insure Licensee's activities relating 
to the business operations and activities conducted away from the ROW. 

 
11.3.4 Licensee must clearly show by providing copies of insurance 
certificates and formal endorsements reasonably acceptable to Licensor 
that all insurance coverage required by this Agreement is provided. 

 
11.3.5 Licensee's required insurance shall be primary insurance and 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 44 of 57 
 

non•contributory with respect to claims arising out of Licensee's 
operations, activities and obligations under this Agreement. 

 
11.3.6 All policies, including workers' compensation, shall waive 
transfer rights of recovery (subrogation) against Licensor and Licensor's 
employees, officials, representatives, officers and agents (all of whom, 
including Licensor, are collectively "Additional Insureds"). 

 
11.3.7 All deductibles, retentions, or "self-insured" amounts shall be 
subject to the following: 

 
11.3.7.1 Licensee shall be solely responsible for all such 
amounts. 

 
11.3.7.2 Such amounts shall not exceed reasonable 
industry standards of similar situated companies, which 
include those companies with either similar gross revenue, 
number of employees, market share, or operational scope. 

 
11.3.7.3 Any self-insured exposure shall be deemed to be 
an insured risk under this Agreement. 

 
11.3.7.4 Licensee's obligation to reimburse an insurer 
after the Insurer defends and pays a claim is not a 
deductible, retention or "self-Insured" amount for purposes 
of this paragraph. 

 
11.3.7.5 Licensee shall provide to the beneficiaries of all 
such amounts no less insurance protection than if such 
self-insured portion was fully insured by an insurance 
company of the quality and caliber required hereunder. 

 
11.3.7.6 The right to self-insure is limited and specific to 
Licensee and does not extend to Licensee's contractors or 
others. 

 
11.3.8 All required policies except workers' compensation must include 
Licensor and the other Additional Insureds as additional insureds. 
Licensee shall cause coverage for Additional Insureds to be incorporated 
into each insurance policy by endorsement with respect to claims arising 
out of Licensee's operations, activities and obligations under this 
Agreement. 

 
11.3.9 All policies must require the insurer to endeavor to provide 
Licensor with at least thirty (30) calendar days prior notice of any 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 45 of 57 
 

cancellation. 

 
11.3.10 All required policies shall require that notices be given to 
Licensor in the manner specified for notices to Licensor under this 
Agreement. 

 
11.4 Insurance Certificates. Licensee shall evidence all required insurance by 
furnishing to Licensor certificates of insurance and endorsements upon 
inception of this Agreement and with each change in insurance coverage. 
Certificates must evidence that the policy described by the certificate is in full 
force and effect and that the policy satisfies each requirement of this Agreement 
applicable to the policy. For example, certificates must evidence that Licensor 
and the other Additional Insureds are additional insureds. Certificates must be 
in a form reasonably acceptable to Licensor. Licensee shall provide updated 
certificates and endorsements at Licensor's request. 

 
11.5 Acceptable Insurers. All insurance policies shall be issued by insurers 
reasonably acceptable to Licensor. At a minimum, all insurers shall be duly 
licensed (or qualified unlicensed non-admitted insurer) by the State of Arizona, 
Department of Insurance. At a minimum, all insurers shall have and maintain 
an A.M. Best, Inc. rating of B++ 6. 

 
11.6 No Representation of Coverage Adequacy. By requiring insurance 
herein, Licensor does not represent that coverage and limits will be adequate 
to protect Licensee. Licensor reserves the right to review any and all of the 
insurance policies and/or endorsements cited in this Agreement but has no 
obligation to do so. Failure to demand such evidence of full compliance with the 
insurance requirements set forth in this Agreement or failure to identify any 
insurance deficiency shall not relieve Licensee from, nor be construed or 
deemed a waiver of, Licensee's obligation to maintain the required insurance at 
all times. 

 
11.7 Indemnity. In addition to all other indemnities and other obligations 
hereunder, to the fullest extent permitted by law, throughout the term of this 
Agreement and until all obligations and performances under or related to this 
Agreement are satisfied and all matters described in this paragraph are 
completely resolved, Licensee (and all other persons using, acting, working or 
claiming through or for Licensee or this Agreement (if they or their 
subcontractor, employee or other person or entity hired or directed by them 
participated in any way in causing the claim in question)) shall jointly and 
severally indemnify, defend and hold harmless Licensor and all other Additional 
Insureds for, from and against any and all claims or harm related to Licensee's 
use of the ROW, or the rights granted to Licensee with respect to the ROW or 
Licensee's exercise of its rights under this Agreement (the "Indemnity"). Except 
as otherwise limited by this Agreement, the Indemnity shall include and apply 
to any and all allegations, demands, judgments, assessments, taxes, 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 46 of 57 
 

impositions, expenses, proceedings, liabilities, obligations, suits, actions, 
claims (including without limitation claims of personal injury, bodily injury, 
sickness, disease, death, property damage, destruction, loss of use, financial 
harm, or other impairment), damages, losses, expenses, penalties, fines or 
other matters (together with all attorney fees, court costs, and the cost of 
appellate proceedings and all other costs and expenses of litigation or resolving 
the claim) that may arise in any manner out of any use of the ROW or other 
property related to this Agreement or any actions, acts, errors, mistakes or 
omissions relating to work or services in the performance of or related to this 
Agreement, including without limitation any injury or damages or cause of action 
claimed or caused by any employees, contractors, subcontractors, tenants, 
subtenants, agents or other persons upon or using the ROW or surrounding 
areas related to this Agreement, including without limitation, claims, liability, 
harm or damages caused in part by Licensor or any other Additional Insured or 
anyone for whose mistakes, errors, omissions or negligence Licensee or 
Licensor may be liable. As a condition to Licensor's executing this Agreement, 
Licensee specifically agrees that to the extent any provision of this paragraph 
is not fully enforceable against Licensee for any reason whatsoever, this 
paragraph shall be deemed automatically reformed to the minimal extent 
necessary to cause it to be enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. 
The Indemnity shall also include and apply to any environmental injury, 
personal injury or other liability relating to Licensee's use of real property under 
this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Indemnity does not apply 
to: 

11.7.1 Claims arising only from the sole gross negligence or intentionally 
wrongful acts of Licensor. 

 
11.7.2 Claims that the law prohibits from being imposed upon the 
indemnitor. 

 
11.8 Risk of Loss. Licensee assumes the risk of any and all loss, damage or 
claims related to Licensee's use of the ROW or other property of Licensor, 
Licensee or third parties throughout the term hereof. Licensee shall be 
responsible for any and all damage to its property and equipment related to this 
Agreement. 

 
11.9 Insurance to be Provided by Others. Licensee shall cause its contractors 
or other persons occupying, working on or about, or using the ROW pursuant to 
this Agreement to be covered by their own or Licensee's insurance in the 
coverages required by this Agreement and conforming to the other 
requirements of this Agreement. 

 
XII. CONDEMNATION 

 
12. Condemnation. The following shall govern any condemnation of any part of or 
interest in the Use Areas and any conveyance to Licensor or another condemnor in 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 47 of 57 
 

avoidance or settlement of condemnation or a threat of condemnation: 

 
12.1 Termination for Condemnation. This Agreement shall terminate as to the 
part taken on the date that is the earlier of the date title vests in the condemnor, 
or the date upon which the condemnor is let into possession. 

 
12.2 Power to Condemn. Licensee acknowledges that Licensor and others 
from time to time may use the power to condemn the Use Areas or any interest 
therein or rights thereto. Licensor has not relinquished any right of 
condemnation or eminent domain over the Use Areas. Licensor does not 
warrant that Licensor will not condemn the Use Areas during the term of this 
Agreement, but Licensor does not presently have intentionsto condemn the Use 
Areas. 

 
12.3 Licensee’s Facilities. In the event any of the Use Areas are condemned 
through an Eminent Domain action by Licensor, Licensee shall be compensated 
on a fair market value basis the value of Licensee's Facilities by Licensor. In the 
event any of the Use Areas are condemned by any other condemnor, Licensee 
shall be entitled to all amounts allocated to the fair market value of Licensee's 
Facilities that have been condemned, minus any leasehold value of Licensor- 
owned property whether real or personal. 

 
XIII. DAMAGE TO USE AREAS 

 
13. Damage to Use Areas. In the event of damage to or destruction of the Plant by 
fire, explosion, the elements, the public enemy, or other casualty, Licensee shall 
commence restoring the casualty damage within thirty (30) calendar days. Licensee 
shall complete the restoration work within one hundred and twenty (120) calendar days 
after commencing the restoration work. Licensee's restoration work shall be subject to 
the plans approval process and all other requirements for Licensee's Improvements. 
Licensee shall perform all restoration work at Licensee's sole cost and expense. 
Licensee shall provide to Licensor no later than the tenth calendar day of each month a 
written report of the progress of the restoration work. 

 
 
 

XIV. LICENSEE'S RECORDS 

 
14. Licensee's Records. During the entire term of this Agreement, Licensee shall 
keep records and provide information to Licensor. Licensee shall cooperate with 
Licensee or any third party designated by licensee during any audit of Licensee’s 
records related to this Agreement or use of the ROW as follows: 

 
14.1 Scope of Information. Unless otherwise specified, all of Licensee's 
recordkeeping and disclosure obligations under this article include and are 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 48 of 57 
 

limited to the following cumulative topics as reasonably determined by Licensor 
to be related to Licensee’s use of the ROW under this Agreement (collectively 
the "Covered Information"): 

 
14.1.1 The status of the construction, repair or restoration of Licensee 
Improvements, including but not limited to the total amount of linear feet 
of trench in the ROW where Licensee installs copper, fiber optic or other 
cable conductor and/or conduit and its actual and intended uses. 

 
14.1.2 Information relating to this Agreement or to Licensor's or 
Licensee's rights or obligations under this Agreement, including but not 
limited to the Gross Revenues related to the use of the Plant within the 
ROW. 

 
14.2 Records Inspection. Licensee shall: 

 

14.2.1 Permit and assist Licensor and its representatives at all 
reasonable times to inspect, audit, and copy Licensee's records of Covered 
Information. 

 
14.2.2 Make the records of Covered Information (and reasonable 
accommodations for Licensor's audit and inspection) available to 
Licensor at Licensee's offices in Maricopa County, Arizona or at 
Licensor's location. 

 
14.2.3 Cause Licensee's employees and agents and accountants to 
give their full cooperation and assistance in connection with Licensor's 
access to the Covered Information. 

 
14.3 Record Retention. Licensee shall preserve records of the Covered 
Information in a secure place at Licensee's corporate headquarters in the 
continental United States and available to Licensor on request for review within 
the City of Goodyear, Maricopa County, Arizona for a period ending seven (7) 
years after the time period reported by the records. 

 
14.4 Record Media Included. Licensor's and Licensee's rights and obligations 
regarding the Covered Information apply regardless of the type of media, 
materials, or data repositories that may contain the Covered Information. 
Licensor's rights to the Covered Information apply regardless of whether the 
Covered Information is stored on recordings, notes, ledgers, correspondence, 
reports, drawings, memoranda, or other repository of Covered Information. 

 
14.5 Reports. Upon not less than thirty (30) calendar days' notice, Licensee 
shall deliver to Licensor written reports (and, if requested by Licensor, a 
presentation to Licensor's governing council or designee) covering such 
Covered Information as Licensor may request from time to time. Unless 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 49 of 57 
 

Licensor has a basis for believing that Licensee might not be in compliance with 
this Agreement, Licensor shall not make more than one such request covering 
the same information in any twelve (12) month period. 

 
14.6 Standards for Records. Licensee shall maintain a standard, modern 

system of recordkeeping for the Covered Information and shall keep and 
maintain proper and accurate books and other repositories of information 
relating to the Covered Information in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles applied ona consistent basis. 

 
14.7 Failure to Comply. If any time during the term of this Agreement or any 

renewal thereof, Licensee fails to cooperate and or comply with the terms of 
this Section it shall be an Event of Default and Licensor may terminate this 
Agreement. 

 
14.8 Proprietary Information. Certain information disclosed by Licensee to 

Licensor and clearly marked and identified as “Confidential”, as required in this 
Agreement, shall be regarded as proprietary as to third parties. “Proprietary 
Information” shall mean any document or material clearly marked and identified 
as “Confidential”. Such Proprietary Information shall include, but not be limited 
to any financial information, technical information, any customer names and 
lists, or other information pertaining to services provided to its customers. 
Proprietary Information may include information on the type of services 
Licensee is offering to its customers provided that in no event shall Licensee be 
obligated to disclose to Licensor any customer identifying information. 
Information that is already in the public domain shall not be considered 
Proprietary Information. If information within the public domain is included with 
Proprietary Information on the same document, the Licensor shall only disclose 
those portions within the public domain. Notwithstanding any provision in this 
License, Licensee acknowledges and understands that Licensor is subject to 
the disclosure requirements of Arizona's Public Records Law. 

 
XV. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW 

 
15. Compliance with Law. Licensee shall perform its obligations under this 
Agreement in accordance with all federal, state, county and local laws, ordinances, 
regulations or other rules or policies as are now in effect or as may hereafter be 
adopted or amended. Without limiting in any way the generality of the foregoing, 
Licensee shall comply with all and each of the following: 

 
15.1 Future Municipal Legislation. Licensor has not contracted away any of 
its legislative authority by this Agreement. 

 
15.2 Applicability of Municipal Law. Without limitation, Licensee shall comply 
with municipal laws as follows: 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 50 of 57 
 

15.2.1 Licensee acknowledges that this Agreement does not 
constitute, and Licensor has not promised or offered, any type of waiver 
of, or agreement to waive (or show any type of forbearance, priority or 
favoritism to Licensee with regard to) any law, ordinance, power, 
regulation, tax, assessment or other legal requirement now or hereafter 
imposed by the City of Goodyear or any other governmental body upon 
or affecting Licensee, the ROW or Licensee's use of the ROW. 

 
15.2.2 All of Licensee's obligations hereunder are in addition to, and 
cumulative upon (and not to any extent in substitution or satisfaction of), 
all existing or future laws and regulations applicable to Licensee. 

 
15.2.3 This Agreement is not intended to diminish any performances 
that would be required of Licensee by law if this Agreement had been 
made between Licensee and a private citizen. 

 
15.2.4 Licensor by this Agreement cannot and has not relinquished or 
limited any right of condemnation or eminent domain over the ROW or 
any other property related to this Agreement or within the ROW. 

 
15.2.5 Licensor's rights and remedies hereunder for Licensee's failure 
to comply with all applicable Telecommunications Laws supplement, and 
are in addition to, and do not replace, otherwise existing powers of the 
City of Goodyear or any other governmental body. 

 
15.3 Building and other Permits. Licensee shall obtain at Licensee’s own 
expense all building or other permits, if required, in connection with all 
construction performed by Licensee, shall comply with all zoning, building 
safety, fire, pavement and curb cut and restoration, and similar laws and 
procedures of every description and shall pay all fees, charges and other 
amounts pertaining thereto. 

 
15.4 Dry Utility Permit. This Agreement is incorporated by reference into any 
"dry utility permit" obtained by the Licensee to the extent of allowing the Plant 
to exist on the ROW but not to allow any construction or other work of any 
description in the Use Areas or to allow obstruction of traffic or alternation of 
Licensors improvements. Before performing any work on the ROW, Licensee 
shall obtain the following additional encroachment permits, as applicable: 

 
15.4.1 Permission to Work in the ROW. 

 
15.4.2 Permission to Alter City of Goodyear Improvements. 

 
15.4.3 Permission to Obstruct Traffic. 

 
15.4.4 Any other applicable permits regarding work in the ROW. 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 51 of 57 
 

15.5 Taxes, Liens and Assessments. In addition to all other amounts herein 
provided and to the extent consistent with applicable law, Licensee shall pay, 
when the same become due and payable, all taxes and general and special 
fees, charges and assessments of every description that during the term of this 
Agreement may be levied upon or assessed upon or with respect to Licensee's 
use of the ROW, Licensee's operations conducted therein, any amounts paid 
or other performances under this Agreement by either party, and all of 
Licensee's possessory interest in the ROW and improvements and other 
Licensor or Licensee property thereon. Licensee shall pay, indemnify, defend 
and hold harmless Licensor and the ROW and all interests therein and 
improvements thereon from any and all such obligations, including any interest, 
penalties, and other expenses which may be imposed, and from any lien thereof 
or sale or other proceedings to enforce payment thereof. 

 
15.6 Change in Law. If a provision of this Agreement is affected by 
subsequent legislative action, this Agreement shall continue in force to the 
extent possible. 

 
15.7 Use Area Regulations. Licensor reserves the right to adopt, amend and 
enforce against Licensee ordinances, rules, and regulations governing the 
operation of the Use Areas, Licensee's activities therein and thereon, and the 
public areas and facilities used by Licensee in connection therewith. 

 
15.8 Permits. This Agreement does not relieve Licensee of the obligation to 
obtain permits, licenses, and other approvals from Licensor or other units of 
government that are required for the erection, construction, reconstruction, 
installation, operation, or maintenance of the Plant or provision of 
Telecommunications Services; or from compliance with applicable municipal 
codes, ordinances, laws, and policies, such as zoning and land use ordinances 
and regulations, pavement cut and restoration ordinances and regulations, 
subdivision and project improvement ordinances, curb cut permits, building 
permits, ROW permits and the like. 

 
XVI. ASSIGNABILITY 

 

16. Assignability. Licensee may not assign, sell or transfer its interest in this 
License without the Licensor's consent. Licensor's consent will not to be 
unreasonably withheld if the assignment is to an entity which acquires all or 
substantially all of Licensee's assets. Notwithstanding the foregoing, consent 
shall not be required if Licensee assigns or transfers the Agreement to an 
affiliated company which is owned, controlled or under common control with the 
same direct or indirect parent as Licensee. 

 
XVII. MISCELLANEOUS 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 52 of 57 
 

17. Miscellaneous. The following additional provisions apply to this Agreement: 
 

17.1 Amendments. This Agreement may not be amended except by a formal 
writing executed by all of the parties. 

 
17.2 Time of Essence. Time is of the essence of each and every provision of 
this Agreement. 

 
17.3 Survival of Liability. All obligations of Licensee and Licensor hereunder 
and all warranties and indemnities of Licensee hereunder shall survive 
termination of this Agreement for any reason. 

 
17.4 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be ruled by a court 
or agency of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, then: 

 
17.4.1 The invalidity or unenforceability of such provision shall not 
affect the validity of any remaining provisions of this Agreement. 

 
17.4.2 This Agreement shall be automatically reformed to secure to the 
parties the benefits of the unenforceable provision, to the maximum 
extent consistent with law. 

 
17.5 Conflicts of Interest. No officer, representative or employee of Licensor 
shall have any direct or indirect interest in this Agreement, nor participate in any 
decision relating to the Agreement that is prohibited by law. 

 
17.6 No Partnership. This Agreement and the transactions and performances 
contemplated hereby shall not create any sort of partnership, joint venture or 
similar relationship between the parties. 

 
17.7 Non-liability of Officials and Employees. No official, representative or 
employee of Licensor shall be personally liable to any party, or to any successor 
in interest to any party, in the event of any default or breach by Licensor or for 
any amount which may become due to any party or successor, or with respect 
to any obligation of Licensor or otherwise under the terms of this Agreement or 
related to this Agreement. 

 
17.8 Notices. Notices hereunder shall be given in writing delivered to the other 
party or mailed by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage 
prepaid addressed to: 

 
 

If to Licensor: City Manager City of Goodyear 
1900 N. Civic Square 
Goodyear, AZ 85395 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 53 of 57 
 

Copy to: City Attorney City of Goodyear 
1900 N. Civic Square 
Goodyear, AZ 85395 

 
If to Licensee: Cablevision Lightpath LLC 

1111 Stewart Ave. 
Bethpage, NY 11714 
Attn: Legal, Legal@lightpathfiber.com 

Copy to: Cablevision Lightpath LLC 

1111 Stewart Ave. 
Bethpage, NY 11714 
Attn: SVP Operations 

 
By notice from time to time, a person may designate any other street address 
within Maricopa County, Arizona as its address for giving notice hereunder. 
Service of any notice by mail shall be deemed to be complete three (3) calendar 
days (excluding Saturday, Sunday, and legal holidays) after the notice is 
deposited in the United States mail. 

 
17.9 Integration. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between 
the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes any prior 
agreement, understanding, negotiation, draft agreements, discussion outlines, 
correspondence, memoranda, and representation regarding the ROW. 

 
17.10 Construction. Whenever the context of this Agreement requires, the 
singular shall include the plural, and the masculine shall include the feminine. 
This Agreement was negotiated on the basis that it shall be construed according 
to its plain meaning and neither for nor against any party, regardless of their 
respective roles in preparing this Agreement. The terms of this Agreement were 
established in light of the plain meaning of this Agreement and this Agreement 
shall therefore be interpreted according to its plain meaning and without regard 
to rules of interpretation, if any, which might otherwise favor Licensee. 

 
17.11 Funding. This subparagraph shall control notwithstanding any 
provision of this Agreement or any exhibit or other agreement or document 
related hereto. If funds necessary to fulfill any Licensor obligations to make 
payments to Licensee under this Agreement are not appropriated by the 
Goodyear City Council, and Licensee does not postpone its right to such 
payment until funds are appropriated, Licensor may terminate this Agreement, 
by notice to Licensee. Licensor shall use best efforts to give notice of such a 
termination to Licensee at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to the end of 
Licensor's then current fiscal period. Termination in accordance with this 
provision shall not constitute a breach of this Agreement by Licensor. No person 
will be entitled to any compensation, damages or other remedy from Licensor if 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 54 of 57 
 

this Agreement is terminated pursuant to the terms of this subsection. 
 

17.12 Paragraph Headings. The paragraph headings contained herein are 
for convenience in reference and not intended to define or limit the scope of any 
provision of this Agreement. 

 
17.13 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. No person or entity shall be a third-party 
beneficiary to this Agreement or shall have any right or cause of action 
hereunder. Licensor shall have no liability to third parties for any approval of 
plans, Licensee's construction of improvements, Licensee's negligence, 
Licensee's failure to comply with the provisions of this Agreement (including any 
absence or inadequacy of insurance required to be carried by Licensee), or 
otherwise as a result of the existence of this Agreement. 

 
17.14 Exhibits. All Exhibits specifically stated to be attached hereto as 
specified herein are hereby incorporated into and made an integral part of 
this Agreement for all purposes. 

 
17.15 Attorneys' Fees. If any action, suit or proceeding is brought by either 
party hereunder to enforce this Agreement or for failure to observe any of 
the covenants of this Agreement or to vindicate or exercise any rights or 
remedies hereunder, the prevailing party in such proceeding shall be 
entitled to recover from the other party such prevailing party's reasonable 
attorneys' fees and other reasonable litigation costs (as determined by the 
court (and not a jury) in such proceeding). 

 
17.16 Choice of Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the internal 
laws of the State of Arizona without regard to choice of law rules. Licensor 
has not waived its claims procedures as respects this Agreement. Exclusive 
proper venue for any action regarding this Agreement shall be Maricopa 
County Superior Court or a Federal district court sitting in Maricopa County. 
Licensor and Licensee consent to personal jurisdiction in such courts. 

 
17.17 Approvals and Inspections. All approvals, reviews and inspections 
by Licensor under this Agreement or otherwise are for Licensor's sole 
benefit and not for the benefit of Licensee, its contractors, engineers or other 
consultants or agents, or any other person. 

 
17.18 Recording. This Agreement shall not be recorded. 

 

17.19 Statutory Cancellation Right. In addition to its  other rights 
hereunder, Licensor shall have the rights specified in A.RS. § 38-511. 

 
17.20 Immigration Requirements. To the extent applicable under A.R.S. § 41- 
4401, Licensee warrants compliance with all federal immigration laws and 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 55 of 57 
 

regulations that relate to its employees and compliance with the E-Verify 
requirements under Arizona State Statutes. Licensee's breach of the above- 
mentioned warranty shall be deemed a material breach of this Agreement. 

 

17.21 No Israel Boycott. In accordance with federal law, by entering into 
this Agreement, Licensee certifies that it is not currently engaged in, and 
agrees that for the duration of this Agreement to not engage in a boycott of 
Israel. 

 
 

Signatures on following pages. 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 56 of 57 
 

 
EXECUTED as of the date first given above. 

 
 

 
Cablevision Lightpath LLC, 

a Delaware limited liability company 

By:   
 

Its:   
 
 
 
 

CITY OF GOODYEAR, an Arizona municipal corporation 
 
 
 
 

By: Wynette Reed  
 

Its: City Manager  
 
 

Attest: 
 
 
 
 
 

Darcie McCracken, City Clerk 
 
 

Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
 

Roric Massey, City Attorney 



Resolution No. 2025-2453 … 
Page 57 of 57 
 

Exhibit A 
 

Letter of Credit Standards 
 

‐ Issued by a commercial bank acceptable to the City. The bank must meet the 
following minimum requirements: 

o Chartered under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the 
District of Columbia and which is insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation. 

o Licensed lender in the State of Arizona. 
o Long-term, unsecured and unsubordinated debt obligations are rated in 

the highest categories by either Moody's Investors Service, Inc. (Moody's) 
or Standard & Poor's Ratings Service (S&P) or their respective successors. 
Which Shall mean: 
 Moody's: Aaa, Aa1, Aa2, Aa3, A1 or A2 
 S&P: AAA, AA+, AA, AA-, A+ or A 

o If at any time the Letter of Credit Issuer Requirements are not met, or if the 
financial condition of such issuer changes in any materially adverse way, 
as determined by the City in its sole discretion, then a replacement Letter 
of Credit which meets the requirements must be provided to the City within 
five (5) calendar days of receiving written notice from the City. 

Letter of Credit Format 
 

‐ The Beneficiary must be the City of Goodyear 
‐ The Amount must be fifty thousand dollars ($50,000). 
‐ The Principal must be the Licensee who is a signatory to the License Agreement. 
‐ The Bank Name & Address upon which payment would be drawn must be clearly 

stated on the face of the document. 
‐ The Text identifying the License agreement must be detailed and reflect the 

specific agreement number 
‐ The Expiration Date will be a minimum of two years. The Expiration Date must 

automatically extend for one year without amendment unless at least thirty (30) 
calendar days prior to any such expiry date issuer notifies the City of their election 
not to extend. 

‐ The Presentation of Draft requirement will be drawn on a local branch or 
presentable at a correspondent bank within Maricopa County. 

‐ The text must contain a Partial Draft Clause that clearly indicates partial draft 
draws are permissible. 

 
 
 

‐ 



ITEM #: 9. 
DATE: 03/03/2025
AI #:2208

CITY COUNCIL ACTION REPORT 
  
SUBJECT: AGREEMENT FOR ENGINEERING, PROCUREMENT, AND

CONSTRUCTION - BRINE DISPOSAL
 

STAFF PRESENTER(S): Barbara Chappell, Water Services Director

SUMMARY
Request approval of an Agreement for Engineering, Procurement, and Construction between Arizona
Public Service Company (APS), the city of Goodyear (City), and the city of Buckeye (Buckeye) - Brine
Disposal.
 

STRATEGIC PLAN ALIGNMENT

   

RECOMMENDATION
Approve the Engineering, Procurement, and Construction Agreement with the city of Buckeye and
Arizona Public Service (APS) and approve authorization and direction to take actions and execute the
documents necessary to carry out the intent of the agreement. (Barbara Chappell, Water Services
Director) 
 

FISCAL IMPACT
This agreement, included as Attachment A, provides for certain construction work to be completed at a
cost of $9,223,200.  The cost of this work is contemplated in the Brine Management Project - Palo
Verde Power Generating Station Improvements - CIP 61015 (Project), which was approved on March
4, 2024, with a budget of $15,500,000.

Project Budget:
  

Agreement Date Agreement
Cost

Revised Total Agreement
Cost

Original
Agreement 07/18/2022 $1,650,000 $1,000,000

Amendment #1 03/04/2024 $2,597,867 $3,650,000
Amendment #2 07/01/2024 $1,100,000 $4,750,000



Second
Agreement 02/10/2024 $9,223,200 $13,973,200

BACKGROUND AND PREVIOUS ACTIONS
On July 18, 2022, the City Council approved a Multi-Party Agreement between the City, APS, and
Buckeye for a project that would allow Brackish Water to be delivered to the Palo Verde Power
Generating Station (“PVGS”) to be used as cooling water through the PVGS’ water reclamation supply
system (WRSS) pipeline. Based on additional comments received from and changes requested by
APS, City staff requested modifications to the Agreement, which were approved by Council on August
29, 2022.   

Under the terms of the Agreement, the Project was to be conducted in phases.  The first phase was
Design Development, and it included the design of infrastructure needed to support the continued
delivery of excess blowdown water from the APS-owned Redhawk Power Plant to PVGS. The second
phase of the Project was to include the final system design, procurement of enhanced evaporation
equipment, and the construction and installation of equipment and infrastructure (pipelines and power
supplies) to accommodate the initial flows of Brackish Water from the City and Buckeye. 

On March 4, 2024, Council approved the creation of capital improvement project CIP 61015 Palo
Verde Power Generating Station Improvements and Amendment #1 to the Agreement incorporating the
design and construction of the two tie-ins to the WRSS pipeline the city will be constructing.  The cost of
this work is the sole responsibility of the city.  The amendment also included additional design work and
procurement of long lead time items that are needed for the Brine Project to become operational. The
costs of this work are shared equally between Buckeye and the city.

On July 1, 2024, Council approved the Amendment #2 that allowed for the continuation of design,
purchase of long lead items, and advancement of construction of portions of the Redhawk to Palo
Verde pipeline, which is necessary to support the continued operation of Redhawk after the
introduction of Brackish Water to the WRSS.
 

STAFF ANALYSIS
This new agreement allows for the procurement and construction of the final items necessary at the
PVGS and for the Redhawk facility to support its continued operation after the introduction of Brackish
Water to the WRSS.

An additional Agreement for the ongoing operation and maintenance costs for sending the city’s brine
to PVGS will be brought before Council for action later this year.
 

Attachments
Attachment A - Agreement – Brine Disposal 
Staff Presentation 



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ENGINEERING PROCUREMENT AND CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF GOODYEAR;  

THE CITY OF BUCKEYE; 

AND 

ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CONTRACT NUMBER: PO NUMBER:  

 
 

 



 

-i- 
 

Table of Contents 
 PARTIES. ........................................................................................................................................................... 1 
 RECITALS. ......................................................................................................................................................... 1 
 DEFINITIONS. ................................................................................................................................................... 3 
 ENTIRE AGREEMENT. ..................................................................................................................................... 5 
 TERM. ................................................................................................................................................................ 5 
 SCOPE. .............................................................................................................................................................. 5 
 PRICE AND PAYMENT ..................................................................................................................................... 6 
 FORCE MAJEURE. ........................................................................................................................................... 7 
 SUBCONTRACTORS. ....................................................................................................................................... 8 

 CONFIDENTIALITY. .......................................................................................................................................... 8 
 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY. ........................................................................................................................... 8 
 TERMINATION. ................................................................................................................................................. 8 
 DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVE AND NOTICE. .......................................................................................... 9 
 TITLE AND RISK OF LOSS. .............................................................................................................................. 9 
 INDEMNIFICATION. ........................................................................................................................................ 10 
 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY/EXCLUSION OF CERTAIN DAMAGES. ............................................................ 10 
 INSURANCE. ................................................................................................................................................... 11 
 AMENDMENTS AND CHANGE NOTICES. .................................................................................................... 11 
 MISCELLANEOUS. ......................................................................................................................................... 11 
 EXECUTION. ................................................................................................................................................... 13 

APPENDIX A – ESTIMATED COST ....................................................................................................................... A-1 
APPENDIX B – SCOPE OF WORK ....................................................................................................................... B-1 
APPENDIX C – CONFIDENTIALITY & NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT ........................................................ C-1 



 

-1- 
 

 PARTIES. 

This Engineering Procurement and Construction Agreement by and between CITY OF GOODYEAR, a municipal 
corporation formed under the laws of Arizona (“Goodyear”), CITY OF BUCKEYE, a municipal corporation formed 
under the laws of Arizona (“Buckeye”) (individually “Municipality” and collectively the “Municipalities”) and 
ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY, an Arizona corporation (“APS” or “Company”), having its principal 
place of business at 400 North 5th Street, Phoenix, Arizona 85004, acting on its own behalf and as operating 
agent for the PVGS Participants and for the benefit of Pinnacle West Capital Corporation, is for the work 
described herein that will allow the Municipalities to deliver Brackish Water to the Palo Verde Generating Station 
(“PVGS” or “Palo Verde”) through the Water Reclamation Supply System (“WRSS”) pipeline and the entry of 
agreements between APS and each of the Municipalities that allow for such deliveries  and is effective March 7, 
2025 (the “Effective Date”). 

 RECITALS. 

A. WHEREAS, PVGS is a nuclear power plant, co-owned by APS, Salt River Project Agricultural 
Improvement & Power District, El Paso Electric Company, Southern California Edison Corporation, 
Public Service Company of New Mexico, Southern California Public Power Authority, and Los Angeles 
Department of Water & Power. 

B. WHEREAS, PVGS has Nuclear Regulatory Commission approved operating licenses for nuclear Units 1, 
2, and 3 which expire in 2045, 2046, and 2047 respectively. 

C. WHEREAS, PVGS uses cooling water from municipal effluent delivered via the WRSS pipeline that runs 
through the municipal boundaries of Goodyear and Buckeye; the water is delivered to the PVGS Water 
Resources Facility (“WRF”) where it is treated, stored, used for cooling and discharged into evaporation 
ponds. 

D. WHEREAS, APS also provides cooling water from its WRF to the Redhawk Power Generation Station 
located in Arlington, Arizona (“Redhawk”). 

E. WHEREAS, the WRSS pipeline is accessible from Goodyear’s existing and/or future water treatment 
and reclamation facilities and from Buckeye’s existing and/or future water treatment and reclamation 
facilities. 

F. WHEREAS, APS is the Operating Agent of PVGS including the WRSS pipeline and WRF, which operates 
for the benefit of the Participants. 

G. WHEREAS, because of the rising costs of effluent being used as cooling water, APS is interested in 
pursuing alternative sources of cooling water. 

H. WHEREAS, Goodyear and Buckeye are seeking to dispose of the reject   stream from reverse osmosis 
treatment of groundwater. 

I. WHEREAS, additionally, Goodyear is seeking to dispose of some or all of water discharged from cooling 
towers of industrial users operating in Goodyear into the WRSS pipeline to be conveyed to PVGS WRF 
for use as cooling water.   

J. WHEREAS, in August 2022, Goodyear, Buckeye and the Company entered into that certain agreement 
titled Agreement Regarding Collaborative Efforts to Accept Municipal Brackish Water into the Water 
Reclamation Supply System Pipeline, which was amended in March 2024 by that certain agreement 
titled First Amendment to Agreement Regarding Collaborative Efforts to Accept Municipal Brackish Water 



 

-2- 
 

into the Water Reclamation Supply System Pipeline, and subsequently amended in 2024 by that certain 
agreement titled Second Amendment to Agreement Regarding Collaborative Efforts to Accept Municipal 
Brackish Water into the Water Reclamation Supply System Pipeline (collectively referred to as the “Initial 
Brackish Water Agreement”), pursuant to which the Municipalities provided the funding for (i) design 
work, (ii) certain construction services , and (iii) purchase of certain long-lead time equipment.   

K. WHEREAS, APS reaffirms its obligations in the Initial Brackish Water Agreements set forth in Section 4 
(Commitment to Future Agreement) regarding the entry of Long-Term Agreements with the 
Municipalities, Section 5 (Third Party) prohibiting APS from accepting reject streams from reverse 
osmosis treatment of groundwater or any other streams of water from other entities (“Additional Brine 
Owners”) if doing so will result in either Municipality not being able to deliver the agreed upon amounts 
of Brackish Water, which will be specified in the Long-Term Agreement or Long-Term Agreements, and 
Section 6 (Entry Fee), which requires APS to collect contributions from Additional Brine Owners to 
reimburse Goodyear and Buckeye a percentage of the cost of the improvements paid for by Goodyear 
and Buckeye under the Initial Brackish Water Agreements before allowing Additional Brine Owners to 
deliver reject streams from reverse osmosis treatment of groundwater or any other streams of water into 
the WRSS remain in effect and agrees that the costs used in determining the Entry Fee shall be based 
on the total costs invoiced under the Initial Brackish Water Agreement and this Agreement (excluding 
costs for work solely for the benefit of Goodyear). APS further agrees that these obligations shall survive 
the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, unless this Agreement is terminated for cause.   

L. WHEREAS, the Parties wish to enter into this Agreement to address the: 

i.     remaining engineering, design, construction and procurement of equipment and related services 
relating to work required to allow APS to deliver cooling water to Red Hawk that includes the 
Brackish Water the Municipalities will be delivering to PVGS;  

ii.    work required for Goodyear Interconnections to the WRSS pipeline;  

iii.   preparation of the PVGS to begin receiving brackish water from Municipalities; and 

iv.   commitment to further good-faith negotiations to enter into long-term agreements that allow 
Buckeye and Goodyear to deliver Brackish Water to PVGS through the WRSS pipeline to be used 
as cooling water for PVGS.  

M. WHEREAS, the Parties intend for this Agreement to set forth the following:   

i.     Responsibilities for project management, engineering, procurement, and construction of the 
infrastructure and equipment needed to transport Brackish Water to PVGS and enable PVGS to 
begin receiving and using such Water delivered by the Municipalities;  

ii.    Responsibilities for project management engineering, procurement, and construction for 
infrastructure necessary to offset the impacts to Redhawk Generating Station that are anticipated 
from the delivery of Brackish Water from the Municipalities to the WRSS (this Recital M 
subsections i and ii are collectively the “Project”); 

iii.   Responsibilities for payment of costs incurred in undertaking the Project; and 

iv.   Other terms associated with the Project. 



 

-3- 
 

 DEFINITIONS.   

Terms not defined elsewhere in this Agreement have the following meanings: 

“Agreement” means the terms and conditions set forth in this document and its appendices, together with any 
attachments, exhibits, revisions, and supplements.  

“Applicable Law” means all applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, and regulations of any governmental 
authority (including, without limitation, city, county, state, federal, and tribal governmental authorities), including, 
without limitation, all privacy and data protection laws, Trade Control Laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, and 
regulations. 

“Brackish Water” means the (A) reject   stream from reverse osmosis treatment of groundwater delivered from 
Goodyear and Buckeye to PVGS through the WRSS Pipeline, and (B) water from cooling towers of industrial  
users operating in Goodyear delivered from Goodyear to PVGS through the WRSS Pipeline for use as cooling 
water, with the Brackish Water delivered from Goodyear expected to have Total Dissolved Solids (“TDS”) levels 
ranging between 6,000 and 8,000 mg/l and the Brackish Water delivered from Buckeye expected to have TDS 
levels ranging between 9,000 and 15,000 mg/l.  

“Business Day” means Monday through Friday excluding US federal holidays. 

“Claim” means any claim, action, dispute, demand, or right of action, whether in law or in equity, of every kind 
and character. 

“Company Property” means Company’s tools, equipment, data, facilities, or Company Cyber Assets. 

“Confidential Information” means all nonpublic information about Company or any third-party contractor including, 
without limitation, reports, data, specifications, know-how, strategies, technical data, processes, business 
documents, market research, customer, employee or client information and lists, Company Intellectual Property, 
CDA Information, Covered Information, Restricted Information, and all other information concerning the business 
and affairs of Company. Any reproduction of Company Confidential Information is Confidential Information to the 
same extent as any original. 

“Entry Fee” means the fee that APS shall charge any other entities that want to deliver reject streams from reverse 
osmosis treatment of groundwater or other streams of water to PVGS for use as cooling water (“Additional Brine 
Owners”), which Fee is to be calculated using the formula below:   

Entry Fee = P÷N 
P = the total costs invoiced under this Agreement and the Initial Brackish Water Agreement, 
except for those costs identified as the sole responsibility of Goodyear 
N = 2 + the number of Additional Brine Owners that have contracted to begin 
delivering water to PVGS 
So, for example, if the total cost invoiced under this agreement is $15 million, the 
first Additional Brine Owner’s Entry Fee will be calculated as follows: 
Entry Fee = 15,000,000 ÷ (2+1) So the Entry Fee for each party (Goodyear, 
Buckeye and the Additional Brine Owner) = $5,000,000  



 

-4- 
 

“Force Majeure” means an unforeseeable event beyond the reasonable control of, and not the fault of nor caused 
by any negligence of, the affected party and which the affected party is unable to overcome by the exercise of its 
reasonable diligence. Force Majeure may include the following:  a restraint imposed by government, act of a 
public enemy, war, blockade, insurrection, riot, act of God, pandemic, epidemic, landslide, earthquake, fire, storm, 
lightning, and flood. Force Majeure events do not include strikes, work stoppages, interruption to Supplier’s supply 
chain, or economic hardship. 

“Indemnitee” means the indemnified party and the officers, directors, employees, agents, advisors, 
representatives, affiliates, successors, and assigns of the indemnified party. 

“Intellectual Property” means any United States and foreign: (A) patents and patent applications, inventions and 
improvements thereto; (B) trademarks, service marks, trade names, trade dress, logos, business and product 
names, and registrations and applications for registration thereof; (C) copyrights and registrations thereof; (D) 
trade secrets and confidential or proprietary information including, without limitation, processes, methods, 
designs, formulae, know-how, and models; and tangible embodiments of any of (A) through (D) in any form or 
medium. 

“Long-Term Agreement” means the long-term agreements discussed in the Initial Brackish Water Agreement, 
not to exceed the life of operating licenses for the PVGS operating units, APS is to enter with each Municipality 
that requests an agreement, that will allow the requesting Municipality to distribute Brackish Water into the WRSS 
for use as cooling water for PVGS. The long-term agreement(s) will be on mutually acceptable terms between 
the Company and the Municipality, but are to include a requirement that the Municipalities fund the costs of the 
improvements to the WRF and WRSS needed for each to deliver their respective Brackish Water to the WRSS; 
to pay an access fee for use of the WRF and WRSS; to pay Operating and Maintenance Costs to cover APS’s 
additional costs of operating the systems and the maintenance, repair, and periodic replacement of the systems 
improvements; and to commit to deliver agreed-upon amounts of Brackish Water to the WRSS. If agreed to, the 
long-term agreement shall provide for periodic modifications to the Operating and Maintenance Costs, which 
shall be based on documented costs provided by APS. If agreed to, the long-term agreement shall also provide 
for contingencies should unexpected impacts to the WRSS or WRF beyond what was identified in the 10/28/2021 
Brine Management Report be encountered following placing the system in- service. The Long-Term Agreement, 
if entered into by the Parties, will also provide that APS will not accept reject streams from reserve osmosis 
treatment of groundwater or any other streams of water from other entities (“Additional Brine Owners”) if doing 
so will result in Goodyear not being able to deliver up to 3.3 mgd of Brackish Water into the WRSS (Goodyear’s 
Build-Out Flows) and/or Buckeye not being able to deliver up to 1.1 mgd of Brackish Water into the WRSS 
(Buckeye’s Build-Out Flows). This provision shall survive the expiration of this Agreement. 

“Losses” means all liabilities, losses, damages, fines, penalties, costs, and expenses, of any kind or nature, 
whether or not covered by insurance, inclusive of reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred in the 
investigation, defense, or enforcement of a party’s rights under this Agreement. 

“Participants” means entities participating with Company, as owners, leaseholders, or tenants in common, in 
Company's operations or other facilities related to this Agreement and each additional entity who may acquire an 
ownership or leasehold interest in these facilities, or any other facility owned in whole or part or operated by 
Company. When entering into this Agreement for Participants, Company is acting as their agent.   



 

-5- 
 

 ENTIRE AGREEMENT. 

4.1 Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains the final and complete understanding between the parties for 
and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous communications pertaining to the Project. The Initial 
Brackish Water Agreement remains in full force and effect; however, the Entry Fee contemplated in Section 
6 of that Initial Brackish Water Agreement is adjusted in the Recitals and Definitions of this Agreement to 
include additional costs.   

4.2 Appendices. This Agreement includes all documents attached hereto or incorporated by reference, 
including: 

Appendix A Estimated Costs 
Appendix B Scope of Work 
Appendix C Confidentiality & Non-Disclosure Agreement  

 
 TERM. 

5.1 This Agreement shall have a term that commences upon the Effective Date and expires upon: 

i.    completion of the Work (estimated to be within twenty-four (24) months of the Effective Date of this 
Agreement); 

ii.    the dissemination to the Parties of the work product produced, including all reports and all 
information and/or conclusions specific to such Parties; and 

iii.   full satisfaction of the Municipalities’ payment obligations hereunder. 

 SCOPE. 

6.1 Company will provide project management and undertake the elements of the Project set forth in the Scope 
of Work, Appendix B. Company will invoice the Municipalities for the costs incurred under the Scope of 
Work, and the Municipalities will reimburse Company for those invoiced costs in accordance with Section 7, 
Price and Payment. 

6.2 Goodyear and Buckeye will each be solely responsible for engineering, procurement, maintenance, and 
construction of the infrastructure from their respective systems to the Palo Verde Trust 530 pipeline 
easement. The Municipalities will also be responsible for cooperating with PVGS, including but not limited 
to communications, testing, and validation to support the Project. 

6.3 Bradley Berles, Senior Director, PVGS Water Strategy, shall serve as the point of contact between the 
Parties with respect to the completion of the Project and the administration of the Initial Brackish Water 
Agreement and this Agreement. If Bradley Berles is not available as the point of contact for a continuous 
period exceeding 30 calendar days, Company shall immediately notify the Municipalities of same and shall 
identify a new point of contact.   

6.4 APS will enter into good faith negotiations for a Long-Term Agreement, with Goodyear and with Buckeye, 
with the Goodyear negotiations commencing no later than forty-five (45) days after the Effective Date of this 
agreement. The Long-Term Agreements are not to exceed the life of operating licenses for the PVGS 
operating units, with each Municipal Party that requests an agreement, to allow the Municipal Party or 



 

-6- 
 

Municipalities to distribute Brackish Water into the WRSS for use as cooling water for PVGS. The 
agreement(s) will be on mutually acceptable terms, but will include a requirement that the Municipalities fund 
the costs of the improvements to the WRF and WRSS needed for each to deliver their respective Brackish 
Water to the WRSS; to pay  an access fee for use of the WRF and WRSS; to pay operating and maintenance 
costs to cover APS’s additional costs of operating the systems and the maintenance, repair, and periodic 
replacement of the systems improvements; and to commit to deliver agreed-upon amounts of Brackish 
Water to the WRSS. If agreed to, the long-term agreement shall provide for periodic modifications to the 
operating and maintenance costs, which shall be based on documented costs provided by APS. If agreed 
to, the long-term agreement shall also provide for contingencies should unexpected impacts to the WRSS 
or WRF beyond what was identified in the brine study be encountered following placing the system in-
service. If no reasonably unacceptable or significant, unexpected conditions were identified and APS 
declines to enter into good faith negotiations for the Long-Term Agreement referenced above, or after good 
faith negotiations by both Parties a Long-Term Agreement cannot be executed, APS agrees (a) to reimburse 
each Municipal Party for the costs it incurred under this Agreement, and (b) to not accept reject streams 
from reverse osmosis treatment of groundwater or any other Brackish Water streams from any third party 
for a period of three (3) years following the Effective Date. The Parties agree that the remedy prescribed by 
this Section 6 shall be the Municipalities’ sole and exclusive remedy for APS’s refusal to enter into good 
faith negotiations for the long-term agreement described herein. 

6.5 The Long-Term Agreement(s), if entered into by the Parties, will also provide that APS will not accept reject 
streams from reverse osmosis treatment of groundwater or any other streams of water from other entities 
(“Additional Brine Owners”) if doing so will result in Goodyear not being able to deliver Goodyear’s Build-
Out Flows and/or Buckeye not being able to deliver Buckeye’s Build-Out Flows. This term shall survive the 
expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement unless this Agreement is terminated for cause. 

 PRICE AND PAYMENT. 

7.1 Price of Goods and Services. As long as they are Parties to this Agreement, the Municipalities are jointly 
and severally liable for reimbursing APS the full costs incurred by APS under this Agreement, except for 
costs that are incurred for Goodyear’s sole benefit as estimated in Table 1 of Appendix A. Goodyear will be 
solely responsible for paying the full costs incurred for its sole benefit. The Municipalities will each pay 50% 
of all other actual costs incurred under this Agreement, as estimated in Table 2 and Table 3 of Appendix A. 
As set forth in Appendix A, the expected cost for Goodyear is $9,223,200.00 and $6,769,200.00 for Buckeye. 
However, if one Municipality fails to pay for its share of the costs, the total cost of the Work under this 
Agreement could be $16,000,000.00 for Goodyear or $13,600,000.00 for Buckeye. In the case that the total 
cost of Work is expected to exceed these stated amounts, APS will obtain approval from the Municipality(ies) 
before proceeding with the Work. If additional costs, in excess of the amounts stated above, are necessary 
to complete work for the benefit of one Municipality, Company and that Municipality may enter into a 
separate agreement to authorize that additional cost. Price estimates are provided in Appendix A, and the 
total cost of the Work under the Agreement is estimated to be $16,000,000.00. APS represents that it will 
not seek and shall not be entitled to double recovery for any of the Work performed under this Agreement. 

7.2 If one Municipality fails to for its share of the costs as set forth in Section 7.1 above (the "Non-Paying 
Municipality") and the other Municipality pays those costs (the "Paying Municipality"), the Parties agree that 
the Paying Municipality shall be entitled to a limited increased volume of Brackish Water it can deliver to 
PVGS to offset the amount that the Non-Paying Municipality was expected to deliver to PVGS. Specifically, 
the limitation on the increased amount of water each Municipality could deliver to the WRSS is determined 



 

-7- 
 

by the source water quality. For example, 1mgd of 7,000 mg/l TDS water is not equivalent to 1mdg of 
12,000 mg/l TDS water. This term shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement unless 
this Agreement is terminated for cause. 

7.3 Invoicing. APS shall submit invoices to the Municipalities billing each Municipal Party 50% of the cost of the 
Work; however, for interconnections into the WRSS or equipment that only benefit one of the two 
Municipalities, APS shall only invoice the Municipality that benefits from the interconnection for the costs 
associated with the procurement, construction, and other activities that support that interconnection. Such 
invoices shall contain: (A) a reference to this Agreement; (B) a description of the goods and services covered 
by the invoice; and (C) any reasonable documentation including, but not limited to, invoices provided to APS 
by its subcontractor. Invoices must be submitted to: 

City of Goodyear 
Accounts Payable 
1900 No. Civic Square 
Goodyear, AZ  85395 
 
City of Buckeye 
Water Resources Accounts Payable 
21749 W. Yuma Road, Suite 107 
Buckeye, AZ  85326  
 

7.4 Payment Terms. The Municipalities shall pay amounts due to APS within thirty (30) days following the receipt 
of an invoice. Such payments shall be submitted to: 

Arizona Public Service Company 
P.O. Box 53920, Mail Station 9996 
Phoenix, AZ 85072-3920  

 
 FORCE MAJEURE. 

8.1 Force Majeure. In the event of a Force Majeure, the affected party will: (A) promptly notify the other party in 
writing of any causes or circumstances claimed to constitute a Force Majeure event, the obligations that will 
be affected by such Force Majeure event, the measures taken or to be taken to minimize the impact thereof, 
the schedule for implementation of those measures, the anticipated duration of the failure to perform or 
delay, and evidence supporting the claimed Force Majeure event; and (B) use reasonable best efforts to 
mitigate the effect of such failure to perform or delay and to remedy the impact of the Force Majeure event. 
In no event will the Municipalities’ failure to satisfy their respective payment obligations under this Agreement 
constitute a Force Majeure. The time for performance will be extended by a period of time equal to the time 
lost due to Force Majeure event or other period agreed upon by the parties. 

8.2 Extended Force Majeure. If the cumulative period of the delay equals or exceeds thirty (30) calendar days 
or the non-affected party determines the delay has a significant adverse effect on its operations, the non-
affected party may terminate this Agreement without further liability. If possible, the affected party will offer 
partial performance of its obligations, which the non-affected party may accept or refuse. 



 

-8- 
 

 SUBCONTRACTORS. 

APS may subcontract any part of the Scope of Work without prior written approval from the Municipalities. This 
Agreement will not create any contractual relationship between the Municipalities and any subcontractor of 
Company. Company will be responsible for its subcontractor’s compliance with this Agreement.  

 CONFIDENTIALITY. 

The Parties’ obligations regarding confidentiality are governed by the provisions of the non-disclosure agreement 
attached hereto as Appendix C. 

 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY. 

11.1 Pre-existing Intellectual Property. Rights to any and all intellectual property conceived, authored, made, or 
reduced to practice by any Party prior to performing under this Agreement, are and will remain that Party’s 
property.  

11.2 New Intellectual Property. Copies of all reports, data, or final documentation generated as a result of this 
Agreement or otherwise provided or assigned to APS by a subcontractor shall be provided and/or licensed 
to the Municipalities upon their request, unless it contains confidential information about APS, the 
Participants, or their facilities. APS shall have ownership rights to the results of any reports, data, or final 
documentation generated as a result of this Agreement or otherwise provided or assigned to APS by a 
subcontractor as works for hire.  

 TERMINATION. 

12.1 Termination for Safety. If at any time one of the Parties fails to perform the Work provided for in this 
agreement in a safe and acceptable manner in accordance with the Palo Verde Safety Manual, (available 
under the Resources tab at the following website: https://www.aps.com/en/About/Our-Company/Doing-
Business-with-Us#Resources), as determined by a Party in its sole discretion, then the Party that identified 
the safety issue may suspend this Agreement for up to ninety (90) days or terminate the Agreement 
immediately, and without prior notice.  

12.2 Termination for Cause. Either party may terminate this Agreement, if the other party is in material breach of 
this Agreement and such breach continues uncured for a period of forty-five (45) calendar days following 
receipt of written notice from a non-breaching party. In the case that the terminating Party is a Municipality, 
the Municipality may terminate its own participation in this Agreement, but the other Municipality and 
Company may choose not to terminate this Agreement as between themselves.  

12.3 Termination in the Event of an Early PVGS Plant Closure. In the event that one or more PVGS Units 
terminates operation before the Agreement expires, APS may terminate the Agreement. 

12.4 Settlement for Work or Performance Completed Prior to Termination. Upon termination of this Agreement, 
amounts due for the Scope of Work already completed and any procurement already completed, or in 
process, will be invoiced to the Municipalities in a final invoice and the Municipalities will make a final 
payment in the amount invoiced, unless Section 12.4.1 below is triggered.   

12.4.1 In the case of Termination in the Event of an Early PVGS Plant Closure under Section 12.3; 
Termination for Cause by the Municipalities under Section 12.2; or Termination for Safety due to 



 

-9- 
 

a safety related condition that APS fails to cure under 12.1, Company shall reimburse Goodyear 
and Buckeye for the costs each incurred under this Agreement, the Initial Brackish Water 
Agreement and all of the amendments to the Initial Brackish Water Agreement and Company 
shall not accept reject streams from reverse osmosis treatment of groundwater or any other 
Brackish Water streams from any third party for a period of three (3) years following the 
termination. Such reimbursement shall not allow for double recovery by the Municipalities under 
this Agreement and the Initial Brackish Water Agreement.  

12.4.2 The Company, Subcontractors and Participants will have no Claim and will receive no payment 
for Work that is unperformed. These provisions 12.4, 12.4.1 and 12.4.2 shall survive the expiration 
or earlier termination of this Agreement. 

 DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVE AND NOTICE. 

13.1 All communications relating to the day-to-day activities under this Agreement will be between the designated 
representatives named in Appendix B. Any other notices required under this Agreement shall be sent by 
certified mail, return receipt requested or a reputable courier service, and email, to the individuals identified 
below or to any other addresses a party may designate in writing and deliver in a like manner. Notices will 
be effective on the date the certified mail or reputable courier service is delivered.  

Goodyear:  
Barbara Chappell  
Water Services Director 
4980 S. 157th Ave. 
Goodyear, AZ  85338 
Barbara.Chappell@goodyearaz.gov  
 
 

Buckeye: Terry Lowe 
Director, Water Resources Department 
21749 W Yuma Rd., Suite 107 
Buckeye AZ  85326 
tlowe@buckeyeaz.gov 
 

APS: Pall Hopkins 
Director, PVGS Water 
Resources 
Pall.Hopkins@aps.com 
and 
Bradley Berles 
Senior Director, PVGS 
Water Strategy  
Bradley.Berles@aps.com 
 
5871 S. Wintersburg Rd,  
MS 6215 
Tonopah AZ 85354 

With a copy to: 
Roric Massey 
Goodyear City Attorney 
1900 No. Civic Square 
Goodyear, AZ  85395 
 
Roric.Massey@goodyearaz.gov  

 
Buckeye: Scott McCoy 
Buckeye City Attorney  
City Attorney’s Office 
530 E Monroe Ave 
Buckeye AZ  85326 
smccoy@buckeyeaz.gov 

 
APS: 
lawdept@apsc.com 
400 North Fifth Street, 
MS 8695 
Phoenix, AZ 85004 
Attn: General Counsel 
 

 TITLE AND RISK OF LOSS. 

Goods. Title to interconnection, improvements or alterations to the WRSS or PVGS and any equipment or 
materials purchased or installed as a part of the Scope of Work and Project will belong to APS and the 
Participants, provided, however that the infrastructure from the Municipalities’ respective systems to the Palo 
Verde Trust 530 pipeline easement shall belong to that Municipality. 

mailto:Barbara.Chappell@goodyearaz.gov
mailto:tlowe@buckeyeaz.gov
mailto:Pall.Hopkins@aps.com
mailto:Bradley.Berles@aps.com
mailto:Roric.Massey@goodyearaz.gov
mailto:smccoy@buckeyeaz.gov
mailto:lawdept@apsc.com


 

-10- 
 

 INDEMNIFICATION. 

15.1 Except as provided herein, and to the extent permitted by law, the Municipalities agree to indemnify, defend, 
and hold APS harmless against any liabilities APS incurs to the Service Provider(s) that arise from, are 
alleged to have arisen from, or are related to APS’ role as project manager for the Work under this 
Agreement set forth in Appendix B attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, so long as 
any underlying action or failure to act was within the scope of the obligations and authority of APS under 
this Agreement, or otherwise taken or not taken in the reasonable and good faith belief that such action or 
failure to act was (i)  in accordance with APS’ obligations and authority under this Agreement or (ii) otherwise 
in the best interests of the Municipalities (the “Indemnification”). Provided, however, that Buckeye is not 
subject to Indemnification for Goodyear Interconnections to the WRSS set forth in Section 1 of Appendix B.  
The Indemnification provided herein does not apply to any liability or claims arising from, alleged to have 
arisen from, or that are related to any of the following: (i) a loss of service; (ii) damage to any APS equipment 
and/or APS Facility unless such damage is the result of either Municipalities' actions or their agents in 
connecting its facilities to the WRSS, in which case the Municipality causing such damage shall be 
responsible for indemnifying APS for such damage; (iii) damage to any Redhawk equipment and/or 
Redhawk facility; and (iv) any breach of the contract between APS and any Service Provider, unless that 
breach was caused, in whole or in part, by any action of the Municipalities that the Municipalities knew, or 
should have known, could cause the breach. This indemnity shall include reasonable costs of defense, 
including reasonable attorneys’ fees, of any such claim. Each of the Parties shall provide prompt notice of 
any claim subject to Indemnification hereunder, but failure to give such prompt notice shall not be a defense 
to any indemnification obligation under this Agreement, except to the extent that any Party can prove actual 
prejudice from such delay. 

15.2 Indemnification for Municipality Actions. To the fullest extent permitted by law, each Municipality will 
indemnify, defend, and hold harmless any APS indemnitee for, from and against any and all losses that any 
APS indemnitee may incur in connection with any claim arising out of, or resulting from, any of the following: 

i.     Any harm, injury, or death to any person, or any damage or destruction of any tangible third-party 
property, if caused in whole or in part by the negligence of Municipality or agents in connecting its 
facilities to the WRSS; 

ii.    Any actual or alleged violation of applicable law by Municipality; or  

iii.   The failure by Municipality to timely pay any required taxes, assessments, or contributions 
(collectively, “Loss”). 

15.3 This indemnity shall include reasonable costs of defense, including reasonable attorneys' fees. Each of the 
Parties shall provide prompt notice of any claim subject to Indemnification hereunder, but failure to give such 
prompt notice shall not be a defense to any indemnification obligation under the Agreement, except to the 
extent that any Party can prove actual prejudice from such delay. 

 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY/EXCLUSION OF CERTAIN DAMAGES. 

Unless otherwise provided for in this Agreement, no Party will be liable to another Party for any indirect, 
consequential, special, or punitive damages or lost profits in connection with this Agreement. The foregoing 
notwithstanding, to the extent that one Party is entitled to indemnification from the other Party under Section 15, 
in connection with a third-party claim, any damage awarded to the third party (direct, consequential, or otherwise), 



 

-11- 
 

will be deemed to be direct damages of the indemnified Party, for which the indemnifying Party will be liable. All 
rights and remedies of the parties are cumulative, and not exclusive.  

 INSURANCE. 

17.1 Each Municipality will maintain the following insurance levels: 

i.    Commercial General Liability - $1,000,000 per occurrence; $2,000,000 aggregate. 

ii.   Workers’ Compensation - $1,000,000 per accident and per employee for bodily injury/disease. 

iii.   Commercial Automobile Liability - $1,000,000 per accident covering the respective Municipality’s 
use of Municipality’s owned, hired, or non-owned vehicles, in connection with the Agreement. 

iv.   Umbrella/Excess Liability - $5,000,000 per occurrence and annual aggregate above the coverage 
in the policies listed above. 

17.2 The Municipalities will add Company as an additional insured for the above policies; and waive, and require 
their insurers to waive, rights of subrogation against Company and the Palo Verde Participants.  

17.3 If the Municipalities choose to use self-insurance and retentions, such self-insurance and retentions (1) are 
the sole responsibility of Municipalities; and (2) must provide Company and the Palo Verde Participants all 
the benefits that would otherwise be available and provided under an insurance policy, including, but not 
limited to, the defense of claims. 

17.4 The Municipalities will provide evidence of the policies listed above if requested by Company and will provide 
prompt notice of any policy cancellations to Company.  

 AMENDMENTS AND CHANGE NOTICES. 

18.1 Amendments. Any amendment to this Agreement must be in a writing signed by all three Parties. 

18.2Change Notices. Any change to the Scope of Work, price, or schedule must be made using a change notice.  
All changes, including any adjustment to Price or Schedule shall be mutually agreed upon by all Parties and 
authorized in a Change Notice pursuant to the terms of this Agreement before commencement of the 
change. 

18.3 Suspension. Company may suspend this Agreement, or any portion thereof in its sole discretion if such a 
suspension is required for safety, operational requirements of the WRSS or related Palo Verde or Redhawk 
systems, or failure of one or more Municipalities to make timely payments of invoices. Upon Company’s 
suspension of any portion of this Agreement, it will mitigate costs to the Municipalities and otherwise 
preserve and protect any work or performance in progress. The suspension will be lifted when the event or 
events that caused it are cured or otherwise remedied.    

 MISCELLANEOUS. 

19.1 No Waiver. No statement, course of conduct, course of dealing, or other action will be construed as a waiver.  
Any waiver must be in writing and signed by the party granting the waiver. 



-12-

19.2 No Joint Venture. Nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or be construed to be or to create a partnership 
or joint venture relationship between the Parties. No Party shall make any statement or take any action that 
is inconsistent with the provisions of this section. It is understood and agreed that the management and 
control of the contracts between APS and the Service Provider shall remain, at all times, under the exclusive 
control of those entities.  

19.3 Assignment. The Municipalities will not assign its rights or delegate its duties under this Agreement without 
the prior written consent of APS, which APS may withhold at its sole discretion. Any assignment or 
delegation by the Municipalities in breach of this provision is void. 

19.4 Survival of Obligations and Liabilities. Termination or expiration of this Agreement shall not relieve any Party 
of any obligation that expressly or by implication survives termination or expiration, including but not limited 
to: Indemnification, Limitation of Liability, Confidentiality, Governing Law, Dispute Resolution, and Attorneys’ 
Fees. 

19.5 Third Party Beneficiaries. All benefits, rights, and remedies of Company under this Agreement shall also 
inure to the benefit of the Participants. Except as specifically provided for herein, this Agreement does not 
create any rights exercisable by any third party.  

19.6 Governing Law. This Agreement will be governed by and interpreted under Arizona law, without regard to 
any conflict of law principles. Any legal suit, action or proceeding arising directly or indirectly out of this 
Agreement will be initiated in state or federal court in Maricopa County, Arizona. The Municipalities 
voluntarily waive their claims of sovereign or governmental immunity from claims and liabilities arising under 
this Agreement to the extent permitted under law. 

19.7 Dispute Resolution. In the event of a dispute, a representative of each Party to the dispute who has the 
authority to resolve the dispute will meet within fourteen (14) days after either Party gives the other Party 
written notice of the dispute. The Parties to the dispute shall use their reasonable best efforts to resolve the 
dispute. If the Parties do not reach a resolution within sixty (60) days following the first meeting of the Parties, 
either Party may pursue litigation or – if applicable pursuant to Arizona Revised Statutes §§ 12-133, 12-
1518, et. seq., or other applicable law -- arbitration. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either Party may bring 
an immediate suit for breach of the confidentiality obligations of this Agreement. If a dispute becomes the 
subject of litigation, each Party waives its right to a jury trial. 

19.8 Attorneys’ Fees. The prevailing Party in any proceeding will be entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys’ 
fees, and associated costs and expenses. 

19.9 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the rest 
of this Agreement will remain in full force and effect. 

19.10 Interpretation. This Agreement will be interpreted without regard to factors such as the party who prepared 
it or the relative bargaining power of the parties. 

19.11 Other Water Streams.  No provision of this agreement or any other agreement between the parties, is 
intended to preclude Palo Verde from procuring additional water in the future with a lower TDS than 1750 
mg/l, so long as doing so does not limit the WRSS capacity available to Goodyear or Buckeye as 
contemplated in this agreement. 



-13-

 EXECUTION. 

This Agreement may be executed using two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but 
all of which together constitute one and the same Agreement. This Agreement shall be deemed executed and 
delivered upon the exchange of executed scanned signature pages transmitted by electronic mail. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the 
Effective Date. 

ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY          

SIGNATURE: ____________________________ 

NAME: _________________________________       

TITLE: _________________________________ 

CITY OF GOODYEAR 

SIGNATURE: ______________________________ 

   APPROVED AS TO FORM:    

  __________________________________________ 
   Roric Massey, City Attorney 

   APPROVED AS TO FORM:    

  __________________________________________ 

 Wynette Reed, City Manager 

ATTEST City of Goodyear: 

_______________________________________   
Jasmine Pernicano, Acting City Clerk      

CITY OF BUCKEYE 

SIGNATURE: ____________________________ 
 Eric W. Orsborn, Mayor 

ATTEST City of Buckeye: 

_______________________________________   
Lucinda J. Aja, City Clerk            K. Scott McCoy, City Attorney



A-1

APPENDIX A – ESTIMATED COST 

Table 1: Goodyear Site 12 & Bullard Water Campus (Goodyear Funding ONLY) 

Item Estimated Cost Goodyear’s Estimated 
Costs 

Buckeye’s Estimated 
Costs 

Procurement  N/A  N/A N/A 

Bullard Water Campus 
Construction  $            525,000  $            525,000  $           - 

WRSS Internal Protective 
Coatings (Bullard Water 
Campus - 2024) 

 $            300,000  $            300,000  $           - 

WRSS Internal Protective 
Coatings (Site 12 - 2025)  $            300,000  $            300,000 

      $    - 

WRSS Internal Coating 
Applications Support 
(chlorination/ 
ventilation/monitoring) 

 $       18,000  $       18,000 

      $    - 

Engineering Services  $       42,000  $       42,000       $    - 

WR Engineering, Operations 
& Enviro.  $       40,000  $       40,000 

$           - 

WR Water Chemistry Analysis  $         9,000  $         9,000 
$           - 

WR Transportation  $         8,400  $         8,400 $           - 

WR Construction Safety 
Representation  $         9,600  $         9,600 

$           - 

WR Construction Support  $       51,000  $       51,000 
$           - 

WR Project Management  $       72,000  $       72,000 
$           - 

Contingency (20%)  $            275,000  $            275,000 $           - 

Total:   $          1,650,000  $          1,650,000  $     -



A-2

Table 2: Enhanced Evaporation - Minetek (Mechanical Evaporators) 

Item Estimated Cost 
Goodyear’s Estimated 
Costs Without Buckeye’s 
Participation 

Buckeye’s Estimated 
Costs Without Goodyear’s 
Participation 

Procurement  $             120,000  $             120,000  $          0 

(One Additional) Minetek 
600/300 Evaporator Unit  $             550,000  $             550,000  $          0 

Civil Construction  $             209,000  $             209,000  $             209,000 

Electrical Infrastructure  $             600,000  $             600,000  $             600,000 

Equipment and Containment 
Installation  $             192,000  $             192,000  $             192,000 

Electrical Installation (for 2 
evaporators)  $        40,000  $        40,000  $        40,000 

Mechanical Installation  $        70,000  $        70,000  $        70,000 

Startup & Commissioning  $        18,000  $        18,000  $        18,000 

Operation & Maintenance 
Activities  $        70,000  $        70,000  $        70,000 

WR Engineering & 
Operations  $        40,000  $        40,000  $        40,000 

WR Water Chemistry 
Analysis  $        11,000  $        11,000  $        11,000 

WR Transportation  $          8,400  $          8,400  $          8,400 
WR Construction Safety 
Representation  $        19,200  $        19,200  $        19,200 

WR Construction Support  $        68,000  $        68,000  $        68,000 

WR Project Management  $        96,000  $        96,000  $        96,000 

Environmental and Permitting  $        30,000  $        30,000  $        30,000 

PV Survey  $        10,000  $        10,000  $        10,000 

Contingency (20%)  $             430,320  $             430,320  $             296,320 

Total:   $      2,581,920  $           2,581,920  $        1,777,920   



A-3

Table 3: Redhawk Return Line (RRL) 

Item Total Estimated Cost 
Goodyear’s Estimated 
Costs Without Buckeye’s 
Participation 

Buckeye’s Estimated Costs 
Without Goodyear’s 
Participation 

Procurement  N/A N/A  N/A 

Redhawk Return Line 
Construction and 
installation on Redhawk 
Property 

 $          4,700,000  $          4,700,000  $          4,700,000 

Redhawk OSSV 
Engineering Services  $        75,000  $        75,000  $        75,000 

Redhawk Return Line 
Construction and 
installation on Palo Verde 
Property 

 $          4,200,000  $          4,200,000  $          4,200,000 

Palo Verde OSSV 
Engineering Services  $             101,000  $             101,000  $             101,000 

Quality Assurance  $        78,000  $        78,000  $        78,000 

WR Engineering & 
Operations  $        40,000  $        40,000  $        40,000 

WR Water Chemistry 
Analysis  $          9,000  $          9,000  $          9,000 

WR Transportation  $        29,400  $        29,400  $        29,400 

WR Construction Safety 
Representation  $        68,000  $        68,000  $        68,000 

WR Construction Support  $             180,000  $             180,000  $             180,000 

WR Project Management  $             240,000  $             240,000  $             240,000 

PV Environmental  $        30,000  $        30,000  $        30,000 

Easement (Temporary 
Construction and 
Permanent Expansion) 

 $        26,000  $        26,000  $        26,000 



A-4

Table 3 (continued): Redhawk Return Line (RRL) 

County Permit (for 
crossing under Elliot 
Road) 

 $          4,000  $          4,000  $          4,000 

Dust Control - Block 
Permit  $          3,000  $          3,000  $          3,000 

PV & 811 Survey  $        17,000  $        17,000  $        17,000 

Contingency (20%)  $          1,960,080  $          1,960,080  $          1,960,080 

Total:   $         11,760,480  $      11,760,480  $       11,760,480 

Totals if Each Municipality Pays for its Share1 

Grand Total:  $       15,992,400 

Goodyear's Total:  $       9,223,200 

Buckeye's Total1:   $       6,769,200

1 If one Municipality fails to pay its portion of the costs under the contract, then the total estimated cost for the other 
Municipality is as follows: Goodyear -- $15,992,400.00 and Buckeye -- $13,538,400.00. If each Municipality pays 
for its share as contemplated under this Agreement, the cost to Goodyear is estimated to be $9,223,200 and the 
cost to Buckeye is estimated to be $6,769,200.  



 

B-1 
 

APPENDIX B – SCOPE OF WORK 
 

APS shall undertake and perform project management, design, engineering, procurement, construction, or related 
activities, or subcontract such activities, in order to accomplish the following scope of work:  

1. Goodyear Interconnections to the WRSS 

Modification of the existing interface between the WRSS and Goodyear’s Bullard Campus include but not limited to: 

a. Project management, construction and installation of mechanical, electrical, and communications 
infrastructure for connecting Goodyear’s Bullard Water Campus (BWC) brine supply pipeline to the 
WRSS pipeline. 

b. Internal WRSS pipeline coatings as a preventative measure against internal mortar corrosion at both 
Site 12 and BWC injection points. 

c. Associated procurement activities such as procurement of materials, equipment, labor, internal and 
external engineering and operations, water quality analysis, permitting and other governmental 
approvals. 

2. Enhanced Evaporation 

Obtaining, installing, and testing the enhanced evaporation technology needed to offset the additional water that will 
be sent to the Palo Verde Generating Station evaporation ponds as a result of introducing the brackish water from 
the Municipalities, including spare equipment as determined by Company in its sole discretion. Associated activities 
and project support include but are not limited to: 

a. Project management, construction and installation of mechanical, electrical, and other infrastructure 
for connecting and preparing to operate the Minetek and other equipment. 

b. Project management, construction and installation of environmental containment areas. 

c. Performance of acceptance, startup and commissioning, and functional testing. 

d. Interim operation and maintenance activities.  

e. Associated procurement activities such as procurement of equipment, materials, labor, internal and 
external engineering and operations; water quality analysis, permitting and other governmental 
approvals. 

3. Redhawk Return Pipeline (“RRL”) 

Procurement and installation or construction of a return pipeline from Redhawk to Palo Verde Generating Station to 
accommodate the additional blowdown from Redhawk caused by the introduction of the brackish water from the 
Municipalities include but not limited to: 

a. Civil construction and installation of mechanical, electrical, and communications infrastructure to 
complete the RRL from Redhawk’s brine concentrator tanks to the NW corner of their property line 
where the connection to PVWR’s pipeline will be established. 



 

B-2 
 

b. Project management, construction and installation of mechanical, electrical, and communications 
infrastructure to complete the RRL from PVWR’s injection point to the Redhawk property connection 
point. 

c. Associated procurement activities such as procurement of materials, labor, internal and external 
engineering and operations; water quality analysis, permitting and other governmental approvals. 

d. Obtaining easement or right-of-way rights across real property to accommodate the siting, 
construction, and maintenance activities needed for the RRL.  

 

(END APPENDIX B) 



 

C-1 
 

APPENDIX C – CONFIDENTIALITY & NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 
 

Confidentiality & Non-Disclosure Agreement 

This Confidentiality & Non-Disclosure Agreement (“Agreement”), effective as of the Effective Date of the 
ENGINEERING PROCUREMENT AND CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT to which this is incorporated as Appendix 
C, is between Arizona Public Service Company, an Arizona corporation (“APS”), in its capacity as co-owner and 
operating agent for Palo Verde Generating Station (“PVGS”), the City of Goodyear (“Goodyear”), a municipal 
corporation formed under the laws of the state of Arizona, and the City of Buckeye (“Buckeye”), a municipal 
corporation formed under the laws of the state of Arizona. The parties to this Agreement may be referred to 
individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 

Unless specifically set forth herein, all capitalized terms will have the same definition as provided in the Agreement 
Regarding Collaborative Efforts to Accept Municipal Brackish Water into the Water Reclamation Supply System 
Pipeline (the “Project Agreement”) which was executed by and between APS, Goodyear, and Buckeye in August of 
2022. 

The Parties desire to retain one or more Service Providers for the purposes of completing the Work in furtherance of 
mutually beneficial solutions using existing infrastructure operated by APS that provides APS an alternative source 
of cooling water for Palo Verde Generating Station, and the Municipalities an alternative means for disposing of their 
Brackish Water (the “Purpose”). In furtherance of the Purpose, the Parties may acquire new or disclose existing 
confidential, trade secret, and proprietary information to one another and to one or more of the Service Providers. 
APS will be disclosing certain confidential and/or proprietary information relating to this Purpose and Service Provider 
will gather data related to this Purpose, both at PVGS and at wastewater treatment facilities owned or controlled by 
Goodyear or Buckeye (collectively, the “Confidential Information”). 

Therefore, in reliance on the commitments and obligations set forth herein, the Parties agree as follows: 

1.   This Agreement governs Confidential Information disclosed or gathered by the Parties or Service Providers about 
the facilities owned or controlled by the Parties, consistent with the Purpose, following the Effective Date and 
until this Agreement is terminated through express written mutual consent of all of the Parties to this Agreement. 
The Parties may disclose one another’s Confidential Information to the Service Providers in writing, orally, 
visually, or in any other manner that is not amenable to writing, and as such is covered by the disclosure 
restrictions provided in this Agreement. Confidential Information may also be gathered by the Parties and the 
Service Provider through engineering field studies, laboratory analysis, or other measures, and as such is 
covered by the disclosure restrictions provided in this Agreement. The information, data, and analyses contained 
in any preliminary, draft, or final report, or other results of the Work shall be considered trade secret, proprietary, 
and confidential information, and as such shall be considered Confidential Information for the purposes of this 
Agreement. 

2.   No Party will use or disclose to any third party, except by express written authorization from a disclosing Party, 
any Confidential Information in any manner except for the Purpose, and will require that its employees and agents 
who have access to such Confidential Information maintain such information as strictly confidential subject to the 
same restrictions imposed by this Agreement. By way of example, but not limitation, no Party shall be allowed to 
use Confidential Information in connection with any patent application, for any commercial purpose, or for the 
benefit of any third party. All of the Parties’ obligations regarding any Confidential Information received pursuant 



 

C-2 
 

to this Agreement shall survive until such time as this Agreement is terminated through the mutual express written 
consent of the Parties to this Agreement. 

3.    A Party’s obligations under paragraph 2 will not apply if the Party can show, with clear and convincing written 
evidence, that the Confidential Information received hereunder: 

a)   was already known to said Party prior to the time of first disclosure pursuant to the Purpose; or 

b)   at the time of disclosure, the information is in the public domain, or after the date of the disclosure, lawfully 
becomes a part of the public domain other than through breach of this Agreement by a given Party; or 

c)   is received in good faith, without any obligation of confidentiality from a third party having a legal right to 
disclose the same; or  

d)  is independently developed by a given Party by individuals without otherwise having access to such 
Confidential Information. 

4.   A Party’s obligations under paragraph 2 will not apply under the following circumstances: 

a)   the Party is subject to Arizona’s public records law and has received a request for public records under 
Arizona State Law that would apply to Confidential Information, provided however, the Party in question 
promptly notifies the other Parties of the request in advance of such disclosure to allow such Parties to file 
for a protective order with a court of competent jurisdiction. If the Party receiving a request for public records 
has not received evidence that a request for a protective order was filed with a court of competent jurisdiction 
within 30 days of the date of such notice, the Party that received the public records request shall disclose 
only that Confidential Information necessary to comply with said public records request. If a request for a 
protective order is filed, the Party will not release the records requested until ordered to do so by the court or 
until the case is dismissed; or 

b)   with regard to disclosure to a legal or regulatory authority, such disclosure is required to be disclosed by a 
given Party pursuant to a legally enforceable order, law, subpoena, or other regulation (“Order”), provided, 
however, that the Party in question promptly notifies the other Parties in advance of such disclosure and 
discloses only that Confidential Information necessary to comply with said Order. 

5.  ALL INFORMATION FROM THE PARTIES IS PROVIDED, OR THAT IS GATHERED BY THE SERVICE 
PROVIDER, “AS IS” AND WITHOUT WARRANTY, REPRESENTATION, OR GUARANTEE OF ANY SORT, 
EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED. 

6.   The Agreement will not be construed to create any obligation on the part of any Party hereto to retain the other 
Party’s services or to compensate the other Party in any manner, except as may be set forth by a separate written 
agreement duly executed by authorized representatives of the Parties hereto. 

7.   Any provision regarding confidentiality is limited to the extent necessary to comply with the provisions of Arizona 
law. Any provision regarding confidentiality is limited to the extent necessary to comply with Arizona law, subject 
to the restrictions in paragraph 4(a) and 4(b) of this Agreement. 

8.   This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding between the Parties relating to the subject matter hereof, 
and no amendment or modification to this Agreement shall be valid or binding upon the parties unless made in 
writing and signed by each party, except that in the case of a conflict between this Agreement and the Project 



C-3

Agreement, the terms of the Project Agreement will govern. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, 
each of which shall be deemed an original. Electronically transmitted and imaged copy signatures will be fully 
binding and effective for all purposes. 

9. This Agreement shall be effective upon the latest date of execution by all Parties to the Agreement, and shall
expire three years from, either the completion of the Work or the completion of any water treatment projects that
result therefrom, if any, whichever is later, unless terminated earlier through mutual written amendment to this
Agreement.

   APPROVED AS TO FORM:    

  __________________________________________ 
  Roric Massey, City Attorney 

   APPROVED AS TO FORM:    

  __________________________________________ 

ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY          

SIGNATURE: ____________________________ 

NAME: _________________________________       

TITLE: _________________________________ 

CITY OF GOODYEAR 

SIGNATURE: ______________________________ 
 Wynette Reed, City Manager 

ATTEST City of Goodyear: 

_______________________________________   
Jasmine Pernicano, Acting City Clerk             

CITY OF BUCKEYE 

SIGNATURE: ____________________________ 
 Eric W. Orsborn, Mayor 

ATTEST City of Buckeye: 

_______________________________________   
Lucinda J. Aja, City Clerk            K. Scott McCoy, City Attorney

(END APPENDIX C) 



March 3, 2025Council Meeting 1

ENGINEERING, PROCUREMENT AND 
CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT – 
BRINE DISPOSAL



 Partnership
Original Agreement
 Past Amendments
Brine Production

March 3, 2025Council Meeting 2

OVERVIEW



BRINE AGREEMENT

 Multi-Party Agreement
 Goodyear/Buckeye
 Brine delivery 

destination

March 3, 2025Council Meeting 3



Brine Producers

 Site 12 
 Bullard Water Campus
 Current Treatment 

March 3, 2025Council Meeting 4



ORIGINAL AGREEMENT

 Approved  7/18/2022

 Multi-Party Agreement
• Design Development
• Final System Design

March 3, 2025Council Meeting 5



AMENDMENT #1

 Approved  3/4/2024
 Design & Construction
 Capital Improvement 

Project

March 3, 2025Council Meeting 6



AMENDMENT #2

 Approved  7/2/2024
 Design Continuation & 

Construction
 Purchase long lead items

March 3, 2025Council Meeting 7



NEW AGREEMENT

 Final Procurement & 
Construction 

 Approx Project Cost: 
$9,223,200

March 3, 2025Council Meeting 8



March 3, 2025Council Meeting 9

RECOMMENDATIONS ?


	Agenda
	AI-2426_Recognition of Estrella Foothills High School Girls Volleyball Team & Desert Edge High School Football Team
	AI-2455_APPOINTMENTS TO CITY BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND COMMITTEES
	AI-2508_Approval of Minutes
	       ATT_February 24, 2025 Regular Draft Meeting Minutes
	AI-2443_NEW Series 10 Liquor License for QUIKTRIP #1503
	       ATT_Attachment A - DLLC Local Governing Body Report
	       ATT_Attachment B - One Mile Report and Evaluation Map
	AI-2475_Municipal Sponsorship for 2025 Gila River Indian Community Revenue Sharing Grant Proposals
	       ATT_Attachment A - Resolution 2025-2451
	AI-2476_2025 Application for Gila River Indian Community Revenue Sharing Grant Funds
	       ATT_Attachment A - Resolution 2025-2452
	AI-2501_Easement Granting Cincinnati Reds Right to Access Reds Facilities
	       ATT_Attachment A - Agreement
	AI-2491_Approve Fiber License Agreement for Cablevision Lightpath LLC
	       ATT_Attachment A - Resolution 2025-2453 w_Exhibit A
	RESOLUTION NO. 2025-2453

	AI-2208_Agreement for Engineering, Procurement, and Construction - Brine Disposal
	       ATT_Attachment A - Agreement _ Brine Disposal 
	1. PARTIES.
	2. RECITALS.
	3. DEFINITIONS.
	4. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.
	5. TERM.
	6. SCOPE.
	7. PRICE AND PAYMENT.
	8. FORCE MAJEURE.
	9. SUBCONTRACTORS.
	10. CONFIDENTIALITY.
	11. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY.
	12. TERMINATION.
	13. DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVE AND NOTICE.
	14. TITLE AND RISK OF LOSS.
	15. INDEMNIFICATION.
	16. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY/EXCLUSION OF CERTAIN DAMAGES.
	17. INSURANCE.
	18. AMENDMENTS AND CHANGE NOTICES.
	19. MISCELLANEOUS.
	20. EXECUTION.
	APPENDIX A – ESTIMATED COST
	APPENDIX B – SCOPE OF WORK
	APPENDIX C – CONFIDENTIALITY & NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT

	       ATT_Staff Presentation
	ENGINEERING, PROCUREMENT AND CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT – �BRINE DISPOSAL
	OVERVIEW
	BRINE AGREEMENT
	Brine Producers
	ORIGINAL AGREEMENT
	AMENDMENT #1
	AMENDMENT #2
	NEW AGREEMENT
	Slide Number 9


